

Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Clinical Medicine

The Temporomandibular Joint in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis, focusing on Quality of Life, Oral Microbiome and Intervention

Paula Frid

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor, October 2020



Permission to use MRI image is granted by the Department of Radiology, University Hospital North Norway, Tromsø, Norway.

ISBN 978-82-7589-683-2

The Temporomandibular Joint in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis, focusing on Quality of Life, Oral Microbiome and Intervention

Paula Frid

Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, UIT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø

Department of ENT, Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North Norway, Helse Nord

Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway

2020







Troms og Finnmark fylkeskommune Romssa ja Finnmárkku fylkkagielda Tromssan ja Finmarkun fylkinkomuuni



Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
FUNDING	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
PREFACE	11
SUMMARY	12
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	15
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	16
General aspects of juvenile idiopathic arthritis	16
Clinical features	16
Definition and classification criteria	16
Epidemiology	17
Etiology	20
Patnogenesis	21 22
The oral microbiome and the immune system	22 25
Treatmont	25
Teanneramandihular joint anatamy and physiology	20
IIA in the temporomandibular joint	
Jaw treatment	
Intraarticular corticosteroid injections to the TMI	
Surgical correction of dentofacial growth disturbances	
AIMS OF THE STUDY	38
MATERIAL AND METHODS	39
Collaboration	
Study design	40
Inclusion criteria	41
Data collection	45
Statistical methods	46
Ethical approval and considerations	48
GENERAL DISCUSSION	54
Methodological considerations	54
Study design and strength and limitations	54
Discussion of main findings	57
Disease activity and quality of life	57
The oral microbiome	60
Intervention with IACs to the TMJ	63
Intervention with jaw surgery	65
Clinical implications of the results	67
CONCLUSIONS	68
FUTURE STUDIES	70
REFERENCES	72
PAPER I	85
Paper II	87

Paper III	89
Paper IV	91

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This PhD-project has been possible to do thanks to many people and I would like to thank them all.

I am very grateful for the funding provided by Troms County Council, Grethe Harbitz Legat, Norsk Revmatikerforbund, Helse Nord research funding and Tromsø Research Foundation.

I would like to thank the initiators of the NORJIA study for including me in this important national study on children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and temporomandibular joint (TMJ) arthritis: Professor Karen Rosendal, Professor Marite Rygg and Associate professor Ellen Nordal.

Also, I would like to thank all my supervisors and co-authors for their substantial contributions, criticism and valuable support to my PhD. I would especially like to thank my main supervisor and mentor, Associate professor Ellen Nordal for her never ending sense for solutions, enthusiasm and support, and for sharing with me her huge knowledge in the field of JIA and for introducing me to this PhD-project.

I would like to express my gratitude to my co-supervisor Professor Tore A. Larheim for his sense for important details and extensive knowledge in TMJ imaging and willingness to share his experience in the field of maxillofacial imaging.

I am most grateful to my co-supervisor Annika Rosen for sharing her extensive knowledge in the field of oral and maxillofacial surgery with focus on TMJ surgery.

5

I would like to thank my co-supervisor Mohammed Al-Haroni for his valuable contribution in oral microbiology, such as the field of the oral microbiome and other biomarkers, and for always making time to my questions.

My gratefulness also go to my co-supervisor Sven-Erik Nørholt for support in surgical treatment planning of JIA patients and especially in the field of mandibular distraction osteogenesis.

I also would like to thank my fellow PhD-students Josefine Halbig, Veronika Rypdal, Thomas A. Augdal, Lena Cetrelli, Johannes Fischer, and Elisabeth Grut Gil for important discussions and for performing the clinical examinations and imaging of all the children with JIA. I wish them all the best with their own thesis.

A special thank you to the staff and my colleague and friend Thomas Brox at the Department of oral and maxillofacial surgery at the Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway (TKNN) and at the Department of Otorhinolaryngology and Division of oral and maxillofacial surgery at University hospital North-Norway (UNN), for making it possible for me to do my PhD combined with clinical work and calls.

To all the patients with JIA and healthy controls in this project – thank you for your cooperation and for making this study possible.

Finally but not least, my dear parents, my mentors in life, thank you for your love and support and for always believing in me.

FUNDING

This PhD-project was funded by a six years 50% research position from Troms County Council, and research grants from Grethe Harbitz Legat, Norsk revmatikerforbund, Helse-Nord research funding (HNF1391-17) and Tromsø Research Foundation. The publication charges for Paper II and Paper III have been funded by a grant from the publication fund of UiT The Arctic University of Norway.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACR	American College of Rheumatology
ACPA	Anti-citrullinated Protein Antibody
ADD	Anterior Disc Displacement
AJR	Alloplastic joint reconstruction
СТ	Computed Tomography
CHAQ	Child Health Assessment Questionnaire
CHQ	Child Health Questionnaire
CHAQ-DI	Child Health Assessment Questionnaire – Disability Index
DC/TMD	Diagnostic Criteria for temporomandibular disorders
DO	Distraction osteogenesis
DMARDs	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs
ERA	Enthesitis-related arthritis
euroTMJoint	European temporomandibular joint work group (now TMJaw)
EULAR	European League Against Rheumatism
GBI	Gingival Bleeding Index
HC	Healthy controls
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HRQoL	Health Related Quality of Life
IL	Interleukin
ILAR	International League of Associations for Rheumatology
IACs	Intraarticular corticosteroids
JADAS10	The composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score

JAMAR	Juvenile Arthritis Multidimensional Assessment Report
JCA	Juvenile chronic arthritis
JIA	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis
JRA	Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis
LEfSe	Linear discriminant analysis effect size
LOM	Limited range of motion
MDgloVAS	The physician global evaluation of overall disease activity on a 10-cm visual
	analogue scale (VAS)
MTX	Methotrexate
MIO	Maximal incisal opening
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NGS	Next Generation Sequencing
NORJIA	NorJIA Norwegian multicenter study on temporomandibular
	involvement, oral and bone health in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OCEBM	Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine
OHI-S	Simplified Oral Hygiene Index
OMFS	Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery
OSA	Obstructive Sleep Apnea
PAS	Posterior airway space
PCoA	Principal Component Analysis
PICO criteria	Patients, intervention, comparison and outcome criteria
PRgloVAS	Patient reported global assessment of well-being VAS
PRpainVAS	Patient reported pain VAS
PRINTO	The Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation

PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
QIIME	Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology
QoL	Quality of Life
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
RF	Rheumatoid factor
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic analysis
sJIA	Systemic onset JIA
ΤΝΓα	Tumor necrosis factor α
TMJ	Temporomandibular joint
TMJaw	The Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work group
	(previously euroTMJoint)
US	Ultrasound
VAS	Visual Analogue Scale

PREFACE

Research in the field of temporomandibular joint (TMJ) arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) has been growing the last decades despite the effective biologic treatment available today, probably because the TMJ arthritis is not always responding. There is increasing focus on this small joint, called "the silent joint" "or "the forgotten joint" in the literature. This may be because TMJ arthritis is not always symptomatic, the general definition of arthritis can not be applied to the TMJ,

and that many specialists share interest in the same facial area, resulting in missing as well as overlapping responsibility for the TMJ. Furthermore, the incidence of JIA in the northern countries is quite high compared to the rest of the world. Therefore, as a specialist in oral and maxillofacial surgery (OMFS) in Tromsø, Northern Norway, I was quite early exposed for these patients, both regarding local TMJ injections and surgical correction of dentofacial deformities.

Together with my main supervisor Associate Professor Ellen Nordal, I am collaborating with several of dental and medical specialists in this field in Norway and also with international researchers and working groups. Going into research was therefore a natural thing to do for me combined with my clinical position as a consultant in OMFS. My wish with this thesis is to bring new knowledge in the field of TMJ arthritis and JIA.

SUMMARY

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most common rheumatic disease in children with an incidence of 1-2 per 1000 children per year. The temporomandibular joint (TMJ) is commonly involved in JIA, and may lead to impaired mouth opening, pain, facial growth disturbances, a reduced posterior airway space with related comorbidities. The rate of TMJ arthritis varies from 40-90% in different studies using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The management of TMJ arthritis is a challenge because TMJ arthritis may be asymptomatic and diagnosed late in the disease course, and because the generally accepted clinical criteria for arthritis in JIA usually cannot be applied to the TMJ. The overall objectives with this study were therefore to provide new knowledge of disease activity and quality of life (QoL), the oral microbiome and intervention in patients with JIA and TMJ arthritis.

In an international cross-sectional study with JIA the prevalence of clinical TMJ involvement was assessed and found to be 12%. Clinical TMJ involvement was associated with higher levels of disability, higher disease activity, and impaired QoL scores in children with JIA. Special attention should be drawn to TMJ involvement in children with cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course, and longer JIA disease duration.

In a Norwegian cross-sectional study, the oral microbiome was studied in children with JIA. There were no significant differences between JIA and healthy controls salivary microbiome according to species richness (alpha- diversity) or microbial composition, Principal Component Analysis (PCoA) (beta-diversity). We found in JIA overabundance of genera associated with chronic inflammation in saliva such as *TM7-G1, Solobacterium* and *Mogibacterium*, together with increased gingival bleeding. *Haemophilus* and *bacillus* species were overabundant in healthy controls. *Gemella morbillorum, Leptotrichia* sp. oral taxon 498 and *Alloprevotella* oral taxon 914 positively correlated with the composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score (JADAS10), while *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44, among others, particularly correlated with the number of active joints.

In a Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study we studied single corticosteroid injections in combination with systemic treatment in adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis. A single injection was found to improve MRI-assessed inflammation but clinical improvement of maximal mouth opening and pain was minimal. MRI-assessed bone damage was mostly stable, and no side effects were seen.

In a systematic review, including 28 papers and 172 patients with JIA, the surgical correction of patients with JIA induced dentofacial deformity was studied. TMJ function and skeletal alignment was improved by any surgical technique and morbidity was low. Orthognathic surgery is recommended in skeletally mature patients with controlled or quiescent JIA and a stable dentofacial deformity, and distraction osteogenesis for severe deformities. Costochondral grafts were associated with unpredictable postoperative mandibular growth, as reported by some authors. Alloplastic TMJ reconstruction was efficacious but should be used cautiously in skeletally immature patients. However, the level of evidence was low with mostly case reports and case series found in this review.

In conclusion, the present work showed that quality of life scores are reduced in children with JIA and TMJ arthritis compared to those without TMJ arthritis and healthy controls. Taxa associated with chronic inflammation in saliva are more common in JIA compared to healthy children and some of these bacteria were associated to disease activity in JIA. Single corticosteroid injections in adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis, with an age not thought of as critical regarding mandibular growth retardation due to steroid injection, seem to be safe and may be efficient as a supplement to systemic treatment. Finally, surgical intervention of dentofacial deformities in patients with JIA-induced TMJ arthritis can be recommended in selected cases even if level of evidence is low.

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The following articles (Papers I-IV) are submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Philosophiae Doctor (Ph.D.) at the Department of Clinical Medicine, UiT the Arctic University of Norway. This thesis is based on work carried out at the Public Service Competence Centre of North Norway and at the University Hospital North Norway, Tromsø, Norway, the Public Service Competence Centre of West Norway and the Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway and the Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway and in collaboration with the Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO) and the Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work Group (TMJaw). In the text the papers will be referred to by their Roman numerals.

Paper I

Frid P, Nordal E, Bovis F, Giancane G, Larheim TA, Rygg M, Pires Marafon D, De Angelis D, Palmisani E, Murray KJ, Oliveira S, Simonini G, Corona F, Davidson J, Foster H, Steenks MH, Flato B, Zulian F, Baildam E, Saurenmann RK, Lahdenne P, Ravelli A, Martini A, Pistorio A, Ruperto N; Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation. Temporomandibular Joint Involvement in Association with Quality of Life, Disability and High Disease Activity in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017 May;69(5):677-686.

Paper II

Frid P, Baraniya D, Halbig J, Rypdal V, Songstad N.T, Rosen A, Berstad J.R, Flatø B, Alakwaa F, Grut Gil E, Cetrelli L, Chen T, Al-Hebshi N.N, Nordal E, Al-Haroni M. Salivary oral microbiome of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A Norwegian cross-sectional study. Submitted to BMC Arthritis Research and Therapy April 16th 2020.

Paper III

Frid P, Augdal T, Larheim T.A, Halbig J, Rypdal V, Songstad N-T, Rosen A, Tylleskär K.B, Berstad J.R, Flatø B, Stoustrup P, Rosendahl K, Kirkhus E, Nordal E. Efficacy and safety of intraarticular corticosteroid injection in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the temporomandibular joint: A Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter-study. Submitted to Pediatric Rheumatology April 7th 2020.

Paper IV

Frid P, Resnick C, Abramowicz S, Stoustrup P, Nørholt SE. Surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review; Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work Group TMJaw. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2019 Aug;48(8):1032-1042.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

General aspects of juvenile idiopathic arthritis

Clinical features

Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA) is the most common rheumatic disease in childhood (1-6). It is a heterogeneous group of chronic arthritis of unknown origin persisting for at least 6 weeks with onset before 16 years of age. There is a female predominance of 60-70% (3). Onset of JIA may occur any time before the age of 16, but with a peak onset in girls 1-3 years and in boys 10-15 years of age (7, 8). In contrast to adult rheumatoid arthritis (RA) typically affecting small joints in the hands and feet, JIA may present with a broad range of clinical patterns and often involves large joints including knees, wrists and ankles (7, 8). Because JIA occurs in growing children, a treatment goal is to avoid growth disturbances such as leg length discrepancies and dentofacial deformities with micrognathia and asymmetry (7, 8).

Definition and classification criteria

The definition of arthritis is based on the clinical signs of inflammation: "Swelling within a joint, or limitation in the range of joint movement with joint pain or tenderness (9). Classification of JIA is based on the number of joints affected and the presence or absence of specific serologic findings and systemic manifestations, such as skin rash, fever, iridocyclitis, cardiac disease, generalized lymphadenopathy, serositis, splenomegaly, and hepatomegaly (8, 10).

In the literature there have historically been different classification systems for JIA, making it difficult to compare research results. In 1995, the International League of Associations for Rheumatology (ILAR) introduced a classification system that would unify and replace the JRA and JCA criteria. The term was Juvenile idiopathic arthritis and the classification criteria has been revised twice, lastly in 2001 (9). According to

the ILAR criteria JIA is classified in seven different categories and a set of exclusion criteria for each of them (9) (Table 1.) Many children with JIA fit into no category or more than one JIA category and will therefore be placed in the undifferentiated arthritis category. There is an ongoing debate on the ILAR criteria and criticism has been raised towards the complexity. A new classification criterion for JIA is underway but is not yet validated (11).

Epidemiology

Reported annual incidence of JIA differs from 1.3 to 22.6 per 100 000 children (3, 6). In the Nordic countries, incidence of JIA is reported to be 15 per 100 000 children per year (12). The oligoarticular category of JIA is the most common among Caucasian populations with European ancestries while enthesitis-related arthritis (ERA) and systemic onset JIA categories are most common in some Asian countries such as Taiwan and Japan (13).

Category	Definition	Exclusions
Systemic onset JIA	Arthritis in one or more joints with, or preceded by, fever of at least 2 weeks' duration that is documented to be daily ("quotidian†") for at least 3 days and accompanied by one or more of the following: 1. Evanescent (non-fixed) erythematous rash 2. Generalised lymph node enlargement 3. Hepatomegaly and/or splenomegaly 4. Serositis‡	 A. Psoriasis or a history of psoriasis in the patient or a first-degree relative B. Arthritis in an HLA-B27 positive male beginning after the 6th birthday C. Ankylosing spondylitis, enthesitis-related arthritis, sacroiliitis with inflammatory bowel disease, Reiter's syndrome, or acute anterior uveitis, or a history of one of these disorders in a first-degree relative D. The presence of IgM rheumatoid factor on at least 2 occasions at least 3 months apart
Oligoarthritis	 Arthritis affecting 1–4 joints during the first 6 months of disease. Two subcategories are recognised: 1. Persistent oligoarthritis: affecting not more than 4 joints throughout the disease course 2. Extended oligoarthritis: affecting a total of more than 4 joints after the first 6 months of disease 	A–D above, plus E. The presence of systemic JIA in the patient
Polyarthritis (RF- negative)	Arthritis affecting 5 or more joints during the first 6 months of disease; a test for RF is negative	A, B, C, D, E
Polyarthritis (RF- positive)	Arthritis affecting 5 or more joints during the first 6 months of disease; 2 or more tests for RF at least 3 months apart during the first 6 months of disease are positive	A, B, C, E

 Table 1. International League of Associations for Rheumatology (ILAR) classification of JIA. * (9)

Psoriatic arthritis	Arthritis and psoriasis, or arthritis and at least 2 of the following: 1. Dactylitis§ 2. Nail pitting** and onycholysis 3. Psoriasis in a first-degree relative	B, C, D, E
Enthesitis-related arthritis	 Arthritis and enthesitis^{††}, or arthritis or enthesitis with at least 2 of the following: 1. The presence of or a history of sacroiliac joint tenderness and/or inflammatory lumbosacral pain^{‡‡} 2. The presence of HLA-B27 antigen 3. Onset of arthritis in a male over 6 years of age 4. Acute (symptomatic) anterior uveitis 5. History of ankylosing spondylitis, enthesitis-related arthritis, sacroiliitis with inflammatory bowel disease, Reiter's syndrome or acute anterior uveitis in a first-degree relative 	A, D, E
Undifferentiated arthritis	Arthritis that fulfils criteria in no category or in 2 or more of the above categories.	

*Adapted from <u>McCann</u> LJ et al in Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed 2006 and Petty R et al in J Rheumatol 1994 (18, 36). †Quotidian fever is defined as a fever that rises to 39°C once a day and returns to 37°C between fever peaks. ‡Serositis refers to pericarditis and/or pleuritis and/or peritonitis.

§Dactylitis is swelling of one or more digits, usually in an asymmetrical distribution, which extends beyond the joint margin.

**A minimum of 2 pits on any one or more nails at any time.

††Enthesitis is defined as tenderness at the insertion of a tendon, ligament, joint capsule, or fascia to bone.

‡‡Inflammatory lumbosacral pain refers to lumbosacral pain at rest with morning stiffness that improves on movement.

Etiology

The etiology of JIA remains unknown. It is thought to be an autoimmune disease and the result of a combination of genetic and environmental causes. The human microbiome might be a contributing factor to disease etiology and there are reports describing the microbiome to be different in children with JIA compared to healthy children (14-16). Host-microbe interaction is important for recognition and development of the immune system (17). Imbalanced composition, i.e. dysbiosis, of the subgingival microbiome has been associated to the presence of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and periodontitis (18, 19). Infections and vaccinations have also been suggested as causative agents in JIA but there is so far very little evidence for this, except for in Lyme's disease (20, 21). The species borrelia burgdorferi has been isolated from the joint cavity in Lyme's disease, an infectious disease with joint inflammation. Probably, in a genetically predisposed individual, a series of environmental events may lead to the onset of JIA (20). Early life antibiotic use is associated with the development of JIA (22, 23). Arvonen et al. found that previous early and repeated exposure to antibiotics may predispose individuals to develop JIA. Alternatively, the apparent association may reflect shared susceptibility to infections and JIA (22). Furthermore, antibiotic exposure may play a role through alterations in the human microbiome (23).

Genetic susceptibility

Multiple specific susceptibility genes have been identified, which can be broadly subdivided in human leucocyte antigen (HLA) and non-HLA genes and differ between subtypes of JIA. Oligoarticular and polyarticular rheumatoid factor (RF)-negative JIA categories are associated with HLA-DRB1*13 (24). In the juvenile psoriatic arthritis category no genetic associations have been found (24) but

associations are seen between systemic JIA (sJIA) and the HLA-DRB*11 (25). HLA-DRB1*13 has been found to be a risk factor in both seropositive rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in adults and in rheumatoid factor (RF)- positive category where a glycine residue at the same amino acid position drives the association (26). Only 8 to 13% of the variation in JIA susceptibility is explained by HLA-genotypes, the remaining part should therefore be explained by non-HLA genes or environmental influences (27).

Non-HLA genes linked to JIA mostly relate to the innate immune system and its cytokines. For example gene variants linked to elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, and intracellular adhesion molecules are found (28). In systemic onset JIA (sJIA) some authors have found dysregulation of the pro-inflammatory IL-1, IL-18 and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (29, 30).

Pathogenesis

The most common clinical feature in JIA is joint swelling due to increased joint fluid, hypertrophy and hyperplasia of the synovial lining layer. The synovium becomes hyperemic and edematous due to infiltration by immune cells such as T- and B-lymphocytes, plasma cells, macrophages, and synoviocytes. This infiltration leads to production of cytokines, i.e. pro-inflammatory mediators. Increased number of inflammatory cells are recruited and activated by the cytokines and may lead to fever, fatigue, and pain as well as destruction of bone and cartilage through proliferating synovium (7, 8, 20).

The oral microbiome and the immune system

The human microbiota is a collecting term for all the microorganisms that inhabit the gut, the respiratory tract and the skin. The human microbiome is the collection of genes encompassed by the microbiota i.e. the oral microbiome code for the oral microbiota. In recent years increasing evidence has emerged on contribution of the microbiota to development of immune-mediated diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, type 1 diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis and JIA (15, 31-33). There is a complex interplay between the immune system and the microbiota, which is essential for normal development of the immune system and for protecting the host against pathogens (15). If this interplay is disrupted, an imbalance in the composition of the microbiota, i.e. "dysbiosis", will occur (Figure 1). Composition of both the gut (34) and the oral microbiota (35, 36) have been investigated. Today new methods such as the Next generation sequencing (NGS) are used for exploring microbiota (37). Environmental factors associated with dysbiosis are lifestyle, diet, pathogens and antibiotics (38-40). As mentioned above, increased antibiotic use in childhood is associated with increased risk of developing JIA (22, 23). Dysbiosis may lead to immunological imbalance and trigger inflammation, where immune cells can reach extra-intestinal and also extra-oral sites such as joints, and trigger local inflammation with the release of different inflammatory mediators, including cytokines (41, 42).

There are several theories of how microbes can trigger autoimmune responses and contribute to autoimmune disease:

Bacterial translocation hypothesis refers to bacteria migrating through the gut epithelium due to increased permeability, enters the circulation and then finally distal tissues like the joints where local immune responses are triggered (43).

Cross-reactive epitope hypothesis or Molecular mimicry refers to a foreign antigen with structural similarities with self-antigens, typically leading to the formation of cross-reactive antibodies and T cells (44). Rheumatic fever is a well-known example in which severe systemic disease is caused by the generation of cross-reactive antibodies against group A streptococcus.

Bacterially derived metabolite hypothesis or Bystander activation refers to an indirect activation of autoreactive cells caused by the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines during inflammation or tissue damage, for example as a result of a dysbiotic environment.

Mucosal immune dysregulation hypothesis. When dysbiosis occur **some microbes might alter host proteins,** thereby creating new antigens that are recognized by the adaptive immune system as non-self (45). An example is *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, inducing antibodies to citrullinated protein antigens (ACPAs) in RA. (46).

The microbiome in JIA is reported to differ from healthy individuals (14-16) where a lower abundance of Firmicutes and a higher abundance of Bacteroidetes, on the phylum level, were found in the gut microbiota in patients with new-onset JIA (16). Furthermore, the genera Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria have been seen only in gut microbiota in JIA patients and Lentisphaerae only in healthy controls (16). The patterns of the JIA gut microbiome also resembles the microbiome reported in other autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes, Crohn's disease and ankylosing spondylitis (32, 47). Different studies present different changes in microbiota, so it is possible that the impact of disruption of microbial ecology is more important for the host than the actions of just one single microbe in both JIA and RA (43, 48). Most studies on the human microbiome in JIA have investigated the gut microbiome and

not the oral microbiome (16, 34, 49-54). There is a need for more studies on the oral microbiome and JIA.



Figure 1. Possible associations between microbial dysbiosis, dysregulation of the immune system and joint inflammation.

Verwoerd, A, Ter Haar, N.M., de Roock, S. *et al.* The human microbiome and juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Pediatr Rheumatol* **14**, 55 (2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12969-016-0114-4</u> (14).

Disease activity and Quality of Life

Disease activity measures. Validated tools for assessment of disease activity and outcome in JIA are important. Reliable assessment of self-reported health, functional status, remission and damage is necessary when evaluating treatment effects in clinical studies (55). Examples of disease activity measures are: the number of active joints, tender joints, joints with limited range of movement, laboratory markers, visual analogue scales (VAS) of pain, and global assessment of disease severity. The Juvenile Arthritis Disease Activity Score (JADAS) is a validated composite disease activity measure that is increasingly used and available in several versions. JADAS includes the sum of four measures: 1, number of joints with active arthritis assessed in 10, 27, or 71 joints 2, parent/patients global assessment of well-being 3, physician's global assessment of well-being and 4, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (56). The ACR pediatric response criteria (ACRpedi30, 50, 70) define clinical change over time by calculating improvement between two time points in a core set of six variables: the JADAS variables, the CHAQ score and the number of joints with restricted movements (57).

Patient-reported outcome. Different validated questionnaires on Health Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) are developed. This is important for evaluating the patient's subjective assessment of the impact of the disease and its treatment on daily life, physical, psychological, social functioning and overall well-being. In younger children questionnaires on the self-reported measures are filled in by the parents / proxies. Two commonly used HRQoL-questionnaires are the Child Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) validated and translated into several languages, also available in Norwegian (58, 59). CHAQ evaluates physical functioning with 30 items divided into 8 domains: dressing,

arising, eating, walking, hygiene, reach, grip, and activities. Using aids and devices and help from another person for physical functioning are also registered. CHAQ further includes two visual analogue scales (VAS) on pain and overall well-being. This questionnaire is the most commonly used patient-reported outcome measure in JIA reported to have a high reliability, a moderate correlation to other disease activity indices, and with a low responsiveness to change. Many children with JIA report low levels of disability according to the CHAQ, thus a ceiling effect may be a problem (59). The CHQ is a generic quality of life measurement tool with in total 15 subscales (physical and psychosocial domains), covering daily functioning. The CHQ includes a physical and psychosocial summary score (60).

Disease status is defined as active disease, inactive disease, clinical remission on medication, or clinical remission off medication according to the ACR provisional criteria (61). Inactive disease status require all the following: 1) no active joints; 2) no fever, rash, serositis, splenomegaly or generalized lymphadenopathy attributable to JIA 3) no active uveitis; 4) normal ESR or CRP; 5) the physician global evaluation of overall disease activity on a 10-cm visual analogue scale (MDgloVAS) =0; and 6) duration of morning stiffness of \leq 15 minutes.

As mentioned earlier, assessment of HRQoL is important when evaluating treatment effects in clinical studies. There are few studies on HRQoL and TMJ arthritis in JIA and therefore a need for more research in this field.

Treatment

There is no cure for JIA. However, with optimal medical treatment and multidisciplinary follow-up disease activity in JIA can often be controlled and many children can live active lives (61-63). The primary goals in treatment are therefore to eliminate active disease, to normalize joint function, to preserve optimal growth and to prevent long-term joint damage (64). The ACR recommendations for treatment in JIA are published in 2011, in 2013 on systemic arthritis and in 2019 with a consensus on medical treatment of non-systemic polyarthritis, sacroiliitis, and enthesitis (65-68).

Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs

Early aggressive intervention with **disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs** (**DMARDs**) is recommended in JIA children with high or moderate disease activity and / or features of poor prognosis (65, 69). **Methotrexate** is the most commonly used DMARD and often considered the gold standard of treatment in JIA. It is effective on improving joint inflammation, health-related quality of life, and physical function (70-72). However, its effect on radiological progression is poorly documented. Other synthetic DMARDs such as **salazopyrine** and **leflunomide** are also available.

Biologic treatment

Biologic treatment was introduced and available first time in 1999, interfering with key cytokines of inflammation. These targeted drugs are biologic products and generally larger complex molecules in contrast to methotrexate and the other synthetic DMARDs. The first available biologic agents were the TNF-antagonists **etanercept**, **infliximab** and **adalimumab**. A range of potent cytokine inhibitors has become available including **anakinra** targeting IL-1, **tocilizumab** targeting IL-6 and also **abatacept** inhibiting the T-cell co-stimulation among many others (73). There is today a trend of treating the JIA patients more aggressively, with earlier use of methotrexate and biologic drugs, adjusted to disease category, manifestations, and response. The biologic drugs are not only highly effective but also expensive. There is also an increased risk of infections with biologic treatment. Concerns has been raised on associations with malignancies (74), even if recent data seem to suggest that JIA itself, as in the case of RA, is associated with an increased risk of malignancy and that this risk is not further increased with anti-TNF treatment (75).

Intraarticular and systemic corticosteroids

Regardless of concomitant therapy and JIA category, the use of intraarticular corticosteroid joint injections (IACs) is recommended in active arthritis for most joints (65, 67). **Triamcinolone hexacetonide** is shown to be superior to other glucocorticoids in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) (76, 77), and may be used also in TMJ arthritis in children with JIA (78). Due to unwanted side effects such as growth retardation, metabolic alterations, and loss of bone-mass density, minimal use of **systemic glucocorticoids** in children is recommended (66, 69, 79).

Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDS)

NSAIDS are used for pain but with a less anti-inflammatory effect than steroids and with unwanted side effects present such as an increased risk of gastrointestinal

bleeding. **Paracetamol** is well tolerated and used for pain as an alternative or supplement to NSAIDS. **Opioids** are associated with addiction problems and are not recommended for long-term use in children.

Non-medical treatment

Physiotherapy can maintain and restore function and prevent disability. **Surgical intervention** may be an option to correct growth deformities or to reconstruct or replace joints due to contractures, dislocations or ankylosis (7, 8, 80). Splint therapy has historically been used to prevent contractures in many joints, but is generally less used because of other effective therapies. Stoustup et al. currently suggest implementation of **distraction splint therapy** to normalize mandibular vertical growth in case of asymmetry in JIA with unilateral TMJ arthritis (81).

Temporomandibular joint anatomy and physiology

The temporomandibular joints (TMJs) connect the lower jaw (mandible) with the skull (temporal bone) by a bilateral synovial articulation (82). The TMJ consists of: the joint capsule, articular disc, mandibular condyle, articular surface of the temporal bone, temporomandibular ligament, stylomandibular ligament, sphenomandibular ligament, and lateral pterygoid muscle (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The temporomandibular joint and surrounding structures, illustration: Even Elias Edvardsen (2020). Used with permission from the artist.

A capsule with a dense fibrous membrane surrounds the TMJ and the articular eminence. The disc is unique, with a fibro- cartilaginous biconcave tissue, attached to the condyle medially and laterally. The lateral pterygoid muscle is coincident with the anterior part of the disc. The posterior part of the disc or the "retrodiscal tissue" is vascular and innervated, in contrast to the central thin part of the disc that gets nutrition from the surrounding synovial fluid. The disc divides the TMJ into the lower and the upper compartments with synovial fluid that is produced by the synovial membrane lining TMJ capsule. The TMJs, the sternoclavicular joints and the radioulnar joints are the only synovial joints in the body with an articular disc. Branches from the external carotid artery, mainly the superficial temporal branch, but also the deep auricular artery, anterior tympanic artery, ascending pharyngeal artery and maxillary artery, provide arterial blood supply to the TMJ. The TMJ is innervated by the auriculotemporal and masseteric branches of the mandibular nerve (V₃) of the trigeminal nerve.

The TMJs develops at around 12 weeks in utero. The growth center is located in the head of the mandibular condyles, and consists of hyaline cartilage. This center grows by appositional growth in all directions, unlike a typical long bone. Over time the cartilage is replaced by bone, using endochondral ossification. The mandibular growth follows the pattern of the general human growth in children and adolescents.

The TMJ is a hinging and a sliding joint ("ginglymoarthrodial" joint). After 25mm of rotation (lower joint compartment), the translational movement (upper joint compartment) of mouth opening follows. The muscles of mastication are the masseter, the medial and the lateral pterygoid and the temporalis muscle. The lateral pterygoid muscle protrudes the mandible, while the other three muscles are involved in closing the mouth.

JIA in the temporomandibular joint

The classical clinical signs of inflammation in a joint with swelling or limitation in the range of joint movement with joint pain or tenderness (9), are seldom seen in the TMJ. TMJ arthritis is sometimes even asymptomatic (83, 84). The TMJ has therefore been described as "the forgotten joint" (83) and imaging has an important role in diagnosing TMJ arthritis (85, 86). In 2018 a new standardized terminology for assessment of orofacial conditions in JIA were published, with recommendations

from an international, multidisciplinary expert group aiming to unify TMJ terminology in JIA (87).

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) plays an important role in diagnosis and assessment of TMJ involvement in children with JIA (88). Common findings seen on MRI are synovial enhancement, joint fluid, bone edema and condylar head articular surface flattening (89, 90). Also, synovial enhancement and joint fluid fluctuate over time (91). Adolescents with anterior disc displacement (ADD) often have similar inflammatory changes in the TMJ as adolescents with JIA. However, TMJs with ADD showed a better-preserved and often normal shape of the glenoid fossa in the study of Kellenberger et al. (90). Even if ADD is not common in JIA it may occur, representing a challenge in differential diagnostics with regard to rheumatic or nonrheumatic disease (92).

Depending on the study design and examination methods used (i.e. classification systems, inclusion criteria, age of the subjects, applied diagnostic clinical criteria and differences in the imaging methods) the prevalence of TMJ arthritis varies substantially (40-90%) in different JIA studies, as reviewed by Larheim et al (93).

A frequency of 40–45% TMJ involvement in consecutive series of patients with JIA has usually been found using panoramic radiography (85, 94). When using MRI frequencies of 39 - 43% are reported (95, 96). Arvidsson et al reported a frequency of 70% TMJ involvement when the adult JIA patients were examined longitudinally for 27 years, with both computed tomography and MRI at last follow-up. Both lower and higher prevalence have been reported in clinical and radiologic studies (97, 98) and in particular with MRI (99, 100) higher prevalence of TMJ arthritis have been found. However, many studies regarding TMJ in JIA are characterized by a low number of patients. MRI may detect findings that indicate TMJ arthritis in children with JIA

without symptoms or clinical findings. Contrast enhancement may also be seen in healthy children and adolescents (101-103). Thus, the reliability of contrast enhanced

MRI to assess TMJ arthritis can be discussed (101), reflecting the complex diagnostics of pathology in the TMJ. Tolend et al. (104) and Kellenberger et al. (105) have recently presented a new scoring system for MRI and JIA in the TMJ. Ultrasound (US) is often found less helpful in early diagnosis of TMJ arthritis (106).

Jaw treatment

Intraarticular corticosteroid injections to the TMJ

Some observational studies report short-term symptomatic efficacy of intraarticular corticosteroid injections (IACs) to the TMJ, while other studies show no or little improvement (107-120) (Table 2).

Source	Study design	No.patients	No.of	Mean age Years	Intervention	Drug/Dose per TMJ	Outcome	Mean Follow-up	Number of	Severe side-effects	MIO	Orofacial pain	Radiology
		(TMJ mj.)	patients at Follow-up	(range or SD)			variable(s)	Months (range)	IACs per TMJ	bone TMJ	improvement	improvement	improvement
Arabshahi et al. 2005 (107)	Retrospective	23 (49)	23/23MIO 14/23MRI	9 (14-16)	CT-guided IACs	T.Hexacetonide 20mg/ml (n=7), T.acetonide 40mg/ml (n=16)	Jaw pain, MIO, MRI	6-12	1	3/19 TMJs (16%) bony resorption	Mean 5.1mm 10/23 >5mm	10/13 (77%)	11/23 TMJs (48%) MRI
Cahill et al. 2007 (110)	Retrospective	15 (27)*	12/15clinic 10/17 MRI	8.3 (4.5-16)	CT-guided IACs	T.acetonide 40mg/ml	Pain, MIO, MRI	3-4 clinical 9 (5-15) MRI	1-2	Not reported	5/11 patients	7/8 (88%)	11/15 (73%) TMJs MRI
Ringold et al. 2008 (111)	Retrospective	25 (74)*	Unclear	8.9 (1-16)	IACs	T.Hexacetonide 20mg/ml, T.acetonide 40mg/ml	MIO, pain, clinical/radiol ogical findings	26 (5-52)	1-5	N=2 Intraarticular Ossifications (10/15=67% signs of worsening)	One IAC: 6.6mm, additional IAC: 0.4mm increase	8/12 (67%)	2/15 TMJs (13%)CT
Weiss et al. 2008 (112)	Prospective	21	16/21MIO, 5/21 MRI	8.6 (1.5-17.2)	CT-guided IACs	T.Hexacetonide 10mg	MIO, MRI	2.4 (1.4-7.3)	1	Not reported	9/16 patients, 5/16 >5mm	NA	5/6 TMJs (83%) MRI
Parra et al. 2010 (113)	Retrospective	83 (180)*	Unclear	12 (4.3-17)	US-guided IACs	T.Hexacetonide 5- 10mg, T.acetonide 5- 10mg	Accuracy, clinical findings (MIO, pain)	6 weeks	1-6	Not reported	81% good, 10% response (based signs and sympto	partial, 9% poor on MIO, clinical ms, jaw deviation)	NA
Habibi et al. 2012 (114)	Retrospective	38 (63)	38	12.25 (5-18)	US-guided IACs	T.Hexacetonide 10- 20mg	Safety, clinical findings	6-8 weeks	1		Not reported	17/17 (100%)	NA
Stoll et al. 2012 (108)	Retrospective	63 (125)*	MIO 55/63, MRI 31/63	10	IACs	T.Hexacetonide 5- 10mg	Safety, MRI, MIO	MRI: 5.3 (0.5-23)	1-2	15/47 TMJs (32%) new onset erosions / flattening	Mean 2.7mm	NA	24/47 TMJs (51%) MRI
Olsen- Bergem et al. 2014 (119)	Prospective	21 (38)	21 (38) at 3 and 8 months	11.4 (6-18)	Arthrocentesis with and without steroids	T.Hexacetonide 0.5ml = 10mg	Pain, function	8 months	1	Not reported	Significant improvement in pain on opening and laterotrusive movement	Significant improvement in palpation muscles No sign.difference between arthrocentesis with and without steroid	No radiology
Stoustrup et al. 2015 (109)	Prospective observational pilot study	13	-	Median 17.2, IQR 15-18.4	IACs	T.Hexacetonide 20mg	Orofacial symptoms and signs	Mean 333 days	1-2	Not reported	No significant changes, great inter-patient variation in MIO, laterotrusive and	Total resolution of pain was rare after 34 days, pain worsened between 34 – 333 days	No radiology

Table 2. Observational studies on intraarticular corticosteroids (IACS) to the temporomandibular joints (TMJs)
											protrusive movements		
Lochbûhler et al. 2015 (120)	Retrospective	33 (19 TMJs inj once and 45 repeatedly)	33 (156 IACS)	Median 5.2 yrs	IACs	T.Hexacetonide 6-20 mg	MRI: inflammation and bone damage and growth	Median 5 yrs	2.4±1.4 (0-7)	45/66 (68%) TMJs progressive osseous deformation, 24% intraarticular ossifications Reduced mandibular growth	Not reported	Not reported	53% (intraarticular location) 20% (extraarticular location)
Kinard et al. 2016 (115)	Case-series	3 (5)	3 (5)	12.5	Artroscopy (lysis / lavasje with steroid)	T.Hexacetonide	Pain, MIO	(?)	1 (?)	Not reported	Improvement in pain and mouth opening		?
Resnick et al. 2016 (116)	Retrospective	29 (50)	-	12.1±1.9	IACs	T.Hexacetonide 0.5ml = 10mg	Patient reported pain, MIO; ER (MRI)	22.9 ±4.3 (5-48)	1	Not reported	89% of patients reduction pain	5.8±2.6mm	18% of the TMJs MRI (reduction of synovial enhancement ratio, ER)
Resnick et al. 2017 (117)	Retrospective	45 (71)	-	<16 y	IACSs with and without image guiding; ultrasonic or computed tomography	T.Hexacetonide 0.5ml = 10mg	Patient reported pain, MIO; ER (MRI), total procedure time	22.9 (5-48)		Not reported	No statistical differences in short-term outcomes between image-guiding or landmark technique, with regard to pain, MIO, synovial enhancement ratio, ER, but procedure times were longer for the image-guided group		
Antonarakis et al. 2018 (118)	Retrospective	41	-	13.6±4.0	Arthrocentesis with and without steroids and no intervention (3 groups)		MIO, Helkimo dysfunction index scores, pain intensity, acute inflammati on (MRI)	(?)	1 (?)	Not reported	TMJ lavage with or without IACS injection cannot be claimed to systematically decrease pain, increase mouth opening, or resolve acute inflammation. Despite a tendency for improvement, response to this treatment is very patient dependent and can be determined by an array of other variables.		

* Repeated IACS. ER; enhancement ratio. Adapted from Stoustrup et al. (78) according to the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine Levels of Evidence.

Other studies however, demonstrate mandibular growth impairment that may be induced by the arthritis itself and/or the treatment with repeated IACs (120, 121). The use of IACs is recommended for treatment of active arthritis in other joints of the body, regardless of concomitant therapy (65, 66). Triamcinolone hexacetonide seem to be superior to other corticosteroids in a RCT of IACs to the knee joint (76). In TMJ arthritis in children with JIA, IACs with triamcinolone hexacetonide is reported in several studies to be a useful treatment (78) and can be safely performed with or without radiologic guidance by trained specialists (108, 117). However, the role of IACs in the treatment of TMJ arthritis is not clarified. There are no prospective studies in children with JIA and TMJ arthritis showing the short and long-term safety and efficacy of IACs in terms of improving clinical symptoms and findings, reducing disease progression on MRI, and improving mandibular growth (78).

Surgical correction of dentofacial growth disturbances

If not timely and successfully treated, TMJ arthritis can lead to reduced mouth opening, impaired mastication, pain, reduced mandibular growth, and dentofacial deformities (122). Facial asymmetry and/or an occlusal cant may be the result of unilateral TMJ arthritis (123). Clockwise rotation of the mandible due to bilateral involvement may lead to micrognathia, anterior open bite, and a reduction in posterior airway space (PAS) (124) (125). A small PAS is associated with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) and related comorbidities (126). Orthodontic and orthognathic treatment aiming to improve occlusion, facial esthetics, and self-confidence can be important because facial attractiveness may influence education, relationships, and employment (127).

The treatment of dentofacial deformities can sometimes be improved with orthopedic/orthodontic treatment during growth (81). It is however, many times a need for reconstructive surgery in most cases after final growth is reached for normalization of TMJ function and/or occlusion, skeletal alignment, facial esthetics, and/or OSA. Two strategies are found in the literature for the surgical correction of JIA-induced dentofacial deformities: (1) TMJ preservation (i.e. orthognathic surgery, distraction osteogenesis (DO)), and (2) TMJ reconstruction (i.e. resection of the remaining condyle, synovial lining, and disc, and reconstruction with an autologous graft (128) or an alloplastic prosthesis (129).

There is no consensus regarding the most appropriate reconstructive approach of dentofacial deformities in JIA. Therefore, there is a need for more research in this field with systematic reviews and prospective clinical studies leading to intervention algorithms.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The overall objectives with this dissertation was to provide new knowledge of TMJ arthritis in JIA with regard to QoL and disease activity, the oral microbiome and intervention in patients with JIA and TMJ arthritis, with the following specific aims:

- I. To describe in a cross-sectional cohort with JIA: (1) the prevalence of clinical TMJ involvement, (2) the associations between TMJ involvement and other disease characteristics, and (3) the associations between TMJ involvement and QoL measures (Paper I).
- II. To describe the oral microbiome in saliva of children with JIA and relate this to disease activity, including presence of TMJ arthritis and gingival bleeding (Paper II).
- III. To assess efficacy and safety of single IACs in the TMJ in terms of (I) improving maximal mouth opening capacity and pain, and (II) reducing disease inflammation and bone damage, in a 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study of adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis, by using validated clinical outcome measures and a newly established MRI scoring system (Paper III).
- IV. To assess the level of evidence for surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in patients with JIA-related TMJ involvement (Paper IV).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Collaboration

All papers in this thesis are based on an interdisciplinary collaboration between dental and medical specialists through local, national and international research networking.

Paper I was initiated and designed in collaboration with The Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO). PRINTO is a not for profit, nongovernmental, international research network founded by Alberto Martini and Nicolino Ruperto in 1996. PRINTO include today about 90 countries, 656 centers with 1383 members worldwide, with the goal to foster, facilitate and coordinate the development, conduct, analysis, and reporting of multicenter studies and international clinical trials and/or outcome standardization studies in children with pediatric rheumatic diseases (www.printo.it).

Paper II and Paper III is part of a larger Norwegian multicenter cohort study on JIA; "NorJIA multicenter study on temporomandibular involvement, oral and bone health in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (NorJIA)". Dr. Karen Rosendahl, professor and specialist in radiology at the Haukeland University Hospital and at the University Hospital of North-Norway, is the initiator of this cohort study (<u>www.norjia.com</u>) registered in Clinical Trials.gov (NCT03904459). The multidisciplinary national collaboration between medical and dental specialists at the main four University Hospitals of Norway and Public dental competence centers makes this project unique.

Paper IV was initiated and conducted by the TMJ Surgical Task Force through the Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work group (TMJaw) (earlier: euroTMJoint), an international, multidisciplinary research network founded in Oslo, Norway in 2010, which focus research of TMJ arthritis related to JIA. The terminology of Paper (II), (III) and (IV) adheres to the TMJaw consensus-based standardized terminology by Stoustrup et al. (87). Drs. Ellen Nordal, Josefine Halbig and Paula Frid are members of the working groups on clinical examination, IACs, medical and surgical intervention in the TMJaw. Professor Tore A. Larheim has been leading the working group on imaging since the first European Meeting in Oslo 2010, until the second meeting in Oslo 2018.

Study design

All papers in this thesis are based on projects with different study design and cohorts, with the purpose to answer our aims on gaining more knowledge of TMJ arthritis in JIA, including two cross-sectional studies with multicenter cohorts, one prospective intervention study and one systematic review on surgical intervention.

Paper I is based on a descriptive cross-sectional multicenter study about clinical TMJinvolvement in children with JIA, with data extracted from two studies of the Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO); the MTX-trial (72) and the HRQoL-study (130). The MTX-trial was a RCT comparing standard dose to high dose of MTX in JIA with 633 study subjects. The HRQoL-study with 2715 study subjects was a multicenter-study validating the CHAQ and CHQ in different languages.

Paper II is based on a descriptive Norwegian cross-sectional multicenter study on the oral microbiome in saliva in children with JIA and TMJ arthritis.

Paper III reports on a Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study on efficacy and safety of single IACs in the temporomandibular joint (TMJ) in adolescents with JIA.

Paper IV is a systematic literature review on surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in patients with JIA and TMJ arthritis based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (131).

Inclusion criteria

All papers in this thesis include children with JIA and TMJ arthritis with different study inclusion criteria and different time periods. However, all children with JIA were classified as per the ILAR criteria (9) (Figure 5).

In paper I a total of 3343 children with JIA and 3409 healthy pears were included from 32 different countries (Figure 5) in the time period of 1998-2001 (MTX-trial) and in the time period of 1998-2000 (HRQoL-study). Disease activity was assessed by the JIA core set activity variables (9). In this study assessment of TMJ activity was defined as; presence of TMJ pain and/or limited range of motion (LOM), registered by the local pediatric rheumatologist in the PRINTO joint examination form, according to standard pediatric rheumatology textbooks.

In paper II in the period of 2015-2019, 93 Norwegian children in total were consecutively recruited at the participating pediatric rheumatology centers in Tromsø, Oslo and Bergen. Children with JIA and TMJ arthritis (JIA-TMJ) (n=15), JIA without

TMJ arthritis (JIA-nonTMJ) (n=44) and healthy controls (HC) (n=34) (Figure 5). All eligible children with a diagnosis of JIA aged <18 years and with a saliva sample available were included. Among the totally 59 children with JIA in this study three were not included in the main NORJIA study in Tromsø, due to either origin in Oslo (n=2) or an age older than 16 years at time of inclusion (n=1). We included the 34 healthy children from Tromsø with available saliva samples also participating in the main NorJIA multicenter study.

In paper III in the period of 2015-2019, 15 children with JIA and TMJ arthritis from three participating centers received IACs (Figure 5). Children with JIA aged <18 years at time for inclusion in the study, and arthritis activity in one or both TMJs were included. Children requiring sedation or general anesthesia for MRI and/or IACs were included in this study only if there was a clear clinical indication for imaging and intervention. Alternative treatment options for TMJ arthritis such as systemic medication, physiotherapy/specific jaw exercises and activation device/splint for myalgia were first considered. Due to emerging findings of possible negative effect of steroids on mandibular growth in the study period, IACs were used in our study in treatment resistant symptomatic TMJ arthritis in adolescents in whom most of the expected growth had taken place. IACs were performed on the following indications, judged by each participating center: (1) Clinical signs of TMJ-inflammation such as pain on movement, limitation of MIO, limitation of laterotrusive or protrusive jaw movements and/or dentofacial growth disturbance AND (2) MRI signs of TMJ arthritis (i.e. active arthritis in the TMJ) such as contrast enhancement of synovial tissue, bone marrow edema and/or effusion. TMJ-injections were not performed in Trondheim

during this time period, and children with active TMJ arthritis that did not receive any IACs to the TMJs were not included in this study.

In paper IV the primary search was conducted in June 2017 and updated in February 2018. The following studies were included according to the PICO criteria (patients, intervention, comparison and outcome): patients with a diagnosis of JIA and involvement of the TMJ, receiving a reconstructive or orthognathic surgical intervention (Figure 5). 28 papers were finally included in this systematic review for full-text evaluation; 24 were case reports or case series, three were retrospective chart reviews and one was a prospective cohort study. A total of 172 subjects with JIA were included.

Figure 5. Flow chart of the participants enrolled in Paper I-IV.



* JIA without TMJ arthritis ** JIA with TMJ arthritis from Tromsø (n=12), Bergen (n=1), Oslo (n=2)

Data collection

All papers in this thesis collect data from children with JIA and TMJ arthritis: demographic data, laboratory data reported according to the PRINTO case report form (CRF) for study I, NORJIA CRF for studies II and III, PRISMA guidelines and the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine (OCEBM) level of evidence guide for study IV. In paper II and III all specialists performing the examinations of the study subjects and healthy controls were calibrated repeatedly.

In paper I demographic, clinical and laboratory data was collected by the local pediatric rheumatologist according to the PRINTO CRF together with validated patient/ proxy-reported outcomes; CHQ, PRgloVAS and PRpainVAS score.

In paper II demographic and clinical data were collected from clinical registrations of the NorJIA CRF including a modified version of the validated DC/TMD examination and diagnosis protocol (132) and the validated EuroTMJoint Clinical Recommendations protocol (133). Laboratory data including saliva samples for microbiological analyses was also collected. A modified version of the Gingival bleeding index (GBI) (134) was used for registering gingival inflammation according to a gingival bleeding cut-off score \geq 10% (135). A modified version of the Simplified Oral Hygiene Index (OHI-S) was used for registering dental plaque and calculus (136).

In paper III demographic, clinical and laboratory data was collected from clinical registrations using a modified version of the validated diagnostic criteria of temporomandibular disorders (DC/TMD) examination and diagnosis protocol (132) and the validated EuroTMJoint Clinical Recommendations protocol (133) together with

MRI assessments according to the recently published MRI scoring systems for TMJ arthritis in JIA.

In paper IV data was collected and independently assessed by two authors (PF, SEN) in a systematic literature search at three occasions. The first selection was based on titles, the second on abstracts, and the third on full text review. The selected studies were assessed for risk of bias: prospective study design, sufficient description of the outcome variable, uniform inclusion criteria, standardized examination protocol, outcome assessor blinded to imaging findings, and information on outcome variable variation. The level of evidence was scored according to the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine (OCEBM) level of evidence guide.

Statistical methods

In the statistical analyses of thesis the SPSS software, version 21, 24, 25 and 26 was used, except for paper IV being a systematic review where the collected data was not sufficient for a meta-analysis. Paper I also used the SAS software version 9.3. In paper II Downstream bioinformatics analysis was performed with QIIME and LEfSe software. In all studies a p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant, except for p-values adjusted for multiplicity with Benjamini-Hockberg method (FDR \leq 0.1) in paper II.

Paper I, II, III: For clinical and demographic data, descriptive statistics were used, such as median (1st and 3rd quartile), mean (standard deviation) and frequencies (percentage). In paper I associations between TMJ and other disease characteristics were analyzed by chi-square test for categorical variables, and Student's t-test for continuous variables if normally distributed, otherwise Wilcoxon test was used. To

identify factors differentiating JIA patients with or without TMJ involvement (Paper I), univariate logistic regression was performed, using as exploratory measures the JIA core set, the CHAQ and the CHQ domains. Multivariable logistic regression was performed to identify factors independently associated with TMJ involvement. In both univariate and multivariable regression analyses the continuous variables were dichotomized as per Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) analysis (Paper I).

Paper II: Associations between microbiome and different disease characteristics were analyzed by chi-square test for categorical variables (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test for continuous variables if reasonably normally distributed, otherwise Wilcoxon's test was used. Significant differences between three different medication groups were analyzed with the Kruskal Wallis test. Associations between gingival bleeding index (GBI) and JIA were analyzed with multivariable logistic regression analysis.

Paper III: When testing continuous variables for differences between two time-points, Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was used for not normally distributed data and paired sample t-test for normally distributed data. For nominal data and dependent samples tested for differences between two time-points; McNemar Chi-square test was used. Multiple testing of four time-points and Bonferroni correction for 6 comparisons with a p-value <0.008 was analyzed and considered, but not used in the final manuscript. Percentage of patients was used for absolute improvement of the variables pain, MIO and MRI. For the MRI assessment, the intra-observer agreement for the MRI-scoring was assessed with Cohen's kappa.

Ethical approval and considerations

Approval from appropriate medical ethical committees and data authorities was obtained according to the requirements of each participating country (Paper I-III). In paper IV all of the included studies had the necessary approvals.

Research involving children is strictly regulated because this patient group is considered a vulnerable group. Research should be in accordance with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Article 24): "States Parties recognize the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and to facilities for the treatment of illness and rehabilitation of health. States Parties shall strive to ensure that no child is deprived of his or her right of access to such health care services".

Children included in Paper I-III had reduced autonomy and were dependent on parental/proxies responsibilities and rights. Age-adapted informed written consent was therefore obtained from the child and his/her parents/proxies and information about the study (aims, benefits, potential adverse events, principle of voluntary participation etc.) was given. However, if a situation had arisen where the child of any age did not want to further participate in the study, he or she would of course have been excluded from the study. One example of this in my thesis was a child participating in the study and described in paper III, who did not prefer to take followup MRIs after the baseline, but she was still included and participated in the clinical assessments of the study. All papers in this PhD were performed according to the Declaration of Helsinki: ethical guidelines for research with human subjects (137). Furthermore, the authors were not influenced by any financial support or other conflicting interests in the present research projects presented in papers I-IV.

SUMMARY OF THE RESULTS

Paper I

Temporomandibular joint involvement in association with quality of life, disability, and high disease activity in juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

Paula Frid, Ellen Nordal, Francesca Bovis, Gabriella Giancane, Tore A.Larheim, Marite Rygg, Denise Pires Marafon, Donato De Angelis, Elena Palmisani, Kevin J.Murray, Sheila Oliveira, Gabriele Simonini, Fabrizia Corona, Joyce Davidson, Helen Foster, Michel H.Steenks, Berit Flato, Francesco Zulian, Eileen Baildam, Rotraud K. Saurenmann, Pekka Lahdenne, Angelo Ravelli, Alberto Martini, Angela Pistorio, Nicolino Ruperto for the Paedriatic Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO).

- Clinical temporomandibular joint (TMJ) involvement is associated with higher levels of disability, high disease activity, and impaired quality of life in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).
- Clinicians should pay special attention to TMJ involvement in children with JIA and cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course, and longer disease duration.
- Observations were based on 387 of 3343 children with JIA, representing those with clinically evident TMJ involvement.

Paper II

Salivary oral microbiome of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A Norwegian cross-sectional study.

Frid P, Baraniya D, Halbig J, Rypdal V, Songstad N.T, Rosen A, Berstad J.R, Flatø B, Alakwaa F, Grut Gil E, Cetrelli L, Chen T, Al-Hebshi N.N, Nordal E, Al-Haroni M.

- A total of 216 bacterial species belonging to 58 genera and 8 phyla were identified across all samples, with *Prevotella, Streptococcus, Actinomyces, Haemophilus, Porphyromonas* and Rothia accounting for the bulk of the average microbiome.
- There were no significant difference between JIA and healthy controls in species richness or in principal component analysis (PCoA), i.e. alpha or beta diversity. Differential abundance analysis revealed genera *TM7-G1*, *Solobacterium* and *Mogibacterium* to be associated with JIA, while *Haemophilus* and *Bacillus* were overabundant in healthy subjects.
- *Gemella morbillorum, Leptotrichia sp. oral taxon 498* and *Alloprevotella oral taxon 914* correlated positively with the composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score (JADAS10), while *Campylobacter oral taxon 44*, among others, correlated with the number of active joints.
- We found a significantly higher gingival bleeding index (GBI), plaque-index and simplified oral hygiene index (OHI-S) in the JIA group compared to the healthy group. When adjusted for dental plaque and calculus (OHI-S), GBI was not found strictly significantly associated to JIA.

- There was no significant difference in GBI between the three groups of children with JIA using no systemic medication, methotrexate or biologic agents.
- Overabundance of microbiota associated to chronic inflammation in JIA did not overlap with microbiota associated to increased GBI, even if the periopathogenic species *s.sputigena* was associated with GBI in our study.

Paper III

Efficacy and safety of intraarticular corticosteroid injections in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the temporomandibular joint: A Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study.

Frid P, Augdal T, Larheim T.A, Halbig J, Rypdal V, Songstad N.T, Rosen A, Tylleskär K.B, Berstad J.R, Flatø B, Stoustrup P, Rosendahl K, Kirkhus E, Nordal E.

- Most patients received a single IAC, including five (33%) with bilateral IACs.
 In two patients the IACs were repeated once unilaterally.
- The majority of patients had persistent oligoarthritis or polyarthritis RF negative JIA category.
- Systemic medication was adjusted during the 2-year observation period in 10/15 (66.7%) patients.
- At the 2-months study visit after injection there was a minimal improvement in maximal incisal opening (MIO) from median 44.0 (36.0, 48.0) mm to 45.0 (43.0, 47.0) mm, p= 0.045 and decreased MRI mean additive inflammatory score from 4.4±1.8 standard deviations (SD) to 3.4±2.0, p= 0.040.
- Pain improved in 6/11 patients but pain scores were not significantly improved at the 2-months follow-up.
- MRI-assessed damage was mostly stable, but increased in two patients with repeated IACs, and improved in three other patients over the 2-year follow-up.
- Intra-rater repeatability of the domains of the MRI scoring systems varied from poor to excellent. Synovial thickening and disc abnormalities had the best scores for intra-rater repeatability.
- No side effects were seen.

Paper IV

Surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic literature review

P.Frid, C.Resnick, S.Abramowicz, P.Stoustrup, S.E.Nørholt, on behalf of the Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work Group TMJaw.

- The database search identified 255 citations, of which 28 met the eligibility criteria.
- Of these, 24 were case reports with a low level of evidence that did not allow for meta-analysis, three were retrospective and one a prospective cohort study (n=172 participants with JIA in total).
- Extrapolated evidence supports orthognathic surgery in skeletally mature patients with controlled or quiescent JIA and a stable dentofacial deformity.
- Distraction osteogenesis may be recommended for severe deformities.
- Some authors demonstrated unpredictable postoperative mandibular growth with costochondral grafts.
- Alloplastic TMJ reconstruction was reported efficacious, but should be used cautiously in skeletally immature patients.
- TMJ function and skeletal alignment was reportedly improved with reconstruction by any technique and morbidity was low.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Methodological considerations

Study design and strength and limitations

Papers I and II was designed as descriptive cross-sectional studies. The advantage with this study design is that the participants are not deliberately exposed, treated or not treated; therefore this seldom imposes ethical dilemmas. The studies are also relatively inexpensive to perform and it is possible to study multiple outcomes. However, cross-sectional studies do not provide an explanation for the results, only information on associations and not on causation. It is impossible to control for confounding factors.

A strength with paper I is the large international cohort and healthy controls included. However, selection bias may have occurred because many children with high disease activity were included in this study. Data was extracted from two different studies of the PRINTO; the HRQoL study to validate the CHAQ and the CHQ into 32 different languages, and the second study was the PRINTO high dose of MTX trial with patients in high disease activity state.

Furthermore, the primary research questions in the two original studies did not include assessment of TMJ involvement and in addition TMJ imaging was not performed. Also, we do not know to what extent children with asymptomatic TMJ arthritis and growth disturbances in terms of dentofacial deformities from previously active arthritis were identified as TMJ arthritis in this study. Pediatric rheumatologists and not trained dental specialists performed the TMJ examination. The prevalence of TMJ involvement was therefore probably underreported in this study. Another limitation was to distinguish clinical variables associated with TMJ involvement from associations with arthritis in any specific joint or polyarticular disease in general. Adjustments for polyarticular disease course and other disease activity measures were therefore performed in the multivariable logistic regression analyses.

In the cross-sectional study in paper II, the cohort consisted of children with JIA without TMJ arthritis (n=44), JIA with TMJ arthritis (n=15) and healthy controls (n=34). A limitation regarding this cohort was that the children with JIA were not new-onset nor treatment naïve.

Paper III was designed as a prospective Norwegian multi-center pilot study, where a cohort of 15 children with TMJ arthritis treated with IACs was followed for 2 years according to potential effect and safety. The prospective study-design has the advantage of being tailored to collect specific exposure data and may be more precise than cross-sectional studies. The disadvantage of a prospective cohort study is the need for the long follow-up period while waiting for events or diseases to occur, thus the risk for loss to follow-up increases with longer follow-up time, and thereby inflicting selection bias. The ideal research design would have been to randomize the children in a RCT to either corticosteroid or saline injection. However, recruiting enough patients for sufficient statistical power would have been time-consuming and very difficult for our study. Furthermore, it would have been interesting to compare mandibular growth in children with JIA and TMJ arthritis after IACs, with healthy controls. We were not able in our study to assess mandibular growth because the children had mostly finished their growth at time for IACs, and a suitable control group with active TMJ arthritis and alternative treatment strategy was not available. The low number of patients (n=15) is a limitation in this cohort.

Paper IV was designed as a systematic literature review according to the PRISMAguidelines. The level of evidence was scored according to the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine (OCEBM) level of evidence guide (http://www.cebm.net/oxford-centre-evidence-based-medicine-levels-evidence-

march-2009/). A limitation with this systematic review was that no meta-analysis could be performed due to the low level of evidence of the included studies and the high risk of bias. The risk of bias was assessed according to the following variables: prospective study design, sufficient description of the outcome variable, uniform inclusion criteria, standardized examination protocol, outcome assessor blinded to imaging findings, and information on outcome variable variation. Of the 28 included papers, 24 were case-reports; three were retrospective studies and only one prospective. Most of the studies had a small patient sample, and no study had a control group. Only 172 of the 232 included patients had JIA, the remaining patients had different craniofacial syndromes including a dentofacial deformity, thus having the same surgical procedure done. Therefore, it is difficult to ascertain that the results are specific to JIA and not to other conditions. The majority of the outcome assessors, i.e. the oral and maxillofacial surgeons that performed the surgical procedure, were obviously not blinded to the intervention performed in the included studies. Only two databases were used for the literature search, which may have inflicted bias at the review level. The study heterogeneity did therefore not allow for meta-analysis. The strength of this review is that it to our knowledge includes all manuscripts on JIA and dentofacial reconstruction.

Discussion of main findings

The present papers contribute to the current understanding of JIA and TMJ arthritis, by describing in papers I-IV disease activity and quality of life, the oral microbiome and intervention with both IACs to the TMJ and surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in children with JIA.

Disease activity and quality of life

The TMJ is a special joint because of few symptoms and diagnostics may be challenging (122). Paper I pointed out to the need for an internationally accepted definition of TMJ arthritis based on clinical findings and symptoms as well as MRI. Standardizations of terminology according to orofacial examination in JIA have later been published by Stoustrup et al (87). It is a short clinical protocol assessing orofacial symptoms, TMJ dysfunction, and dentofacial deformity, taking less than three minutes to complete. In addition, suggested MRI scoring systems for the TMJ is published by Tolend et al (104), and Kellenberger et al. (105). Prospective longitudinal studies using these new internationally suggested definitions will hopefully make it easier to identify and compare future studies on early predictors of severe facial growth disturbances, intervention and outcome over time.

There has been increasing focus on the TMJ in recent years, and the rate of TMJ arthritis varies significantly (40-90%) in different JIA-cohorts using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (95, 99, 138). In our international cohort comprising a large number of children with JIA with or without TMJ arthritis and healthy children, **the prevalence of clinical TMJ involvement** was found to be low (12%), most probably

because diagnostic imaging was not used. TMJ involvement was based on clinical assessment of the variables "active arthritis" and "limitation in range of movement".

We found associations between clinical TMJ involvement and impaired QoL, polyarticular disease course, longer disease duration, physical disability, and cervical spine involvement in children with JIA. To our knowledge, this is the first study to analyze the relationship between QoL and TMJ involvement in children with JIA. We found an association with increased pain, difficulties in eating, arising, and reaching, and having limitations in physical functioning measured by the child health assessment questionnaire (CHAQ) in multivariable analyses compared to the non-TMJ group. This is in agreement with studies on healthy children, young adult JIA and adult JIA patients, showing that temporomandibular disorders (TMD) may lead to impaired oral health and influence daily life (139-143). Many JIA cohorts are small, adjustment for disease severity is not always done and general orofacial symptoms are most often studied. In our study the TMJ involvement was specifically studied. Furthermore, we found associations between clinical TMJ involvement and impaired physical and emotional wellbeing according to the TMJ (144). However, lower selfesteem (SE of the child health questionnaire (CHQ)) and eating difficulties (CHAQ) were not significantly associated with clinical TMJ involvement in multivariable analysis, only in univariate analysis. A lower self-esteem may be explained by dentofacial deformities, but also by high disease activity in general, because it was not significantly associated to clinical TMJ involvement in the adjusted analyses in our study. Several studies show a positive psychosocial effect in JIA patients after orthognathic surgery (145, 146). It is reported that facial attractiveness may influence education, relationships, and employment (127).

The TMJ plays an important role for daily life activities (141, 147, 148). Our results of the association between TMJ involvement and eating problems and also with oral hygiene are in agreement with other studies (147-149), even if medication and general disease activity also might have an impact on these problems (147). CHAQ used in our study is not a specific tool for assessing TMJ dysfunction. Other questionnaires such as "Juvenile Arthritis Multidimensional Assessment Report (JAMAR)" (150) and the EuroTMJoint Clinical Recommendations protocol similar to, but shorter than the established and validated Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD) (151, 152), is now developed in the EuroTMJoint network, and may better explore eating difficulties and TMJ involvement.

We found longer disease duration in the group with TMJ involvement in contrast to the other children with JIA (95). Evolving growth disturbances can influence this finding and asymmetries following active TMJ arthritis that may be increasingly easier to recognized over time. Peak onset of TMJ arthritis according to age and time after disease onset are best studied in prospective JIA cohorts with radiographic assessment.

In line with other studies, we found associations between TMJ involvement and upper limb involvement and also with a higher ESR (85, 95). We found a significant association between TMJ involvement and cervical spine involvement, and in contrast to other studies, this association was confirmed in multivariable analysis adjusting for higher disease activity (85, 95). Cervical pain and limitation in movement may be caused by cervical spine arthritis, but could also be the result of stiffness in neck and masticatory muscles.

The oral microbiome

The aim of this study was to investigate the salivary oral microbiome in children with JIA and relate this to JIA disease activity including gingival inflammation. There is increasing evidence that the human microbiome may contribute to the development of JIA (15, 31-33) through an imbalance in the composition of the microbiota, i.e. a dysbiosis (15). In patients with rheumatoid arthritis, the oral microbiota is suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis by activation of mucosal immunity (153). Dysbiosis and periodontitis are reported to be associated with increasing severity of rheumatoid arthritis (18).

The next generation sequencing (NGS) method was used in our study for oral bacterial DNA sequencing (154), allowing analysis of microbiota at a reasonable cost and with less extensive laboratory work compared to the earlier method of Sanger sequencing of 16S rRNA clones. The NGS target one or more regions of the 16S rRNA gene, which due to their hypervariability serve as good markers of bacterial taxa in samples. In our study, we chose the V1-V3 region of the 16S rRNA gene to study the salivary oral microbiome. This region proved to provide the most resolution to study oral microbiome, even at the subspecies level.

We found no significant differences between JIA and healthy controls (HC) regarding alpha- and beta-diversity. Alpha-diversity refers to the average species diversity in saliva and beta-diversity to the ratio between species diversity i.e. microbial composition in saliva between the two communities JIA and HC in our study. The average microbiome in our study in both JIA and healthy saliva were found to be *Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria*, and *Fusobacteria* at the phyla level (accounting for more than 98% of the reads). Thirteen genera accounted for 90% of the average microbiome, with *Prevotella, Streptococcus*,

Haemophilus, Actinomyces, Porphyromonas and Rothia alone making 70% of the genera. At the species level, Prevotella melaninogenica, Haemophilus parainfluenzae, Rothia mucilaginosa, Porphyromonas sp. oral taxon 279, Prevotella histicola, Actinomyces odontolyticus were the most abundant species, constituting around 40% of the microbiome on average.

Operational taxonomic unit (OUT) differential abundance testing is commonly used to identify OTUs that differ between two sample categories (i.e. saliva in two groups). OTUs are proxies for species at different taxonomic levels.

In our study, differential abundance analysis revealed that taxa associated with chronic inflammation also was associated to JIA: TM7-G1, Solobacterium and Mogibacterium at the genus level; and Leptotrichia oral taxon 417, TM7-G1 oral taxon 352 and Capnocytophaga oral taxon 864, among others, at the species level. An overabundance of Haemophilus and Bacillus was found in saliva in healthy subjects. Overabundance of taxa associated with chronic inflammation, i.e. dysbiosis, may explain the significantly higher gingival bleeding found in patients with JIA compared to HC in our study. The higher gingival bleeding found in JIA in our study is in line with some authors (147-149, 155, 156). Other authors found, however, no significant difference between JIA and healthy (157-163). In univariate regression analyses JIA was associated to higher GBI. When adjusting for the simplified oral hygiene index (OHI-S) including dental plaque and calculus in multivariable logistic regression analyses, we found that the association between JIA and gingival bleeding lost the clear significance, but OHI-S was significantly associated to gingival bleeding index. The differences across studies may be caused both by different study designs and different measure indices for gingival inflammation, thus making it difficult to compare the results. In our study a cut-off score $\geq 10\%$ for the GBI was used for gingival inflammation in the analyses, even if this only is validated in adults. No cutoff score is established for children. In addition, the gingival bleeding index (GBI) used in our study was modified by measuring only the upper part of the gingival sulcus and only 6 index-teeth were used.

We did not find overabundance of the same microbiota associated to gingival bleeding that was found associated to JIA. However, microbiota associated to chronic inflammation were found in both GBI and JIA. *S.sputigena* associated to GBI in our study is found associated to general aggressive periodontitis in other studies (164). Even if GBI and OHI-S was higher among children with JIA in our study, there was no difference in the frequency of tooth brushing between the groups. Therefore, we hypothesize that the dysbiosis more than specific bacteria may contribute to increased gingival bleeding and dental plaque formation in JIA compared to healthy. Maspero et al found reduced gingival bleeding in patients treated with biologic medication (162). We did not find significant differences in GBI between children with JIA on no systemic medication, methotrexate or biologics.

Furthermore, we found JADAS10 to be positively correlated to *Gemella* morbillorum, Leptotrichia sp. oral taxon 498 and Alloprevotella oral taxon 914, while *Campylobacter oral taxon 44*, among others, particularly correlated with the number of active joints. Association between increased disease activity and certain bacteria is in line with other studies on RA (18).

An altered microbiome profile is in accordance to other studies about the gut microbiota in JIA (16, 34, 49, 50, 52, 53). However, no single species has been identified and different studies on the gut microbiome in JIA show changes in different taxa (16, 34, 49-54). The species found in our study on the salivary oral microbiome in JIA are not found in the studies of the gut microbiome in JIA.

However, disruption of microbial ecology was found and this dysbiosis may have community effects on the host that are more powerful than the actions of just one or a few single microbes (43).

Intervention with IACs to the TMJ

In some patients with JIA, systemic treatment is not sufficient to treat TMJ-arthritis. In these cases other treatment options are sought, such as IACs. When we initiated this study 5 years ago, many clinicians worldwide had a liberal attitude towards performing IACs, and this local treatment was widely recommended (108). However, after several case series reporting severe side effects of mostly repeated IACs, including intra-articular calcifications and inhibited mandibular growth, there is today recommendations towards a more cautious use of IACs (165).

Based on the results from our Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study of adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis, we suggest, that a single IAC after the peripubertal growth might be beneficial as a supplement to systemic treatment. We found reduced inflammation at both 2-months and 2-year follow-up with a newly established MRI scoring system, but minimal improvement of MIO. Validated clinical outcome measures were used in our pilot study. Pain improved in 6 of 11 adolescents in our study but did not reach significance, in contrast to some retrospective studies in children with JIA (107, 110, 111, 113, 114). Stoustrup et al. found improvement in pain one month after IACs but worsened pain after one year in his prospective pilot study using the same validated pain index score that was used in our study (109).

Improved MIO is in line with other retrospective studies (107-111, 113, 114, 117), even if MIO was minimally improved in our study and is associated with variation (166,

167), increases with age, show a wide normal range in children of the same age (168) and is associated with measurement biases even if standardized protocols are used (132) (133). The smallest detectable difference is found to be 5mm when MIO is repeatedly measured in patients with JIA.

We found a significant improvement in the reduction of MRI-assessed inflammation using two newly validated scoring systems, both at 2-month- and at 2-year follow-up after IACs (104, 105). Studies of IACs to the TMJs in JIA patients report a variable MRI improvement of 18-83% probably because of variable definitions of MRI improvement (107, 108, 110, 112, 117). There has been a clear need for a standardized MRI scoring system differentiating normal findings in growing children from pathology, and also grading the pathologic changes that are identified.

We did not find any significant improvement in bone damage on MRI. Two patients with repeated IACs worsened during the 2-year follow-up and 3 patients improved. This is in line with other studies showing either stable condylar changes or worsening with intraarticular ossifications after IACs (107, 108, 111, 120, 169). The authors cannot say if these ossifications are the result of repeated IACs or due to the long-standing TMJ inflammatory process. Also reduced mandibular growth has been reported after IACs in children with JIA and TMJ arthritis (120). We were not able to evaluate growth since most of the study participants in our study were in the phase of finishing their growth at the time the injection was performed. Furthermore, the effect of naturally fluctuating JIA disease activity, systemic treatment changes, and TMJ lavage versus IACs could not be discerned in our study. Our study may still add evidence by assessment of efficacy and safety of *one single* injection and not *repeated* injections in adolescents with an age not thought of as critical regarding mandibular growth retardation due to steroid injection.

Intervention with jaw surgery

If systemic treatment with/or without IACs to the TMJ do not prevent the development of dentofacial deformities in patients with JIA and TMJ arthritis, surgical correction may be the treatment of choice. There is no consensus regarding the most appropriate reconstructive approach, which may be influenced by the degree of skeletal maturity, level of TMJ arthritis activity, severity of TMJ and dentofacial deformity, and surgeon preference and experience.

We found in our systematic review that orthognathic surgery is supported in skeletally mature patients with controlled or quiescent JIA and a stable dentofacial deformity. The reason for performing this kind of surgery after growth is to maximize stability (124, 170). However, reduced stability or "skeletal relapse" after surgery may be a problem in patients with JIA even after growth, because they are so called "high-angle cases" with a TMJ deformity causing posterior rotation of the mandible resulting in an anterior open bite (171). Early surgical intervention, before growth is finished, has therefore been recommended in order to provide better conditions for normal development of the facial skeleton (170, 172).

Distraction osteogenesis (DO) was recommended for severe deformities, even if DO require careful vector planning, patient collaboration during device activation and a second surgery to remove the device (173).

In growing individuals, autologous reconstruction may be preferred because the graft has the potential to grow with the child. Our review found an improvement in functional outcome and esthetics (128, 145, 174-177), self-confidence (174, 176), and

OSA (176, 178), after the use of costochondral-grafts (CCG). However, there is controversy in the literature regarding the use of CCG, due to the risk of graft overgrowth (145, 177), graft resorption and ankylosis, and donor site morbidity (179, 180).

A temporomandibular joint prosthesis was found efficacious because the TMJ could be mobilized early after surgery. However, in growing individuals it should be used cautiously because of the risk of mechanical failure requiring reoperation. Furthermore, long-term outcomes of TMJ prostheses beyond 15 years are unknown (129). We conclude in our review that TMJ function and skeletal alignment was improved by all the mentioned surgical techniques and morbidity was low. Even if available articles were mainly case-series, we believe there is an indication for surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in certain patients with JIA.

Clinical implications of the results

Clinicians should pay special attention to TMJ involvement in children with JIA and cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course and longer disease duration. Furthermore, TMJ diagnostics should include both a standardized clinical TMJ examination and an MRI examination (Paper I).

Children with JIA are vulnerable for oral infections and should have regular dental follow-up. In addition, the oral microbiome may contribute to the pathogenesis and disease severity in JIA. This may give implications in support of a more restrictive use of antibiotics in children (Paper II).

A single IAC in the TMJ in adolescents with JIA may be a supplement to systemic treatment in refractory cases with JIA and TMJ arthritis (Paper III).

The surgical correction of JIA-induced dentofacial deformities is indicated and the specific reconstructive approach may be chosen based on the degree of skeletal maturity, level of TMJ arthritis activity, severity of TMJ and dentofacial deformity, and surgeon preference and experience (Paper IV).

CONCLUSIONS

The work in this dissertation has contributed to new knowledge of TMJ arthritis in JIA with regard to quality of life (QoL) and disease activity, oral microbiome and intervention with the following conclusions:

- I. Clinical TMJ involvement is associated with impaired QoL in children with JIA. The prevalence of TMJ involvement is surely an underestimate of TMJ arthritis, but most children with clinically evident TMJ involvement were probably identified. Special attention should be paid to the TMJ in children with cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course, longer disease duration, and physical disability (Paper I).
- II. Microbiota associated with chronic inflammation was enriched in the saliva of children with JIA. Increased disease activity in terms of JADAS10 and number of active joints were associated to specific bacteria. The disrupted microbial ecology may have triggered a local pathological immune response resulting in increased gingival bleeding and dental plaque formation in JIA (Paper II).
- III. A single IAC to the TMJ in combination with systemic treatment improved MRI-assessed inflammation during a 2-year follow-up in adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis. However, short-term clinical improvement was minimal in MIO and no significant improvement in pain was seen. Bone changes in the

TMJ were mostly stable and no side effects were seen during the 2-year follow-up (Paper III).

IV. Surgical correction of JIA-induced dentofacial deformities may be indicated in selected patients but the level of evidence on treatment outcome is low (Paper IV).

FUTURE STUDIES

There is a need for an internationally accepted definition of TMJ arthritis whether based on clinical findings and/or imaging. Longitudinal TMJ studies with clinical assessment and imaging are warranted to identify early predictors of severe facial growth disturbances, the most efficacious and safe treatment modalities and outcome over time.

Orofacial examinations and imaging of children with JIA and TMJ arthritis with validated standardized protocols are important basis for future research in the field.

Studies on other biomarkers including cytokine levels in saliva, serum and TMJ joint fluid may expand our understanding of TMJ inflammation in JIA. Analyses of cytokines are ongoing in the study participants described in paper II on the oral salivary microbiome. Prospective studies with treatment-naive recent onset patients are warranted to further explore the possible role of the oral microbiome in the etiology of JIA.

Prospective multi-center studies with larger samples of patients and with an age not critical for mandibular growth retardation due to steroid injection including a control group, may further explore the efficacy, safety and role of single IACs in the treatment of active TMJ arthritis in children with JIA.
The different surgical reconstructive interventions performed in the management of dentofacial deformities found in children with JIA and TMJ arthritis should be monitored by establishing prospective intervention studies and a multi-center registry. A prospective multi-center study with Tromsø and Århus on surgical intervention is now ongoing. The TMJaw group may be a networking platform with a key role in establishing an international registry of surgical reconstructive interventions of the TMJ in JIA.

REFERENCES

1. Berntson L, Andersson Gare B, Fasth A, Herlin T, Kristinsson J, Lahdenne P, et al. Incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the Nordic countries. A population based study with special reference to the validity of the ILAR and EULAR criteria. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(10):2275-82.

2. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767-78.

3. Moe N, Rygg M. Epidemiology of juvenile chronic arthritis in northern Norway: a ten-year retrospective study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 1998;16(1):99-101.

4. Malleson PN, Fung MY, Rosenberg AM. The incidence of pediatric rheumatic diseases: results from the Canadian Pediatric Rheumatology Association Disease Registry. J Rheumatol. 1996;23(11):1981-7.

5. Towner SR, Michet CJ, Jr., O'Fallon WM, Nelson AM. The epidemiology of juvenile arthritis in Rochester, Minnesota 1960-1979. Arthritis Rheum. 1983;26(10):1208-13.

6. Prieur AM, Le Gall E, Karman F, Edan C, Lasserre O, Goujard J. Epidemiologic survey of juvenile chronic arthritis in France. Comparison of data obtained from two different regions. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 1987;5(3):217-23.

7. Petty R LR, Lindsley C, Wedderburn L. Textbook of Pediatric Rheumatology 7th Edition. Saunders. 2005.

8. Hochberg. Rheumatology, 2-Volume Set 7th Edition. Elsevier. 2019.

9. Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(2):390-2.

10. Petty R LR, Lindsley C, Wedderburn L. Textbook of Pediatric Rheumatology 7th Edition. Saunders. 2015.

11. Martini A, Ravelli A, Avcin T, Beresford MW, Burgos-Vargas R, Cuttica R, et al. Toward New Classification Criteria for Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: First Steps, Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organization International Consensus. J Rheumatol. 2019;46(2):190-7.

12. Nordal E, Zak M, Aalto K, Berntson L, Fasth A, Herlin T, et al. Ongoing disease activity and changing categories in a long-term nordic cohort study of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(9):2809-18.

13. Woo P, Colbert RA. An overview of genetics of paediatric rheumatic diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2009;23(5):589-97.

14. Verwoerd A, Ter Haar NM, de Roock S, Vastert SJ, Bogaert D. The human microbiome and juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2016;14(1):55.

15. Kamada N, Seo SU, Chen GY, Nunez G. Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(5):321-35.

16. Tejesvi MV, Arvonen M, Kangas SM, Keskitalo PL, Pirttila AM, Karttunen TJ, et al. Faecal microbiome in new-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016;35(3):363-70.

17. Rossi O, van Baarlen P, Wells JM. Host-recognition of pathogens and commensals in the mammalian intestine. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2013;358:291-321.

18. Scher JU, Bretz WA, Abramson SB. Periodontal disease and subgingival microbiota as contributors for rheumatoid arthritis pathogenesis: modifiable risk factors? Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2014;26(4):424-9.

19. Zhang X, Zhang D, Jia H, Feng Q, Wang D, Liang D, et al. The oral and gut microbiomes are perturbed in rheumatoid arthritis and partly normalized after treatment. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):895-905.

20. Prakken BJ, Albani S. Using biology of disease to understand and guide therapy of JIA. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2009;23(5):599-608.

21. Pancewicz S, Popko J, Rutkowski R, Knas M, Grygorczuk S, Guszczyn T, et al. Activity of lysosomal exoglycosidases in serum and synovial fluid in patients with chronic Lyme and rheumatoid arthritis. Scand J Infect Dis. 2009;41(8):584-9.

22. Arvonen M, Virta LJ, Pokka T, Kroger L, Vahasalo P. Repeated exposure to antibiotics in infancy: a predisposing factor for juvenile idiopathic arthritis or a sign of this group's greater susceptibility to infections? J Rheumatol. 2015;42(3):521-6.

23. Horton DB, Scott FI, Haynes K, Putt ME, Rose CD, Lewis JD, et al. Antibiotic Exposure and Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: A Case-Control Study. Pediatrics. 2015;136(2):e333-43.

24. Hinks A, Bowes J, Cobb J, Ainsworth HC, Marion MC, Comeau ME, et al. Fine-mapping the MHC locus in juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) reveals genetic heterogeneity corresponding to distinct adult inflammatory arthritic diseases. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2017;76(4):765-72.

25. Ombrello MJ, Remmers EF, Tachmazidou I, Grom A, Foell D, Haas JP, et al. HLA-DRB1*11 and variants of the MHC class II locus are strong risk factors for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(52):15970-5.

26. Hinks A, Marion MC, Cobb J, Comeau ME, Sudman M, Ainsworth HC, et al. Brief Report: The Genetic Profile of Rheumatoid Factor-Positive Polyarticular Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis Resembles That of Adult Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2018;70(6):957-62.

27. Palman J, Shoop-Worrall S, Hyrich K, McDonagh JE. Update on the epidemiology, risk factors and disease outcomes of Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2018;32(2):206-22.

28. Phelan JD, Thompson SD. Genomic progress in pediatric arthritis: recent work and future goals. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2006;18(5):482-9.

29. Pardeo M, Bracaglia C, De Benedetti F. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: New insights into pathogenesis and cytokine directed therapies. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2017;31(4):505-16.

30. Barnes MG, Grom AA, Thompson SD, Griffin TA, Pavlidis P, Itert L, et al. Subtype-specific peripheral blood gene expression profiles in recent-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(7):2102-12.

31. Missaghi B, Barkema HW, Madsen KL, Ghosh S. Perturbation of the human microbiome as a contributor to inflammatory bowel disease. Pathogens. 2014;3(3):510-27.

32. Giongo A, Gano KA, Crabb DB, Mukherjee N, Novelo LL, Casella G, et al. Toward defining the autoimmune microbiome for type 1 diabetes. ISME J. 2011;5(1):82-91.

33. Scher JU, Abramson SB. The microbiome and rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2011;7(10):569-78.

34. van Dijkhuizen EHP, Del Chierico F, Malattia C, Russo A, Pires Marafon D, Ter Haar NM, et al. Microbiome Analytics of the Gut Microbiota in Patients With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: A Longitudinal Observational Cohort Study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2019;71(6):1000-10.

35. Beyer K, Zaura E, Brandt BW, Buijs MJ, Brun JG, Crielaard W, et al. Subgingival microbiome of rheumatoid arthritis patients in relation to their disease status and periodontal health. PLoS One. 2018;13(9):e0202278.

36. Scher JU, Littman DR, Abramson SB. Microbiome in Inflammatory Arthritis and Human Rheumatic Diseases. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(1):35-45.

37. Besser J, Carleton HA, Gerner-Smidt P, Lindsey RL, Trees E. Nextgeneration sequencing technologies and their application to the study and control of bacterial infections. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2018;24(4):335-41.

38. Ruff WE, Kriegel MA. Autoimmune host-microbiota interactions at barrier sites and beyond. Trends Mol Med. 2015;21(4):233-44.

39. Turnbaugh PJ, Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Knight R, Gordon JI. The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice. Sci Transl Med. 2009;1(6):6ra14.

40. Jernberg C, Lofmark S, Edlund C, Jansson JK. Long-term impacts of antibiotic exposure on the human intestinal microbiota. Microbiology. 2010;156(Pt 11):3216-23.

41. De Filippo C, Di Paola M, Giani T, Tirelli F, Cimaz R. Gut microbiota in children and altered profiles in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Autoimmun. 2019;98:1-12.

42. Majumder S, Aggarwal A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis and the gut microbiome: Where are we now? Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2020:101496.

43. Chriswell ME, Kuhn KA. Microbiota-mediated mucosal inflammation in arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2020:101492.

44. Cusick MF, Libbey JE, Fujinami RS. Molecular mimicry as a mechanism of autoimmune disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2012;42(1):102-11.

45. Kuhn KA, Pedraza I, Demoruelle MK. Mucosal immune responses to microbiota in the development of autoimmune disease. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2014;40(4):711-25.

46. Wegner N, Wait R, Sroka A, Eick S, Nguyen KA, Lundberg K, et al. Peptidylarginine deiminase from Porphyromonas gingivalis citrullinates human fibrinogen and alpha-enolase: implications for autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(9):2662-72.

47. Costello ME, Ciccia F, Willner D, Warrington N, Robinson PC, Gardiner B, et al. Brief Report: Intestinal Dysbiosis in Ankylosing Spondylitis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67(3):686-91.

48. Bergot AS, Giri R, Thomas R. The microbiome and rheumatoid arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2020:101497. 49. Stoll ML, Kumar R, Morrow CD, Lefkowitz EJ, Cui X, Genin A, et al. Altered microbiota associated with abnormal humoral immune responses to commensal organisms in enthesitis-related arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2014;16(6):486.

50. Di Paola M, Cavalieri D, Albanese D, Sordo M, Pindo M, Donati C, et al. Alteration of Fecal Microbiota Profiles in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Associations with HLA-B27 Allele and Disease Status. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1703.

51. Stoll ML, Kumar R, Lefkowitz EJ, Cron RQ, Morrow CD, Barnes S. Fecal metabolomics in pediatric spondyloarthritis implicate decreased metabolic diversity and altered tryptophan metabolism as pathogenic factors. Genes Immun. 2016;17(7):400-5.

52. Aggarwal A, Sarangi AN, Gaur P, Shukla A, Aggarwal R. Gut microbiome in children with enthesitis-related arthritis in a developing country and the effect of probiotic administration. Clin Exp Immunol. 2017;187(3):480-9.

53. Stoll ML, Weiss PF, Weiss JE, Nigrovic PA, Edelheit BS, Bridges SL, Jr., et al. Age and fecal microbial strain-specific differences in patients with spondyloarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2018;20(1):14.

54. Dong YQ, Wang W, Li J, Ma MS, Zhong LQ, Wei QJ, et al. Characterization of microbiota in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with different disease severities. World J Clin Cases. 2019;7(18):2734-45.

55. Consolaro A, Giancane G, Schiappapietra B, Davi S, Calandra S, Lanni S, et al. Clinical outcome measures in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2016;14(1):23.

56. Consolaro A, Ruperto N, Bazso A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Filocamo G, et al. Development and validation of a composite disease activity score for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(5):658-66.

57. Giannini EH, Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Lovell DJ, Felson DT, Martini A. Preliminary definition of improvement in juvenile arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40(7):1202-9.

58. Selvaag AM, Ruperto N, Asplin L, Rygg M, Landgraf JM, Forre O, et al. The Norwegian version of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ). Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19(4 Suppl 23):S116-20.

59. Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Pistorio A, Malattia C, Cavuto S, Gado-West L, et al. Cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric evaluation of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) in 32 countries. Review of the general methodology. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19(4 Suppl 23):S1-9.

60. Landgraf JM. The CHQ User's Manual. First Edition. ed Boston M, USA: The Health Institute, New England Medical Center; 1996. 1996., editor1996.

61. Wallace CA, Giannini EH, Huang B, Itert L, Ruperto N, Childhood Arthritis Rheumatology Research A, et al. American College of Rheumatology provisional criteria for defining clinical inactive disease in select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(7):929-36.

62. Glerup M, Herlin T, Twilt M. Clinical Outcome and Long-term Remission in JIA. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2017;19(12):75.

63. Guzman J, Oen K, Loughin T. Predicting disease severity and remission in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: are we getting closer? Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2019;31(5):436-49.

64. Hayward K, Wallace CA. Recent developments in anti-rheumatic drugs in pediatrics: treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2009;11(1):216.

65. Beukelman T, Patkar NM, Saag KG, Tolleson-Rinehart S, Cron RQ, DeWitt EM, et al. 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: initiation and safety monitoring of therapeutic agents for the treatment of arthritis and systemic features. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(4):465-82.

66. Angeles-Han ST, Lo MS, Henderson LA, Lerman MA, Abramson L, Cooper AM, et al. Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance Consensus Treatment Plans for Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis-Associated and Idiopathic Chronic Anterior Uveitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(4):482-91.

67. Ringold S, Angeles-Han ST, Beukelman T, Lovell D, Cuello CA, Becker ML, et al. 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation Guideline for the Treatment of Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: Therapeutic Approaches for Non-Systemic Polyarthritis, Sacroiliitis, and Enthesitis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2019;71(6):846-63.

68. Ringold S, Weiss PF, Beukelman T, DeWitt EM, Ilowite NT, Kimura Y, et al. 2013 update of the 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: recommendations for the medical therapy of children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and tuberculosis screening among children receiving biologic medications. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(10):2499-512.

69. Ravelli A, Consolaro A, Horneff G, Laxer RM, Lovell DJ, Wulffraat NM, et al. Treating juvenile idiopathic arthritis to target: recommendations of an international task force. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2018;77(6):819-28.

70. Giannini EH, Brewer EJ, Kuzmina N, Shaikov A, Maximov A, Vorontsov I, et al. Methotrexate in resistant juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Results of the U.S.A.-U.S.S.R. double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. The Pediatric Rheumatology Collaborative Study Group and The Cooperative Children's Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1992;326(16):1043-9.

71. Woo P, Southwood TR, Prieur AM, Dore CJ, Grainger J, David J, et al. Randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover trial of low-dose oral methotrexate in children with extended oligoarticular or systemic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2000;43(8):1849-57.

72. Ruperto N, Murray KJ, Gerloni V, Wulffraat N, de Oliveira SK, Falcini F, et al. A randomized trial of parenteral methotrexate comparing an intermediate dose with a higher dose in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis who failed to respond to standard doses of methotrexate. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(7):2191-201.

73. Shepherd J, Cooper K, Harris P, Picot J, Rose M. The clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of abatacept, adalimumab, etanercept and tocilizumab for treating juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess. 2016;20(34):1-222.

74. Klein A, Horneff G. Treatment strategies for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2009;10(18):3049-60.

75. Ruperto N, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis and malignancy. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2014;53(6):968-74. 76. Lanni S, Bertamino M, Consolaro A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Galasso R, et al. Outcome and predicting factors of single and multiple intra-articular corticosteroid injections in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2011;50(9):1627-34.

77. Zulian F, Martini G, Gobber D, Plebani M, Zacchello F, Manners P. Triamcinolone acetonide and hexacetonide intra-articular treatment of symmetrical joints in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a double-blind trial. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2004;43(10):1288-91.

78. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Verna C, Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T. Intra-articular steroid injection for temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A systematic review on efficacy and safety. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2013;43(1):63-70.

79. Beresford MW. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: new insights into classification, measures of outcome, and pharmacotherapy. Paediatric drugs. 2011;13(3):161-73.

80. Resnick CM, Frid P, Norholt SE, Stoustrup P, Peacock ZS, Kaban LB, et al. An Algorithm for Management of Dentofacial Deformity Resulting From Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: Results of a Multinational Consensus Conference. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2019;77(6):1152 e1- e33.

81. Stoustrup P, Kuseler A, Kristensen KD, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Orthopaedic splint treatment can reduce mandibular asymmetry caused by unilateral temporomandibular involvement in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Eur J Orthod. 2013;35(2):191-8.

82. <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Temporomandibular_joint</u>.

83. Arabshahi B, Cron RQ. Temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the forgotten joint. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2006;18(5):490-5.

84. Ringold S, Cron RQ. The temporomandibular joint in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: frequently used and frequently arthritic. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2009;7:11.

85. Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM, Stabrun AE, Haanaes HR. The temporomandibular joint in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Radiographic changes related to clinical and laboratory parameters in 100 children. Scand J Rheumatol. 1982;11(1):5-12.

86. Twilt M, Schulten AJ, Verschure F, Wisse L, Prahl-Andersen B, van Suijlekom-Smit LW. Long-term followup of temporomandibular joint involvement in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;59(4):546-52.

87. Stoustrup P, Resnick CM, Pedersen TK, Abramowicz S, Michelotti A, Kuseler A, et al. Standardizing Terminology and Assessment for Orofacial Conditions in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: International, Multidisciplinary Consensus-based Recommendations. J Rheumatol. 2019;46(5):518-22.

88. Abramowicz S, Cheon JE, Kim S, Bacic J, Lee EY. Magnetic resonance imaging of temporomandibular joints in children with arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;69(9):2321-8.

89. Kellenberger CJ, Abramowicz S, Arvidsson LZ, Kirkhus E, Tzaribachev N, Larheim TA. Recommendations for a Standard Magnetic Resonance Imaging Protocol of Temporomandibular Joints in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018;76(12):2463-5.

90. Kellenberger CJ, Bucheli J, Schroeder-Kohler S, Saurenmann RK, Colombo V, Ettlin DA. Temporomandibular joint magnetic resonance imaging findings in

adolescents with anterior disk displacement compared to those with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Oral Rehabil. 2019;46(1):14-22.

91. Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Gelineck J, Herlin T. A 2 year followup study of enhanced magnetic resonance imaging and clinical examination of the temporomandibular joint in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2005;32(1):162-9.

92. Kirkhus E, Arvidsson LZ, Smith HJ, Flato B, Hetlevik SO, Larheim TA. Disk abnormality coexists with any degree of synovial and osseous abnormality in the temporomandibular joints of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatric radiology. 2016;46(3):331-41.

93. Larheim T. A DAS, Kirkhus E, Parra D.A,, Kellenberger C.J ALZ. TMJ imaging in JIA patients—An overview. Seminars in Orthodontics. June 2015;VOL 21, NO 2:102-10.

94. Cedstromer AL, Ahlqwist M, Andlin-Sobocki A, Berntson L, Hedenberg-Magnusson B, Dahlstrom L. Temporomandibular condylar alterations in juvenile idiopathic arthritis most common in longitudinally severe disease despite medical treatment. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2014;12:43.

95. Cannizzaro E, Schroeder S, Muller LM, Kellenberger CJ, Saurenmann RK. Temporomandibular joint involvement in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(3):510-5.

96. Stoll ML, Sharpe T, Beukelman T, Good J, Young D, Cron RQ. Risk factors for temporomandibular joint arthritis in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2012;39(9):1880-7.

97. Ronning O, Valiaho ML, Laaksonen AL. The involvement of the temporomandibular joint in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol. 1974;3(2):89-96.

98. Billiau AD, Hu Y, Verdonck A, Carels C, Wouters C. Temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: prevalence, clinical and radiological signs, and relation to dentofacial morphology. J Rheumatol. 2007;34(9):1925-33.

99. Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T, Gelineck J. Contrast enhanced magnetic resonance imaging as a method to diagnose early inflammatory changes in the temporomandibular joint in children with juvenile chronic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1998;25(7):1406-12.

100. Koos B, Twilt M, Kyank U, Fischer-Brandies H, Gassling V, Tzaribachev N. Reliability of clinical symptoms in diagnosing temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(9):1871-7.

101. von Kalle T, Stuber T, Winkler P, Maier J, Hospach T. Early detection of temporomandibular joint arthritis in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis - the role of contrast-enhanced MRI. Pediatric radiology. 2015;45(3):402-10.

102. Kottke R, Saurenmann RK, Schneider MM, Muller L, Grotzer MA, Kellenberger CJ. Contrast-enhanced MRI of the temporomandibular joint: findings in children without juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Acta Radiol. 2015;56(9):1145-52.

103. Angenete OW, Augdal TA, Jellestad S, Rygg M, Rosendahl K. Normal magnetic resonance appearances of the temporomandibular joints in children and young adults aged 2-18 years. Pediatric radiology. 2018;48(3):341-9.

104. Tolend MA, Twilt M, Cron RQ, Tzaribachev N, Guleria S, von Kalle T, et al. Toward Establishing a Standardized Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System for Temporomandibular Joints in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(5):758-67.

105. Kellenberger CJ, Junhasavasdikul T, Tolend M, Doria AS.
Temporomandibular joint atlas for detection and grading of juvenile idiopathic arthritis involvement by magnetic resonance imaging. Pediatric radiology.
2018;48(3):411-26.

106. Muller L, Kellenberger CJ, Cannizzaro E, Ettlin D, Schraner T, Bolt IB, et al. Early diagnosis of temporomandibular joint involvement in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a pilot study comparing clinical examination and ultrasound to magnetic resonance imaging. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2009;48(6):680-5.

107. Arabshahi B, Dewitt EM, Cahill AM, Kaye RD, Baskin KM, Towbin RB, et al. Utility of corticosteroid injection for temporomandibular arthritis in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(11):3563-9.

108. Stoll ML, Good J, Sharpe T, Beukelman T, Young D, Waite PD, et al. Intraarticular corticosteroid injections to the temporomandibular joints are safe and appear to be effective therapy in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70(8):1802-7.

109. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T. Temporomandibular joint steroid injections in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: an observational pilot study on the long-term effect on signs and symptoms. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2015;13:62.

110. Cahill AM, Baskin KM, Kaye RD, Arabshahi B, Cron RQ, Dewitt EM, et al. CT-guided percutaneous steroid injection for management of inflammatory arthropathy of the temporomandibular joint in children. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2007;188(1):182-6.

111. Ringold S, Torgerson TR, Egbert MA, Wallace CA. Intraarticular corticosteroid injections of the temporomandibular joint in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2008;35(6):1157-64.

112. Weiss PF, Arabshahi B, Johnson A, Bilaniuk LT, Zarnow D, Cahill AM, et al. High prevalence of temporomandibular joint arthritis at disease onset in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, as detected by magnetic resonance imaging but not by ultrasound. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(4):1189-96.

113. Parra DA, Chan M, Krishnamurthy G, Spiegel L, Amaral JG, Temple MJ, et al. Use and accuracy of US guidance for image-guided injections of the temporomandibular joints in children with arthritis. Pediatric radiology. 2010;40(9):1498-504.

114. Habibi S, Ellis J, Strike H, Ramanan AV. Safety and efficacy of US-guided CS injection into temporomandibular joints in children with active JIA. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2012;51(5):874-7.

115. Kinard BE, Bouloux GF, Prahalad S, Vogler L, Abramowicz S. Arthroscopy of the Temporomandibular Joint in Patients With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;74(7):1330-5.

116. Resnick CM, Vakilian PM, Kaban LB, Peacock ZS. Quantifying the Effect of Temporomandibular Joint Intra-Articular Steroid Injection on Synovial Enhancement in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;74(12):2363-9.

117. Resnick CM, Vakilian PM, Kaban LB, Peacock ZS. Is Intra-Articular Steroid Injection to the Temporomandibular Joint for Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis More Effective and Efficient When Performed With Image Guidance? J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(4):694-700.

118. Antonarakis GS, Courvoisier DS, Hanquinet S, Dhouib A, Carlomagno R, Hofer M, et al. Benefit of Temporomandibular Joint Lavage With Intra-Articular Steroids Versus Lavage Alone in the Management of Temporomandibular Joint Involvement in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018;76(6):1200-6.

119. Olsen-Bergem H, Bjornland T. A cohort study of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis and arthritis of the temporomandibular joint: outcome of arthrocentesis with and without the use of steroids. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;43(8):990-5.

120. Lochbuhler N, Saurenmann RK, Muller L, Kellenberger CJ. Magnetic Resonance Imaging Assessment of Temporomandibular Joint Involvement and Mandibular Growth Following Corticosteroid Injection in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(8):1514-22.

121. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Gelineck J, Cattaneo PM, Pedersen TK, et al. Reduced mandibular growth in experimental arthritis in the temporomandibular joint treated with intra-articular corticosteroid. Eur J Orthod. 2008;30(2):111-9.

122. Martini G, Bacciliero U, Tregnaghi A, Montesco MC, Zulian F. Isolated temporomandibular synovitis as unique presentation of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2001;28(7):1689-92.

123. Stabrun AE, Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM, Rosler M. Reduced mandibular dimensions and asymmetry in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Pathogenetic factors. Arthritis Rheum. 1988;31(5):602-11.

124. Arvidsson LZ, Fjeld MG, Smith HJ, Flato B, Ogaard B, Larheim TA. Craniofacial growth disturbance is related to temporomandibular joint abnormality in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, but normal facial profile was also found at the 27-year follow-up. Scand J Rheumatol. 2010;39(5):373-9.

125. Mandall NA, Gray R, O'Brien KD, Baildam E, Macfarlane TV, Davidson J, et al. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA): a screening study to measure class II skeletal pattern, TMJ PDS and use of systemic corticosteroids. J Orthod. 2010;37(1):6-15.

126. Barrera JE, Pau CY, Forest VI, Holbrook AB, Popelka GR. Anatomic measures of upper airway structures in obstructive sleep apnea. World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017;3(2):85-91.

127. Cunningham SJ. The psychology of facial appearance. Dent Update. 1999;26(10):438-43.

128. Stringer DE, Gilbert DH, Herford AS, Boyne PJ. A method of treating the patient with postpubescent juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65(10):1998-2004.

129. Sidebottom AJ. Alloplastic or autogenous reconstruction of the TMJ. J Oral Biol Craniofac Res. 2013;3(3):135-9.

130. Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Pistorio A, Malattia C, Cavuto S, Gado-West L, et al. Cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric evaluation of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) in 32 countries. Review of the general methodology. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19(4 Suppl 23):S1-9. 131. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med. 2009;6(7):e1000097.

132. Schiffman E, Ohrbach R, Truelove E, Look J, Anderson G, Goulet JP, et al. Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD) for Clinical and Research Applications: recommendations of the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network* and Orofacial Pain Special Interest Groupdagger. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. 2014;28(1):6-27.

133. Stoustrup P. Clinical craniofacial examination of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Seminars in Orthodontics. 2015;Vol 21(No 2 (June)):pp 94–101.

134. Ainamo J, Bay I. Problems and proposals for recording gingivitis and plaque. Int Dent J. 1975;25(4):229-35.

135. Trombelli L, Farina R, Silva CO, Tatakis DN. Plaque-induced gingivitis: Case definition and diagnostic considerations. J Periodontol. 2018;89 Suppl 1:S46-S73.

136. Greene JC, Vermillion JR. The Simplified Oral Hygiene Index. Journal of the American Dental Association (1939). 1964;68:7-13.

137. World Medical A. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 2013;310(20):2191-4.

138. Arvidsson LZ, Flato B, Larheim TA. Radiographic TMJ abnormalities in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis followed for 27 years. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2009;108(1):114-23.

139. Barbosa TS, Leme MS, Castelo PM, Gaviao MB. Evaluating oral healthrelated quality of life measure for children and preadolescents with temporomandibular disorder. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2011;9:32.

140. Leksell E, Ernberg M, Magnusson B, Hedenberg-Magnusson B. Orofacial pain and dysfunction in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a case-control study. Scand J Rheumatol. 2012;41(5):375-8.

141. Ostile IL, Johansson I, Aasland A, Flato B, Moller A. Self-rated physical and psychosocial health in a cohort of young adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2010;39(4):318-25.

142. Engstrom AL, Wanman A, Johansson A, Keshishian P, Forsberg M. Juvenile arthritis and development of symptoms of temporomandibular disorders: a 15-year prospective cohort study. J Orofac Pain. 2007;21(2):120-6.

143. Arvidsson LZ, Smith HJ, Flato B, Larheim TA. Temporomandibular joint findings in adults with long-standing juvenile idiopathic arthritis: CT and MR imaging assessment. Radiology. 2010;256(1):191-200.

144. Felce D, Perry J. Quality of life: its definition and measurement. Research in developmental disabilities. 1995;16(1):51-74.

145. Svensson B, Adell R. Costochondral grafts to replace mandibular condyles in juvenile chronic arthritis patients: long-term effects on facial growth. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1998;26(5):275-85.

146. Oye F, Bjornland T, Store G. Mandibular osteotomies in patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritic disease. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2003;32(3):168-73.

147. Leksell E, Ernberg M, Magnusson B, Hedenberg-Magnusson B. Intraoral condition in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis compared to controls.

International journal of paediatric dentistry / the British Paedodontic Society [and] the International Association of Dentistry for Children. 2008;18(6):423-33. 148. Welbury RR, Thomason JM, Fitzgerald JL, Steen IN, Marshall NJ, Foster HE. Increased prevalence of dental caries and poor oral hygiene in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2003;42(12):1445-51.

149. Ahmed N, Bloch-Zupan A, Murray KJ, Calvert M, Roberts GJ, Lucas VS. Oral health of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(8):1639-43.

150. Filocamo G, Consolaro A, Schiappapietra B, Dalpra S, Lattanzi B, Magni-Manzoni S, et al. A new approach to clinical care of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the Juvenile Arthritis Multidimensional Assessment Report. The Journal of rheumatology. 2011;38(5):938-53.

151. Schiffman E, Ohrbach R, Truelove E, Look J, Anderson G, Goulet JP, et al. Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD) for Clinical and Research Applications: Recommendations of the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network* and Orofacial Pain Special Interest Groupdagger. Journal of oral & facial pain and headache. 2014;28(1):6-27.

152. Peck CC, Goulet JP, Lobbezoo F, Schiffman EL, Alstergren P, Anderson GC, et al. Expanding the taxonomy of the diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders. Journal of oral rehabilitation. 2014;41(1):2-23.

153. Lorenzo D, GianVincenzo Z, Carlo Luca R, Karan G, Jorge V, Roberto M, et al. Oral-Gut Microbiota and Arthritis: Is There an Evidence-Based Axis? J Clin Med. 2019;8(10).

154. Siqueira JF, Jr., Fouad AF, Rocas IN. Pyrosequencing as a tool for better understanding of human microbiomes. J Oral Microbiol. 2012;4.

155. Santos D, Silva C, Silva M. Oral health and quality of life of children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis according to their caregivers' perceptions. Spec Care Dentist. 2015;35(6):272-8.

156. Grevich S, Lee P, Leroux B, Ringold S, Darveau R, Henstorf G, et al. Oral health and plaque microbial profile in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2019;17(1):81.

157. Miranda LA, Fischer RG, Sztajnbok FR, Figueredo CM, Gustafsson A. Periodontal conditions in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Clin Periodontol. 2003;30(11):969-74.

158. Savioli C, Silva CA, Ching LH, Campos LM, Prado EF, Siqueira JT. Dental and facial characteristics of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo. 2004;59(3):93-8.

159. Reichert S, Machulla HK, Fuchs C, John V, Schaller HG, Stein J. Is there a relationship between juvenile idiopathic arthritis and periodontitis? J Clin Periodontol. 2006;33(5):317-23.

160. Feres de Melo AR, Ferreira de Souza A, de Oliveira Perestrelo B, Leite MF. Clinical oral and salivary parameters of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2014;117(1):75-80.

161. Pugliese C, van der Vinne RT, Campos LM, Guardieiro PR, Saviolli C, Bonfa E, et al. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis activity and function ability: deleterious effects in periodontal disease? Clin Rheumatol. 2016;35(1):81-91.

162. Maspero C, Giannini L, Galbiati G, Prevedello C, Farronato G. Periodontal conditions in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Minerva stomatologica. 2017;66(2):43-50.

163. Kobus A, Kierklo A, Zalewska A, Kuzmiuk A, Szajda SD, Lawicki S, et al. Unstimulated salivary flow, pH, proteins and oral health in patients with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. BMC Oral Health. 2017;17(1):94.

164. Nagpal D, Prakash S, Bhat KG, Singh G. Detection and comparison of Selenomonas sputigena in subgingival biofilms in chronic and aggressive periodontitis patients. J Indian Soc Periodontol. 2016;20(3):286-91.

165. Stoustrup P, Twilt M. Therapy. Intra-articular steroids for TMJ arthritis-caution needed. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2015;11(10):566-7.

166. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Verna C, Kuseler A, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Orofacial symptoms related to temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: smallest detectable difference in self-reported pain intensity. J Rheumatol. 2012;39(12):2352-8.

167. Stoustrup P, Verna C, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Smallest detectable differences in clinical functional temporomandibular joint examination variables in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2013;16(3):137-45.

168. Muller L, van Waes H, Langerweger C, Molinari L, Saurenmann RK. Maximal mouth opening capacity: percentiles for healthy children 4--17 years of age. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2013;11(1):17.

169. Ringold S, Thapa M, Shaw EA, Wallace CA. Heterotopic ossification of the temporomandibular joint in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(7):1423-8.

170. Stabrun AE. Impaired mandibular growth and micrognathic development in children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. A longitudinal study of lateral cephalographs. Eur J Orthod. 1991;13(6):423-34.

171. Mobarak KA, Espeland L, Krogstad O, Lyberg T. Mandibular advancement surgery in high-angle and low-angle class II patients: different long-term skeletal responses. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2001;119(4):368-81.

172. Kreiborg S, Bakke M, Kirkeby S, Michler L, Vedtofte P, Seidler B, et al. Facial growth and oral function in a case of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis during an 8-year period. Eur J Orthod. 1990;12(2):119-34.

173. Norholt SE, Pedersen TK, Herlin T. Functional changes following distraction osteogenesis treatment of asymmetric mandibular growth deviation in unilateral juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a prospective study with long-term follow-up. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42(3):329-36.

174. Bowler JD. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: cases from the coalfields. Ann R Australas Coll Dent Surg. 1991;11:209-17.

175. Felix VB, Cabral DR, de Almeida AB, Soares ED, de Moraes Fernandes KJ. Ankylosis of the Temporomandibular Joint and Reconstruction With a Costochondral Graft in a Patient With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Craniofac Surg. 2017;28(1):203-6.

176. Guyuron B. Facial deformity of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1988;81(6):948-51.

177. Svensson B, Feldmann G, Rindler A. Early surgical-orthodontic treatment of mandibular hypoplasia in juvenile chronic arthritis. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1993;21(2):67-75.

178. Cohen SR, Ross DA, Burstein FD, Lefaivre JF, Riski JE, Simms C. Skeletal expansion combined with soft-tissue reduction in the treatment of obstructive

sleep apnea in children: physiologic results. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1998;119(5):476-85.

179. Saeed N, Hensher R, McLeod N, Kent J. Reconstruction of the temporomandibular joint autogenous compared with alloplastic. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;40(4):296-9.

180. Saeed NR, Kent JN. A retrospective study of the costochondral graft in TMJ reconstruction. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2003;32(6):606-9.

PAPER I

Temporomandibular Joint Involvement in Association with Quality of Life, Disability and High Disease Activity in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis.

Frid P, Nordal E, Bovis F, Giancane G, Larheim TA, Rygg M, Pires Marafon D, De Angelis D, Palmisani E, Murray KJ, Oliveira S, Simonini G, Corona F, Davidson J, Foster H, Steenks MH, Flato B, Zulian F, Baildam E, Saurenmann RK, Lahdenne P, Ravelli A, Martini A, Pistorio A, Ruperto N; Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation.

Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017 May;69(5):677-686.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Temporomandibular Joint Involvement in Association With Quality of Life, Disability, and High Disease Activity in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis

PAULA FRID,¹ ELLEN NORDAL,² FRANCESCA BOVIS,³ GABRIELLA GIANCANE,³ TORE A. LARHEIM,⁴ MARITE RYGG,⁵ DENISE PIRES MARAFON,³ DONATO DE ANGELIS,³ ELENA PALMISANI,³ KEVIN J. MURRAY,⁶ SHEILA OLIVEIRA,⁷ GABRIELE SIMONINI,⁸ FABRIZIA CORONA,⁹ JOYCE DAVIDSON,¹⁰ HELEN FOSTER,¹¹ MICHEL H. STEENKS,¹² BERIT FLATO,¹³ FRANCESCO ZULIAN,¹⁴ EILEEN BAILDAM,¹⁵ ROTRAUD K. SAURENMANN,¹⁶ PEKKA LAHDENNE,¹⁷ ANGELO RAVELLI,¹⁸ ALBERTO MARTINI,¹⁸ ANGELA PISTORIO,¹⁹ AND NICOLINO RUPERTO,³ FOR THE PAEDIATRIC RHEUMATOLOGY INTERNATIONAL TRIALS ORGANISATION

Objective. To evaluate the demographic, disease activity, disability, and health-related quality of life (HRQOL) differences between children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and their healthy peers, and between children with JIA with and without clinical temporomandibular joint (TMJ) involvement and its determinants.

Methods. This study is based on a cross-sectional cohort of 3,343 children with JIA and 3,409 healthy peers, enrolled in the Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation HRQOL study or in the methotrexate trial. Potential determinants of TMJ involvement included demographic, disease activity, disability, and HRQOL measures selected through univariate and multivariable logistic regression.

Results. Clinical TMJ involvement was observed in 387 of 3,343 children with JIA (11.6%). Children with TMJ involvement, compared to those without, more often had polyarticular disease course (95% versus 70%), higher Juvenile Arthritis Disease Activity Score (odds ratio [OR] 4.6), more disability, and lower HRQOL. Children with TMJ involvement experienced clearly more disability and lower HRQOL compared to their healthy peers. The multivariable analysis showed that cervical spine involvement (OR 4.6), disease duration >4.4 years (OR 2.8), and having more disability (Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index >0.625) (OR 1.6) were the most important determinants for TMJ involvement.

Conclusion. Clinical TMJ involvement in JIA is associated with higher disease activity, higher disability, and impaired HRQOL. Our findings indicate the need for dedicated clinical and imaging evaluation of TMJ arthritis, especially in children with cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course, and longer disease duration.

INTRODUCTION

Temporomandibular joint (TMJ) arthritis in childhood is recognized as a common problem in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and may lead to reduced mouth opening and pain, as well as craniomandibular

Supported by the Troms County Council, Grethe Harbitz Legat, Helse Nord Research Funding, the Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation, and the Istituto G. Gaslini.

¹Paula Frid, DDS: University Hospital of North Norway, UiT The Arctic University of Norway, and Public Dental Competence Center of Northern Norway, Tromsø, Norway; ²Ellen Nordal, MD, PhD: University Hospital of North Norway, and UiT The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway; ³Francesca Bovis, BsA, Gabriella Giancane, MD, Denise Pires growth disturbances. The growth disturbances in childhood TMJ arthritis are different from arthritis in other joints because of the special anatomy of the TMJ, with fibrous cartilage and the intraarticular condylar growth pattern (1). Bilateral involvement may lead to micrognathia and dental malocclusion (2,3), and unilateral involvement may lead to

Marafon, MD, Donato De Angelis, MD, Elena Palmisani, MD, Nicolino Ruperto, MD, MPH: Istituto Giannina Gaslini and PRINTO Coordinating Center, Genoa, Italy; ⁴Tore A. Larheim, DDS, PhD: UiT The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway; ⁵Marite Rygg, MD, PhD: Norwegian University of Science and Technology and St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway; ⁶Kevin J. Murray, MBBS, FRACP: Princess Margaret Hospital for Children, Perth, Australia; ⁷Sheila Oliveira, MD: Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, and Instituto de

Significance & Innovations

- Clinical temporomandibular joint (TMJ) involvement is associated with high levels of disability, high disease activity, and impaired quality of life in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).
- Clinicians should pay special attention to TMJ involvement in children with JIA and cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course, and longer disease duration.
- Observations were based on 387 of 3,343 children with JIA, representing those with clinically evident TMJ involvement.

facial asymmetry (4). TMJ arthritis may also hamper oral hygiene and lead to dental caries (5,6).

Depending on the examination methods and study design used, the prevalence of TMJ arthritis varies in different JIA studies. Rheumatologists may not have the same awareness for TMJ as for other joints, and standardized examination of TMJ range of motion is challenging in small children. Tenderness is very subjective, and young children often do not report pain in even obviously swollen chronically inflamed joints. An overall TMJ prevalence of approximately 40–45% has usually been found using panoramic radiography (7,8). In 2 large series of children examined with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), frequencies of approximately 39% and 43% were reported (9,10). In 47 patients followed longitudinally for

Puericultura e Pediatria Martagao Gesteira, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; ⁸Gabriele Simonini, MD, PhD: Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Meyer, Florence, Italy; ⁹Fabrizia Corona, MD: Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda-Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy; ¹⁰Joyce Davidson, MD: Royal Hospi-tal for Sick Children, Glasgow, UK; ¹¹Helen Foster, MD: Newcastle University, Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and Great North Children's Hospital, Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK; ¹²Michel H. Steenks, DDS: University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands; ¹³Berit Flato, MD, PhD: Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway; ¹⁴Francesco Zulian, MD: Clinica Pediatrica, Padova, Italy; ¹⁵Eileen Baildam, MD: Alder Hey Children's NHS Foun-dation Trust, Liverpool, UK; ¹⁶Rotraud K. Saurenmann, MD: Kantonsspital Winterthur, Winterthur, Switzerland; ¹⁷Pekka Lahdenne, MD: Children's Hospital and Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland; ¹⁸Angelo Ravelli, MD, Alberto Martini, MD: Università di Genova, Istituto Giannina Gaslini, and PRINTO Coordinating Center, Genoa, Italy; ¹⁹Angela Pistorio, MD, PhD: Istituto Giannina Gaslini, Genoa, Italy.

Address correspondence to Paula Frid, DDS, Department of Otorhinolaryngology and Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North Norway and Public Dental Service Competence Centre of Northern Norway, N-9038 Tromsø, Norway. E-mail: paula.frid@unn.no, or to Nicolino Ruperto, MD, MPH, Istituto Giannina Gaslini, Pædiatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO), EULAR Centre of Excellence in Rheumatology 2008-2013, Pediatria II, Reumatologia, Via Gaslini 5m 16147, Genova, Italy. E-mail: nicolaruperto@gaslini.org. 27 years, Arvidsson et al (11) reported a frequency of 70% when the adult JIA patients were examined with both computed tomography and MRI. Both lower and higher prevalences have been reported in clinical and radiologic studies (12,13), and in particular with MRI (14,15) higher prevalences of TMJ arthritis have been found. However, many TMJ studies are characterized by a low number of patients. It is a fact that MRI may detect TMJ arthritis in children with JIA without symptoms or clinical findings. However, contrast enhancement is also seen in healthy children and adolescents (16,17), and thus the reliability of contrast-enhanced MRI to assess synovial inflammation is discussed (18), reflecting the complex diagnostics of the TMJ.

TMJ pain has a negative impact on health-related quality of life (HRQOL) in adult rheumatoid arthritis patients (19), and a high prevalence of temporomandibular disorders (TMDs) in adult JIA patients has also been reported (20). TMDs in general lead to reduced HRQOL in preadolescents (21). Orofacial symptoms are frequent, and are reported to influence daily life severely for almost a quarter of a series of children with JIA (22). However, little is known about the effect of TMJ involvement on HRQOL and disability in children with JIA.

The purpose of the present study was to examine the difference in clinical characteristics, disease activity, disability, and HRQOL in a large cohort of children with JIA with and without clinical TMJ involvement, to compare the results with those obtained in healthy peers, and to identify the factors that have the greatest influence on TMJ arthritis. The overall hypothesis was that children with JIA and TMJ involvement have distinctive clinical features when compared to children without TMJ involvement.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients. This is a cross-sectional study based on data extracted from 2 studies of the Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO) (23). The first relates to the HRQOL study, which enrolled 3,235 children with JIA and 3,409 healthy controls to validate the translation of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (C-HAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) into 32 different languages (24). The second study was the PRINTO high dose of methotrexate (MTX) trial with 633 participants (25); for the MTX trial, only baseline data, from patients in a high disease activity state, were used. Children were classified as per the International League of Associations for Rheumatology criteria (26). Children with psoriatic or enthesitis-related arthritis were excluded.

Assessment of functional disability and HRQOL measures. The national version of the C-HAQ questionnaire was completed by one of the parents, or by the child if age >9 years. The C-HAQ is used to assess the patient's ability to carry out daily life activities (24,27) and the child's ability to perform different functions, grouped in 8 domains (range 0–3): dressing, grooming, arising, eating, walking, hygiene, reach, grip, and activities. The C-HAQ disability index (C-HAQ DI) is calculated with a range from 0 (no or minimal physical disability) to 3 (very severe physical disability). A parent's/patient's global assessment of the child's overall well-being in the previous week was scored on a 0–10-cm visual analog scale (PRgloVAS) (where 0 = very well and 10 = very poor), and a parent's/ patient's global assessment of the child's pain in the previous week was scored on a 0–10-cm VAS (where 0 = no pain and 10 = very severe pain) (PRpainVAS).

The national language version of the parent's administered 50-item version of the CHQ (also called CHQ-PF 50) was used to assess HRQOL of patients and healthy children. The CHQ is a generic self-administered instrument designed to capture the physical, emotional, and social components of health status of children ages 5-18 years, which comprises 15 health concepts (range 0-100): global general health, physical functioning, role/social limitations emotional/behavioral, role/social limitations physical, bodily pain/discomfort, behavior, general behavior, mental health, self-esteem, general health perception, change in health, parent impact emotional, parent impact time, family activity, and family cohesion. The CHQ comprises 2 summary measures, based on a US normative standard, the physical summary score (PhS) and the psychosocial summary score (PsS) (mean \pm SD 50 \pm 10). Higher scores in the scales indicate better HRQOL (28).

Assessment of disease activity. The JIA core set activity variables (29) were assessed: the number of joints with active arthritis (i.e., swelling within a joint or limitation in the range of joint movement with joint pain or tenderness) (26,29), the number of joints with limitation of motion (LOM), the physician global evaluation of disease activity on a 10-cm VAS (MDgloVAS), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), the C-HAQ, the PRgloVAS, and the Juvenile Arthritis Disease Activity Score 71 (JADAS) (30–32).

Assessment of TMJ involvement. For this study, we defined TMJ involvement as a clinical evaluation of TMJ arthritis based on the presence of TMJ pain or LOM, registered by the local pediatric rheumatologist in the PRINTO joint examination form. Jaw deviation during opening and maximal mouth opening capacity were not registered, but LOM was assessed according to standard pediatric rheumatology textbooks.

Statistical analysis. For clinical and demographic data, descriptive statistics were used, such as median (1st to 3rd quartile) and frequencies (percentage). Associations between TMJ and other disease characteristics were analyzed by chi-square test for categorical variables and Student's *t*-test for continuous variables if reasonably normally distributed, otherwise Wilcoxon's test was used. A P value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. To identify factors differentiating JIA patients with or without TMJ involvement, univariate logistic regression was performed, using as exploratory measures the JIA core set, the C-HAQ, and the CHQ domains. Multivariable logistic regression was performed to identify factors independently associated with TMJ involvement. In both univariate and multivariable regression analyses, the continuous



Figure 1. Flow chart of the participants enrolled in the study. MTX = methotrexate; HRQoL = health-related quality of life; JIA = juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

variables were dichotomized as per receiver operating characteristics analysis. Statistical analysis was performed using SAS software, version 9.3, and SPSS software, version 21. Approval from appropriate medical ethical committees and data authorities was obtained according to the requirements of each participating country.

RESULTS

Study population. Of the original 2 studies we used, 2,715 of 3,235 JIA patients (84%) from the HRQOL study, 628 of 633 (99%) from the MTX trial, and all 3,409 healthy participants from the HRQOL study, in total 6,752 subjects, were analyzed (Figure 1). Participants from the MTX trial had higher levels of disease activity and disability and worse HRQOL when compared to the participants from the cross-sectional HRQOL study (see Supplementary Tables 1 and 2, available on the *Arthritis Care & Research* web site at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/acr.23003/abstract). Of the 3,343 children with JIA included, 2,278 of 3,243 (70.2%) were female, and 1,530 (45.8%) were diagnosed with persistent or extended oligoarthritis (Table 1).

Demographic and disease activity parameters. Demographic and disease activity characteristics and univariate analysis for the TMJ group and non-TMJ group are given in Table 1. Of the 387 children with clinical TMJ involvement (11.6% of the entire cohort), 75 (19.4%) had unilateral and 312 (80.6%) had bilateral TMJ involvement. In the TMJ group there was a female predominance (75.5%) and longer disease duration, versus the non-TMJ group,

Table 1. Demographic and disease activity characteristics according to clinical TMJ involvementamong 3,343 children with JIA*						
	Clinical TMJ involvement (n = 387)	No clinical TMJ involvement (n = 2,956)	Cutoff	Clinical TMJ involvement OR (95% CI)		
Demographic characteristics						
Female, no. (%)	292 (75.5)	1,986 (67.3) (n = 2,951)	-	1.5 (1.2–1.9)		
Age at visit	11.6 (8.5–14.9)	10.0 (6.5–13.6)	>9.2	1.8 (1.4-2.3)		
Age at onset	4.9 (2.3–8.3)	5.2 (2.5–8.8) (n = 2,948)	≤8.9	1.2 (0.9–1.5)		
Disease duration	5.1 (2.1-8.6)	3.2 (1.3-6.0) (n = 2,948)	>4.4	2.2 (1.8–2.8)		
JIA category, no. (%)						
Persistent oligoarthritis	19 (4.9)	887 (30.0)	_	_		
Extended oligoarthritis†	78 (20.2)	546 (18.5)	_	6.7 (4.0-11.1)		
Polyarthritis†	93 (24.0)	585 (19.8)	_	7.4 (4.5–12.3)		
Systemic arthritis†	197 (50.9)	938 (31.7)	_	9.8 (6.1-15.8)		
ANA	142 (38.6)	1,057 (37.4)	_	1.1 (0.8–1.3)		
	(n = 368)	(n = 2,823)				
RF	43 (11.4)	216 (7.6)	_	1.6(1.1-2.2)		
	(n = 377)	(n = 2,831)				
MTX study	116 (30.0)	512 (17.3)	_	2.0(1.6-2.6)		
Disease activity variables						
JADAS score	20.6 (11.1-30.3)	9.2 (3.2-17.9)	>18.1	4.6 (3.7-5.8)		
,	(n = 354)	(n = 2,627)				
MDgloVAS	4.2 (2.2-6.2)	2.3 (0.6-4.5)	>2.6	2.7 (2.2-3.4)		
	(n = 385)	(n = 2,944)				
ESR	32.0 (18.0-52.0)	22.0 (11.0-41.0)	> 15.0	2.8 (2.1-3.7)		
	(n = 357)	(n = 2,652)				
No. of patients with active joints, no. (%)	259 (66.9)	1,044 (35.3)	≥ 5.0	3.7 (3.0-4.6)		
No. of joints with swelling	4.0 (1.0-12.0)	2.0 (0.0-5.0)	>2.0	2.3 (1.8-2.8)		
No. of joints with pain	7.0 (2.0–15.0)	1.0 (0.0-5.0)	> 5.0	4.5 (3.6-5.6)		
No. of joints with LOM	13.0 (6.0–29.0)	2.0 (0.0-7.0)	> 4.0	8.9 (6.8–11.7)		
No. of active joints	8.0 (3.0–17.0)	2.0 (0.0-6.0)	> 5.0	3.9 (3.1-4.8)		
Cervical spine involvement, no. (%)	239 (61.8)	508 (17.2)	-	7.8 (6.2–9.8)		
* Values are the median (1st to 3rd quartile) unles with temporomandibular joint (TMJ) (categorical va variables). Cutoff values for continuous variables we all variables, except for age at onset and antinucles ables are known for >95% of the total participants,	s indicated otherwise riables) together with are dichotomized as p ar antibody (ANA), w except for the follow	e. Chi-square test is u Student's <i>t</i> -test and V er receiver operating which were not statist ing: erythrocyte sedir	sed for te Wilcoxon's curve anal ically sign nentation	sting associations s test (continuous yses. $P < 0.05$ for ilficant. The vari- rate (ESR) (90%),		

all variables, except for age at onset and antinuclear antibody (ANA), which were not statistically significant. The variables are known for >95% of the total participants, except for the following: erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (90%), Juvenile Arthritis Disease Activity Score (JADAS) (89%). JIA = juvenile idiopathic arthritis; OR = odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; RF = rheumatoid factor; MTX = methotrexate; MDgloVAS = physician global evaluation of disease activity using a visual analog scale; LOM = limited range of motion. + JIA category versus persistent oligoarthritis used as a reference.

but no statistically significant difference in age at onset. Polyarticular disease course (extended oligoarthritis, polyarthritis rheumatoid factor [RF]–positive or -negative, and systemic arthritis) was more common in the TMJ group (95.1%) compared to the non-TMJ group (70.0%), and a polyarticular RF-positive or -negative JIA category was reported in 50.9% of the children in the TMJ group compared to 31.7% in the non-TMJ group (see Supplementary Figure 1, available on the *Arthritis Care & Research* web site at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ acr.23003/abstract). Disease activity measures as measured by the JADAS score, MDgloVAS, ESR, and the number of active joints were significantly higher in the TMJ group compared to the non-TMJ group.

Disability and HRQOL. Disability and HRQOL are reported in Figures 2 and 3 and in the related descriptive

statistics in Supplementary Tables 2 and 3 (available on the *Arthritis Care & Research* web site at http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/acr.23003/abstract). Children with clinical TMJ involvement had more disability compared to children without TMJ involvement, as measured by the 8 C-HAQ subscales, PRpainVAS, PRgloVAS, and C-HAQ DI. As shown by the arrows in Figure 2, children with clinical TMJ involvement had scores more than 2 SD above the mean values of healthy controls in the domains of dressing, eating, and activities.

All CHQ health concept and summary scores (PhS and PsS) in children with clinical TMJ involvement were significantly lower than in children without TMJ involvement, except for behavior and general behavior. In addition, children with clinical TMJ involvement had values more than 2 SD below the mean of healthy controls for the following health concepts: global general



Figure 2. Mean and 95% confidence intervals for the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) for children with and without clinical temporomandibular joint (TMJ) involvement. Vertical bars represent +2 SD of the mean of healthy children. Higher scores indicate more disability. Arrows indicate the 3 CHAQ domains (dressing, eating, and active) in which only children who have juvenile idiopathic arthritis with clinical TMJ involvement have scores >2 SDs of the mean of healthy children. DICHAQ = CHAQ disability index; PRpainVAS = parent's/patient's global assessment of the child's pain using a visual analog scale; PRgloVAS = parent's/patient's global assessment of the child's overall well-being using a visual analog scale.

health, role/social limitations emotional/behavioral, role limitations physical, and bodily pain/discomfort.

Univariate analysis. To evaluate the association of disease activity, disability, and HRQOL with clinical TMJ involvement, we report the results of the univariate analyses (odds ratios [ORs] and 95% confidence intervals), with continuous variables dichotomized as per operating characteristics analysis in Table 1 and Table 2. A significant association with clinical TMJ involvement was found for extended oligoarticular, polyarticular, and systemic arthritis categories, using the oligoarticular persistent category as a reference (OR range 6.7–9.8). Disease activity measures as measured by the JADAS score (OR 4.6), MDgloVAS (OR 2.7), ESR (OR 2.8), and number of active joints (OR 3.9) were significantly higher in the TMJ group compared to the non-TMJ group. Children with clinical TMJ involvement had more frequent cervical spine involvement (OR 7.8) or upper extremity involvement (data not shown).

All the C-HAQ domains had higher scores in the TMJ group compared with the non-TMJ group, particularly for the domains of reach (OR 5.5), difficulties concerning arising, grip, and activities (OR > 3.5 for all). In addition, the TMJ group had higher scores for C-HAQ DI (OR 4.1) compared with the non-TMJ group. The TMJ group also had higher scores compared to the non-TMJ group for PRgloVAS and for PRpainVAS (OR 3.1 and OR 2.7,

respectively). An adverse impact on physical and psychosocial well-being was found in the TMJ group, with lower PhS score (OR 3.2) and to a lesser extent PsS score (OR 1.7) compared with the non-TMJ group. There were significantly lower scores for the specific CHQ health concepts concerning self-esteem, global general health, bodily pain/ discomfort, impact on general health, family activity, parent impact emotional, child's physical and emotional behavior, and physical functioning in the TMJ group, with an OR between 2.0 and 2.9 (Table 2). A univariate analysis was performed for the same continuous variables, dividing them into quartiles, and the results were overlapping (data not shown).

Multivariable logistic regression. In the final regression model, we entered all variables that were found to be significantly associated with clinical TMJ involvement at the univariate analysis based on OR as follows: sex, disease duration, RF, cervical spine involvement, ESR, number of active joints, MDgloVAS, PRpainVAS, PRgloVAS, C-HAQ DI, PhS, and PsS (CHQ). We excluded JIA categories (the number of joints with pain in lower and upper extremities, LOM, and swelling) that were significant in the univariate analysis, but for which there was collinearity with other variables entered in the model. The 8 C-HAQ domains and 13 of 15 CHQ health concepts were excluded, since they were collinear with the respective total scores of the C-HAQ DI, PhS, and PsS (CHQ). In the final model, to



Figure 3. Mean and 95% confidence intervals of the 15 subscales (range 0–100) and the 2 summary scores (norm-based values with mean \pm SD of 50 \pm 10) of the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) for children with and without clinical temporomandibular joint (TMJ) involvement. Higher scores indicate better health. Vertical bars represent -2 SD of the mean of healthy children. Arrows indicate the 4 CHQ health concepts (global general health, role/social limitations emotional/behavioral, role/social limitations physical, and bodily pain/discomfort), in which only children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis with clinical TMJ involvement have scores less than -2 SDs of the mean of healthy children.

control for the level of disease activity, we also adjusted (with adjusted OR) for the following measures: participation in the MTX trial, number of active joints, ESR, and RF. The multivariable analysis (Table 3) showed that cervical spine involvement (adjusted OR 4.6), disease duration >4.4 years, being female, and having higher C-HAQ DI were the most important determinants for TMJ involvement (OR 2.8–1.5).

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrated an association between clinical TMJ involvement, disability, and HRQOL in children with JIA, as well as independent associations between TMJ and cervical spine involvement. We found a female predominance, longer disease duration, polyarticular course, and higher level of disease activity in the group with clinical TMJ involvement, and we found that the majority had bilateral involvement.

The strength of the present study is the large international cohort of 3,343 children with JIA, with as many as 387 children with clinical TMJ involvement. In this cohort, systemic arthritis is overrepresented compared to population-based JIA cohorts, and enthesitis-related arthritis and psoriatic arthritis are not included, but otherwise our cohort is representative of most JIA populations according to sex and JIA category distribution (9,10,13,33,34). Moreover, the observed associations between clinical TMJ involvement and a number of disease variables are in accordance with studies based on radiologic TMJ involvement (7,9).

An obvious weakness in the present study is the assessment of TMJ involvement. No data on imaging were available. Since recognizable swelling in the TMJ is rare, the general definition of arthritis could not be applied (26). We are not aware of any TMJ studies in children with JIA that have used this general definition of arthritis. In line with other studies (7,9,15,35), clinical TMJ involvement (whether active or not) in our study was based on the presence of TMJ pain and/or LOM. The observed low frequency of clinical TMJ involvement was therefore not surprising. TMJ imaging and in particular MRI may detect TMJ abnormalities, even in JIA children without any clinical symptoms or signs of TMJ arthritis.

However, in a recent study using the same criteria for assessing clinical TMJ involvement in JIA, Kirkhus et al (35) reported that contrast-enhanced MRI demonstrated TMJ arthritis in 85% of the children with clinical TMJ involvement. Mostly, they found a combination of synovitis (78%) and bone abnormalities (72%). This finding is also in accordance with others (15,33). Koos et al (15) found a specificity of 0.86 for TMJ pain and 0.83 for LOM when comparing with MRI-detected TMJ arthritis in children with JIA. Sensitivity of these clinical signs of TMJ involvement was, however, low (15). We therefore anticipate that in the present study, the vast majority of the children with clinical symptoms actually had TMJ arthritis.

It must be emphasized that symptoms and signs in these joints are quite unspecific. We could expect that a

Table 2. Disability and HRQOL measures for childrenwith $(n = 387)$ and without $(n = 2,956)$ clinical TMJinvolvement*					
	Cutoff	Clinical TMJ involvement OR (95% CI)			
С-НАО					
Dressing	> 0.0	3.1(2.4 - 3.9)			
Arising	> 0.0	3.7 (3.0-4.7)			
Eating	> 0.0	3.4 (2.7-4.2)			
Walking	> 0.0	2.6 (2.1-3.3)			
Hygiene	> 0.0	3.0 (2.4-3.7)			
Reach	> 0.0	5.5 (4.1-7.2)			
Grip	> 0.0	3.6 (2.8-4.4)			
Active	>1.0	3.5 (3.3-5.6)			
C-HAQ DI	> 0.6	4.1 (3.2-5.2)			
PRpainVAS	>1.8	2.7 (2.2-3.5)			
PRgloVAS	>2.2	3.1 (2.5-4.0)			
CHQ					
Global general health	≤ 30.0	2.0(1.6-2.5)			
Physical function	≤ 72.2	2.9 (2.3-3.6)			
Role emotional behavior	≤77.8	2.4 (1.9-3.0)			
Role physical	≤ 66.7	2.4 (2.0-3.1)			
Bodily pain	≤ 50.0	2.2 (1.7–2.7)			
Behavior	NA	NA			
General behavior	NA	NA			
Mental health	\leq 70.0	1.7 (1.3–2.1)			
Self-esteem	≤70.8	2.0 (1.6–2.4)			
General health	≤ 51.0	2.0 (1.6–2.5)			
Change in health	≤ 25.0	1.6 (1.2–1.9)			
Parental impact emotional	\leq 75.0	2.3 (1.7–3.0)			
Parental impact time	≤77.8	1.9 (1.5–2.3)			
Family activities	≤ 66.7	2.0 (1.6–2.5)			
Family cohesion	≤ 30.0	1.7 (1.3–2.3)			
Physical score	≤35.1	3.2 (2.5-4.1)			
Psychosocial score	≤50.3	1.7 (1.4–2.2)			

* Cutoff values for continuous variables were dichotomized as per receiver operating curve analyses. P < 0.05 for all variables except for behavior and general behavior, which were not significant in the univariate analysis. HRQOL = health-related quality of life; TMJ = temporomandibular joint; OR = odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C-HAQ = Child Health Assessment Questionnaire; C-HAQ DI = C-HAQ disability index; PRpainVAS = parent's/patient's global assessment of the child's pain using a visual analog scale; PRgloVAS = parent's/patient's global assessment of the child's overall well-being using a visual analog scale; CHQ = Child Health Questionnaire; NA = not applicable.

minority, as discussed by Kirkhus et al (35), might have TMJ symptoms/signs due to myalgia or mechanical disorders, such as disc displacement. MRI would have been highly valuable for differential diagnostics. In the present study, we do not know to what extent dentofacial growth disturbances were registered. In other studies, approximately one-third of children with JIA and TMJ arthritis have been observed with micrognathia (2,3).

Children with JIA ages <7 years are reported to have almost no subjective TMJ dysfunction or symptoms (36). They may not be able to give a precise description of their symptoms and may develop severe facial growth disturbances, apparently without previous symptoms (2). With an average age at visit ≥ 10 years in the present study, the majority should have been old enough to report symptoms. The subgroup with TMJ arthritis constituted a rather large number of patients, although being only a small percentage of the whole series. Therefore, the present study can provide valuable characteristics of a large group of children with symptomatic TMJ involvement.

To our knowledge, no study has actually analyzed the relationship between TMJ involvement in children with JIA and HRQOL measures, although 1 study has reported an impact on the daily life activities (22). Our results showed an association with increased pain, and difficulties in eating, arising, and reaching in univariate analysis, and being disabled measured by the C-HAQ DI in multivariable analyses compared to the non-TMJ group. The associations between TMJ involvement and impaired HRQOL are in agreement with studies on non-JIA children and young adult JIA patients, showing that TMD may lead to impaired oral health and influence daily life (21,22,37). This finding is in accordance also with Leksell et al (22), who found that almost 80% of their children with JIA reported pain from the TMJs or the face, and nearly a quarter was severely influenced by orofacial pain in daily life. However, their findings were based on a small JIA cohort of 41 children, and adjustment for disease severity was not performed. Leksell et al (22) studied general orofacial symptoms, while the present study focused on clinical TMJ involvement. A high prevalence of TMD problems in adolescent and adult JIA patients is also reported by other authors (11,20).

The present study showed associations between clinical TMJ involvement and impaired HRQOL factors such as activity and physical and emotional wellbeing (38). A lower self-esteem (CHQ) and eating difficulties (C-HAQ) were significantly associated with clinical TMJ

Table 3. Disease activity, disability, and HRQOL characteristics associated with clinical TMJ involvement, adjusted for measures of high disease activity (n = 387)*
Crude OR Adjusted OR

	,
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	-6.1) -3.8) -2.3) -2.1) -1.8) -1.7) -1.6) -1.6) -1.3)

* Multivariable logistic regression analysis adjusted for the following measures of high disease activity: methotrexate trial participation, number of active joints >5, erythrocyte sedimentation rate >15, and rheumatoid factor positive. HRQOL = health-related quality of life; TMJ = temporomandibular joint; OR = odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C-HAQ DI = Child Health Assessment Questionnaire disability index; PRgloVAS = parent's/ patient's global assessment of the child's overall well-being using a visual analog scale; CHQ = Child Health Questionnaire; PhS = physical summary score; PsS = psychosocial summary score; PRpainVAS = parent's/patient's global assessment of the child's pain using a visual analog scale; MDgloVAS = physician global evaluation of disease activity using a visual analog scale. involvement in univariate analysis, but not in multivariable analysis. A lower self-esteem may be explained by craniofacial growth disturbances resulting in asymmetries and micrognathia, or related to high disease activity, since it is not significantly associated with clinical TMJ involvement in the adjusted analyses. However, several studies show a positive psychosocial effect in JIA patients after orthognatic surgery (39,40).

The TMJ is important for many daily life activities such as eating, chewing, talking, and oral health (5,37,41). Our results on eating problems in univariate analyses are in accordance with Leksell et al (41), who report problems with eating and oral health among JIA patients ages 10-19 years compared to healthy controls. Welbury et al (5) report significantly increased levels of poor oral hygiene and dental decay in children with JIA in general compared to controls. Ahmed et al (6) report a greater gingivitis score for the permanent teeth in the children with JIA and greater TMJ dysfunction in children with JIA compared to controls. Leksell et al (41), however, believe the problems with eating and performing good oral hygiene, are not only due to TMJ pain, but also due to medication and general disease activity. Adequate nutrition is essential for growth and general wellbeing in children with chronic inflammation. Eating difficulties is 1 of the 8 domains in the C-HAQ, and one question is "Is your child able to: Cut his/her own meat?" This question probably mainly reflects problems with fine motor skills due to finger and wrist arthritis more than eating problems due to TMJ. The C-HAQ is therefore not a specific tool for assessing TMJ dysfunction. The newly developed questionnaire Juvenile Arthritis Multidimensional Assessment Report may better explore eating difficulties and TMJ involvement in the question "Difficulties/limitations with bite into a sandwich or an apple" (42). Also, a standardized protocol for a proper diagnostic and classification system of TMJs in children with JIA, similar to, but shorter than, the established and validated Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (43,44), is under development in the EuroTMjoint network. Jaw opening is also included in the pediatric Gait, Arms, Legs, and Spine screening tool for musculoskeletal examination in children (45).

In contrast to Cannizzaro et al (9), we found longer disease duration in the TMJ group, but not significant differences between the 2 groups according to age at onset. Peak onset of TMJ arthritis according to age and time after disease onset are best studied in prospective JIA cohorts with imaging. In line with other studies, we found associations between TMJ involvement and upper extremity involvement as well as higher ESR (7,9). We also found a significant association between TMJ and cervical spine involvement, and in contrast to Cannizzaro et al, the association was confirmed in multivariable analysis, adjusting for higher disease activity (7,9).

A diagnosis of cervical spine arthritis is often based on clinical criteria such as cervical pain and stiffness. However, these symptoms could also be the result of myalgia, in the same way as clinical TMJ involvement may represent muscular pain instead of TMJ arthritis. The close proximity of the neck and masticatory muscles might partly explain this association. Bilateral involvement was registered in 80.6% of the children with clinical TMJ involvement, in agreement with observations in adult JIA patients (11). At the baseline radiographic examination of the longitudinal followup study by Larheim et al (7), approximately 60% of the children with TMJ arthritis were assessed with bilateral TMJ involvement. This figure seems to be in accordance with most radiographic TMJ studies of JIA children (2,11,46,47), but the occurrence of bilateral TMJ involvement seems to be higher when using MRI (10,48,49). Children may have difficulties distinguishing whether there is pain in 1 or both TMJs.

There are some limitations in the present study. It was not designed to study TMJ arthritis specifically, and no imaging was performed. Furthermore, pediatric rheumatologists and not trained dental specialists performed the TMJ examination. Since TMJ involvement is most common in children with polyarthritis, another limitation of our study is to distinguish clinical variables associated with TMJ involvement from associations with arthritis in any specific joint or polyarticular disease in general. Therefore, we have performed a multivariable analysis, adjusting for measures of high disease activity such as participation in the PRINTO MTX trial, higher number of active joints, higher ESR, and being RF positive. However, other activity variables not adjusted for may still have interfered with our analyses.

In conclusion, clinical TMJ involvement is associated with impaired HRQOL in JIA children. The prevalence of TMJ involvement is surely an underestimate of TMJ arthritis, but most children with clinically evident TMJ involvement were probably identified. Special attention should be paid to the TMJ in children with cervical spine involvement, polyarticular course, longer disease duration, physical disability, and female sex. There is a need for an internationally accepted definition of TMJ arthritis, whether based on clinical findings and/or imaging. Longitudinal TMJ studies with clinical assessment and imaging are warranted to identify early predictors of severe facial growth disturbances, treatment modalities, and outcome over time.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content, and all authors approved the final version to be submitted for publication. Dr. Frid had full access to all of the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Study conception and design. Frid, Nordal, Ravelli, Martini, Ruperto.

Acquisition of data. Rygg, De Angelis, Palmisani, Murray, Oliveira, Simonini, Corona, Davidson, Foster, Steenks, Flato, Zulian, Baildam, Saurenmann, Lahdenne, Ravelli, Ruperto.

Analysis and interpretation of data. Frid, Nordal, Bovis, Giancane, Larheim, Marafon, De Angelis, Flato, Ravelli, Martini, Pistorio, Ruperto.

REFERENCES

1. Martini G, Bacciliero U, Tregnaghi A, Montesco MC, Zulian F. Isolated temporomandibular synovitis as unique

presentation of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2001;28:1689–92.

- Arvidsson LZ, Fjeld MG, Smith HJ, Flato B, Ogaard B, Larheim TA. Craniofacial growth disturbance is related to temporomandibular joint abnormality in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, but normal facial profile was also found at the 27-year follow-up. Scand J Rheumatol 2010;39:373–9.
- Mandall NA, Gray R, O'Brien KD, Baildam E, Macfarlane TV, Davidson J, et al. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA): a screening study to measure class II skeletal pattern, TMJ PDS and use of systemic corticosteroids. J Orthod 2010;37:6–15.
- Stabrun AE, Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM, Rosler M. Reduced mandibular dimensions and asymmetry in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: pathogenetic factors. Arthritis Rheum 1988;31: 602–11.
- Welbury RR, Thomason JM, Fitzgerald JL, Steen IN, Marshall NJ, Foster HE. Increased prevalence of dental caries and poor oral hygiene in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003;42:1445–51.
- Ahmed N, Bloch-Zupan A, Murray KJ, Calvert M, Roberts GJ, Lucas VS. Oral health of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2004;31:1639–43.
- Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM, Stabrun AE, Haanaes HR. The temporomandibular joint in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: radiographic changes related to clinical and laboratory parameters in 100 children. Scand J Rheumatol 1982;11:5–12.
- Cedstromer AL, Ahlqwist M, Andlin-Sobocki A, Berntson L, Hedenberg-Magnusson B, Dahlstrom L. Temporomandibular condylar alterations in juvenile idiopathic arthritis most common in longitudinally severe disease despite medical treatment. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2014;12:43.
- 9. Cannizzaro E, Schroeder S, Muller LM, Kellenberger CJ, Saurenmann RK. Temporomandibular joint involvement in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2011;38:510–15.
- Stoll ML, Sharpe T, Beukelman T, Good J, Young D, Cron RQ. Risk factors for temporomandibular joint arthritis in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2012;39:1880–7.
- Arvidsson LZ, Smith HJ, Flato B, Larheim TA. Temporomandibular joint findings in adults with long-standing juvenile idiopathic arthritis: CT and MR imaging assessment. Radiology 2010;256:191–200.
- 12. Ronning O, Valiaho ML, Laaksonen AL. The involvement of the temporomandibular joint in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol 1974;3:89–96.
- Billiau AD, Hu Y, Verdonck A, Carels C, Wouters C. Temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: prevalence, clinical and radiological signs, and relation to dentofacial morphology. J Rheumatol 2007;34:1925–33.
 Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T, Gelineck J. Contrast
- Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T, Gelineck J. Contrast enhanced magnetic resonance imaging as a method to diagnose early inflammatory changes in the temporomandibular joint in children with juvenile chronic arthritis. J Rheumatol 1998;25:1406–12.
- Koos B, Twilt M, Kyank U, Fischer-Brandies H, Gassling V, Tzaribachev N. Reliability of clinical symptoms in diagnosing temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2014;41:1871–7.
- Von Kalle T, Winkler P, Stuber T. Contrast-enhanced MRI of normal temporomandibular joints in children: is there enhancement or not? Rheumatology (Oxford) 2013;52:363–7.
- 17. Kottke R, Saurenmann RK, Schneider MM, Muller L, Grotzer MA, Kellenberger CJ. Contrast-enhanced MRI of the temporomandibular joint: findings in children without juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Acta Radiol 2015;56:1145–52.
- Von Kalle T, Stuber T, Winkler P, Maier J, Hospach T. Early detection of temporomandibular joint arthritis in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the role of contrastenhanced MRI. Pediatr Radiol 2015;45:402–10.
- Ahmed N, Mustafa HM, Catrina AI, Alstergren P. Impact of temporomandibular joint pain in rheumatoid arthritis. Mediators Inflamm 2013;2013:597419.

- Engstrom AL, Wanman A, Johansson A, Keshishian P, Forsberg M. Juvenile arthritis and development of symptoms of temporomandibular disorders: a 15-year prospective cohort study. J Orofac Pain 2007;21:120–6.
- Barbosa TS, Leme MS, Castelo PM, Gaviao MB. Evaluating oral health-related quality of life measure for children and preadolescents with temporomandibular disorder. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2011;9:32.
- Leksell E, Ernberg M, Magnusson B, Hedenberg-Magnusson B. Orofacial pain and dysfunction in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a case-control study. Scand J Rheumatol 2012;41:375–8.
- 23. Ruperto N, Martini A. Networking in paediatrics: the example of the Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO). Arch Dis Child 2011;96:596–601.
- 24. Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Pistorio A, Malattia C, Cavuto S, Gado-West L, et al. Cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric evaluation of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) in 32 countries: review of the general methodology. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2001;19 Suppl 23:S1–9.
- 25. Ruperto N, Murray KJ, Gerloni V, Wulffraat N, de Oliveira SK, Falcini F, et al. A randomized trial of parenteral methotrexate comparing an intermediate dose with a higher dose in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis who failed to respond to standard doses of methotrexate. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50:2191–201.
- Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol 2004;31:390–2.
- 27. Moretti C, Viola S, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Ruperto N, Martini A, et al. Relative responsiveness of condition specific and generic health status measures in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64:257–61.
- Landgraf JM, Abetz L, Ware JE. The CHQ user's manual. Boston; New England Medical Center: 1996.
- Giannini EH, Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Lovell DJ, Felson DT, Martini A. Preliminary definition of improvement in juvenile arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1997;40:1202–9.
- 30. Consolaro A, Ruperto N, Bazso A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Filocamo G, et al. Development and validation of a composite disease activity score for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2009;61:658–66.
- 31. Consolaro A, Ruperto N, Pistorio A, Lattanzi B, Solari N, Galasso R, et al. Development and initial validation of composite parent- and child-centered disease assessment indices for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2011;63:1262–70.
- 32. Nordal EB, Zak M, Aalto K, Berntson L, Fasth A, Herlin T, et al. Validity and predictive ability of the juvenile arthritis disease activity score based on CRP versus ESR in a Nordic population-based setting. Ann Rheum Dis 2012;71:1122–7.
- Stabrun AE, Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM. Temporomandibular joint involvement in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: clinical diagnostic criteria. Scand J Rheumatol 1989;18:197–204.
- 34. Twilt M, Mobers SM, Arends LR, ten Cate R, van Suijlekom-Smit L. Temporomandibular involvement in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2004;31:1418–22.
- 35. Kirkhus E, Arvidsson LZ, Smith HJ, Flato B, Hetlevik SO, Larheim TA. Disk abnormality coexists with any degree of synovial and osseous abnormality in the temporomandibular joints of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Radiol 2016;46:331-41.
- Olson L, Eckerdal O, Hallonsten AL, Helkimo M, Koch G, Gare BA. Craniomandibular function in juvenile chronic arthritis: a clinical and radiographic study. Swed Dent J 1991;15:71–83.
- Ostile IL, Johansson I, Aasland A, Flato B, Moller A. Selfrated physical and psychosocial health in a cohort of young adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol 2010;39:318–25.
- Felce D, Perry J. Quality of life: its definition and measurement. Res Dev Disabil 1995;16:51–74.

- Svensson B, Adell R. Costochondral grafts to replace mandibular condyles in juvenile chronic arthritis patients: longterm effects on facial growth. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 1998; 26:275–85.
- Oye F, Bjornland T, Store G. Mandibular osteotomies in patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritic disease. Scand J Rheumatol 2003;32:168–73.
- Leksell E, Ernberg M, Magnusson B, Hedenberg-Magnusson B. Intraoral condition in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis compared to controls. Int J Paediatr Dent 2008;18:423–33.
- 42. Filocamo G, Consolaro A, Schiappapietra B, Dalpra S, Lattanzi B, Magni-Manzoni S, et al. A new approach to clinical care of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the Juvenile Arthritis Multidimensional Assessment Report. J Rheumatol 2011; 38:938–53.
- 43. Schiffman E, Ohrbach R, Truelove E, Look J, Anderson G, Goulet JP, et al. Diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders (DC/TMD) for clinical and research applications: recommendations of the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network and Orofacial Pain Special Interest Group. J Oral Facial Pain Headache 2014;28:6–27.

- Peck CC, Goulet JP, Lobbezoo F, Schiffman EL, Alstergren P, Anderson GC, et al. Expanding the taxonomy of the diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders. J Oral Rehabil 2014;41:2–23.
- 45. Foster HE, Jandial S. pGALS: paediatric gait arms legs and spine: a simple examination of the musculoskeletal system. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2013;11:44.
- Pedersen TK, Jensen JJ, Melsen B, Herlin T. Resorption of the temporomandibular condylar bone according to subtypes of juvenile chronic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2001;28:2109–15.
- 47. Pearson MH, Ronning O. Lesions of the mandibular condyle in juvenile chronic arthritis. Br J Orthod 1996;23:49–56.
- 48. Weiss PF, Arabshahi B, Johnson A, Bilaniuk LT, Zarnow D, Cahill AM, et al. High prevalence of temporomandibular joint arthritis at disease onset in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, as detected by magnetic resonance imaging but not by ultrasound. Arthritis Rheum 2008;58: 1189–96.
- 49. Abramowicz S, Cheon JE, Kim S, Bacic J, Lee EY. Magnetic resonance imaging of temporomandibular joints in children with arthritis. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2011;69:2321–8.

Paper II

Salivary oral microbiome of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A Norwegian cross-sectional study.

Frid P, Baraniya D, Halbig J, Rypdal V, Songstad N.T, Rosen A, Berstad J.R, Flatø B, Alakwaa F, Grut Gil E, Cetrelli L, Chen T, Al-Hebshi N.N, Nordal E, Al-Haroni M.

Submitted to BMC Arthritis Research and Therapy April 16th 2020.

Salivary oral microbiome of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A Norwegian cross-

sectional study

Paula Frid^{1,2,3}, Divyashri Baraniya⁴, Josefine Halbig^{2,5}, Veronika Rypdal^{3,6}, Nils Thomas Songstad⁶, Annika Rosen^{7,8}, Johanna Rykke Berstad⁹, Berit Flatø^{10,11}, Fadhl Alakwaa¹², Elisabeth Grut Gil⁷, Lena Cetrelli¹³, Tsute Chen¹⁴, Nezar Noor Al-Hebshi⁴*, Ellen Nordal^{3,6}, Mohammed Al-Haroni⁵*

1 Department of ENT, Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North Norway, Norway

2 Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway, Norway

3 Department of Clinical Medicine, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway

4 Oral Microbiome Laboratory, Kornberg School of Dentistry, Temple University, Philadelphia, USA

5 Department of Clinical Dentistry, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway

6 Department of Pediatrics and Adolescence Medicine, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø, Norway

7 Department of Clinical Dentistry, University of Bergen, Norway

8 Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway

9 Department of ENT, Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

10 University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

11 Department of Rheumatology, Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

12 Department of Computational Medicine and Bioinformatics, University Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

13 Center of Oral Health Services and Research (TkMidt), Trondheim, Norway

14 Department of Microbiology, The Forsyth Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA

* Corresponding authors:

- Mohammed Al-Haroni, Department of Clinical Dentistry, Faculty of Health Sciences, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway. E-mail: <u>Mohammed.Al-Haroni@uit.no</u>
- Nezar Noor Al-hebshi. Maurice H. Kornberg School of Dentistry, Temple University, Philadelphia, USA. Tel: +12157072091. E-mail address: <u>alhebshi@temple.edu</u>

±

ABSTRACT

Background: The oral microbiota has been connected to the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis through activation of mucosal immunity. The objective of this study was to characterize the salivary microbiome associated with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), and correlate it with the disease activity including gingival bleeding.

Methods: Fifty-nine subjects with JIA (mean age 12.6 ± 2.7 years) and 34 healthy controls (HC; mean age 12.3 ± 3.0 years) were consecutively recruited in this Norwegian cross-sectional study. Information about demographics, disease activity, medication history, gingival bleeding index (GBI), simplified oral hygiene index (OHI-S), and frequency of tooth brushing was obtained. Microbiome profiling of saliva samples was performed by sequencing of the V1-V3 region of the 16S rRNA gene, coupled with a species-level taxonomy assignment algorithm; QIIME, LEfSe and R- package were used for downstream analysis.

Results: There were no significant differences between JIA and HC in alpha- and beta-diversity. However, differential abundance analysis revealed several taxa to be associated with JIA: *TM7-G1*, *Solobacterium* and *Mogibacterium* at the genus level; and *Leptotrichia* oral taxon 417, *TM7-G1* oral taxon 352 and *Capnocytophaga* oral taxon 864 among others, at the species level. *Haemophilus* species, *Leptotrichia* oral taxon 223, *and Bacillus subtilis*, were associated with healthy controls. *Gemella morbillorum*, *Leptotrichia* sp. oral taxon 498 and *Alloprevotella* oral taxon 914 correlated positively with the composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score (JADAS10), while *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44 among others, correlated with the number of active joints. Of all microbial markers identified, only *Bacillus subtilis* and *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44 maintained false discovery rate (FDR) < 0.1.

Conclusions. Several taxa associated with chronic inflammation were found to be associated with JIA and disease activity. Our results suggest that oral microbial disruption may be involved in the chronic inflammatory burden in JIA, which warrants further investigation.

Keywords: Gingivitis; Juvenile idiopathic arthritis; Microbiome; Oral health; Next Generation Sequencing (NGS); 16S rRNA

INTRODUCTION

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most common chronic rheumatic disease in children, with an annual incidence of 1-2 per 1000 children (1, 2). The pathogenesis of JIA remains unknown, although environmental triggers of disease in genetically predisposed individuals have been suggested (3). Infectious agents are suspected to be environmental triggers for JIA and one of several possible mechanisms is molecular mimicry between bacterial molecules and self-antigens. It is well-known that host-microbe interaction is important for recognition and development of the immune system (4). The human microbiome includes the collective genomes of the microbiota, which is the term for all microbes in the body (3). A dysbiotic imbalance in the host microbiota might contribute as a potential trigger in the development of immune-mediated diseases, including JIA. The patterns of the JIA gut microbiome reportedly resemble the microbiome associated with other autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes, Crohn's disease and ankylosing spondylitis microbiota (5, 6). The gut microbiome in children with JIA is reported to differ from healthy individuals (7-14), where a lower abundance of Firmicutes and a higher abundance of Bacteroidetes were found in the gut microbiota of subjects with oligoarticular and polyarticular rheumatoid factor (RF) negative new-onset JIA (7). Furthermore, Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria have been seen only in subjects with JIA while Lentisphaerae is reported exclusively in healthy controls (7). Higher abundance of Bacteroides is also seen in enthesitis-related-arthritis (11). In all studies on the gut microbiome in JIA, however, no single species has been identified and different studies show changes in different taxa (7-14). These studies suggest that dysbiosis in the microbiome with overabundance in pathogenic microbes, may result in dysregulation of the immune system through disruption of the integrity of mucosal barrier and altered interaction with gut immune cells (15). Aberrations in mucosal homeostasis may be associated with the increased bacterial urease activity, reportedly found in fecal samples of JIA

subjects as compared to healthy controls. The increase of urease activity is hypothesized to be the result of alterations in the anaerobic bacterial flora (16). It is still an open question whether the observed microbial dysbiosis is a cause or an effect of the disease itself.

The oral microbiome has been proposed to play a role in rheumatoid arthritis by contributing to systemic inflammation (17), and may also play a similar role in JIA. Furthermore, dysbiosis and periodontitis has been found to be associated to increased severity of rheumatoid arthritis (18). Gingivitis or gingival bleeding, which is a reversible inflammation of the gingiva caused by dental biofilm accumulation is a prerequisite for progression to periodontitis (19). Gingival bleeding is found to be higher in subjects with JIA compared to healthy ones (20, 21). So far, there have been no attempts to characterize the salivary oral microbiome associated with JIA with the next generation sequencing method (NGS). *The aim of this study was therefore to investigate the oral microbiome in saliva of children with JIA and relate it to the disease activity including gingival bleeding.*

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and subject recruitment

The present cross-sectional study is a project within NorJIA, a larger Norwegian prospective multicenter cohort study on JIA registered in Clinical Trials.gov (NCT03904459). The clinical and demographic data was collected between November 2015 and December 2018 at the Department of Pediatrics and Adolescence Medicine, University Hospital North Norway (UNN), Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway (PCNN), Tromso, and Haukeland University Hospital Bergen, and Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo. Informed consent was collected from all study participants and the study was approved by the Institutional Medical Research Ethics Committee (2015/318). Ninety-three children in total were consecutively recruited; Fifty-nine participants with JIA: participants with JIA and newly diagnosed TMJ arthritis (n=15) at the departments above, participants with JIA without TMJ arthritis (n=44) at UNN, and healthy controls (HC; n=34) matched for age and gender at PCNN (Table 1). HC were recruited from the larger multicenter study NorJIA,

and consisted of children attending the regular Norwegian community dental care. The clinical characteristics of the two groups are presented in Table 1. Inclusion criteria for subjects with JIA were fulfillment of the JIA classification criteria defined by the International League of Associations for Rheumatology (ILAR) (22), and age at the study visit <18 years, with or without arthritis activity in one or both TMJs. Subjects on antibiotics prior to sampling were excluded.

Demographics and assessment of JIA disease activity

Patient demographics, subtype of JIA, duration and onset of JIA, medication, general clinical examination, measures of disease activity and severity were collected by pediatric rheumatologists. Number of active joints was defined according to the general definition of arthritis: swelling within a joint or limitation in the range of joint movement with joint pain or tenderness (23), while TMJ arthritis was based on both clinical signs and symptoms, and MRI imaging. Patient-reported global assessment of overall well-being (PRgloVAS) and patient-reported pain (PRpainVAS) within the last week on a 10-cm visual analogue scale (VAS) were collected. On this scale, 0 indicates no activity/no pain/best global health, and 10 indicate the maximum activity/worst pain/poorest global health, respectively. A routine complete blood cell count, including rheumatoid factor (RF) and human leukocyte antigen B27 (HLA-B27) was registered. The composite juvenile arthritis disease activity score (JADAS10, range from 0 to 40) was calculated as the simple sum of the physician global evaluation of overall disease activity on a 10-cm visual analogue scale (VAS), (MDgloVAS, range 0-10), patient-reported global assessment of well-being (PRgloVAS, range 0–10), active joint count (up to maximum 10 joints), and the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (normalized to 0–10) (24, 25). Inactive disease was defined according to the ACR provisional criteria (26) requiring all the following: 1) no active joints; 2) no fever, rash, serositis, splenomegaly or generalized lymphadenopathy attributable to JIA; 3) no active uveitis; 4) normal ESR or C-reactive protein (CRP); 5) MDgloVAS =0; and 6) duration of morning stiffness of ≤ 15 minutes (26).

Intraoral examination and collection of saliva.

A modified version of the Gingival bleeding index (GBI) (27) and a modified version of the Simplified Oral Hygiene Index (OHI-S) (28) were used (Table 1). For GBI, a dental probe was carefully applied without any pain, in the upper part of the gingival sulcus, and then removed without doing a horizontal movement along the tooth surface. Bleeding on probing within 10 seconds was registered. Angulation of the dental probe of 60 degrees to the vertical axis of the tooth was applied if possible. The mesial, distal and central surface of the index teeth 16, 26, 36, 46, 11 and 31 were chosen. The number of bleeding tooth surfaces were divided to the total number of tooth surfaces examined and finally presented as the mean percentage (%), range 0-100% where a higher percentage represents a worse score in bleeding. Gingival bleeding was diagnosed according to a gingival bleeding score $\geq 10\%$ (29).

OHI-S is a sum score of plaque-index and dental calculus index and is presented as a mean score index, where a higher index represents a worse score in OHI-S. Plaque-index and dental calculus index is the buccal scores + the lingual scores divided by the total number of examined buccal and lingual surfaces. OHI-S was not calculated in children with orthodontic appliances and subgingival status was not evaluated. All children \geq 12 years filled out an oral health related questionnaire and the parents/proxies filled out for children <12 years. One of the questions were; How often do you brush your teeth: 1, never 2, most days 3, once daily 4, twice daily or more.

Two calibrated specialists in oral and maxillofacial surgery and pediatric dentistry (PF, JH) collected before oral examination, unstimulated whole saliva (UWS) for 6 minutes and paraffin chewing stimulated whole saliva (SWS) for 3 minutes, according to a standardized protocol (i.e. restrictions to food and drinks 2 hours prior to sampling). Furthermore, medications taken the same day or the day before sampling was recorded. Only SWS were used for microbial analyses. Immediately after collection, each saliva sample was aliquoted and placed in a -80° C freezer until further analyses.

DNA extraction

Seven-hundred and fifty microliters from each SWS sample was mixed with an equal amount of phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and spun down at 9600 *g* for 5 minutes, before the supernatant was carefully removed. The pellet was resuspended in 155 mL PBS and 25 mL MetaPolyzyme multilytic enzyme mix (Zigma-Aldrich, USA) and incubated on a 37° C heat block for 4 hours, for digestion of the bacterial cell wall. The digests were then transferred to a QIAcube (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) for DNA extraction using preprogramed protocol using the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) with 100 μ L elution volume. The quality of the isolated DNA (high molecular weight and non-fragmented DNA) was assessed by running extracted DNA samples on agarose gel (1%) with 1kb ladder (Termo Fisher Scientific, Invirtogen, USA). The amount of yield DNA was then measured using Invitrogen Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer (Termo Fisher Scientific, Invirtogen, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

16S rRNA sequencing and bioinformatic analysis

16S rRNA gene library preparation and sequencing were done at the Australian Center for Ecogenomics (Brisbane, Australia) as detailed previously (30). Briefly, the V1-3 region was amplified using the degenerate primers 27FYM (31) and 519R (32) in standard PCR conditions. The amplicons (~ 520 bp) were purified and indexed with unique 8-base barcodes in a second PCR. The tagged libraries were then pooled together in equimolar concentrations and sequenced using MiSeq v3 2x300 bp chemistry (Illumina, USA). Preprocessing of data (merging of reads, primer trimming, quality-filtration, alignment and chimera removal) was performed as detailed elsewhere (33). The high quality, merged reads were assigned species-level taxonomies using our BLASTn-based algorithm (33, 34). The resultant microbial profiles were used as input to QIIME (Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology) software package version 1.9.1 (35) for downstream analysis including subsampling, generation of taxonomy plots/tables and rarefaction curves, and calculation of species richness, coverage, alpha diversity indices and beta diversity distance matrices. Principal component analysis

(PCoA) was used for clustering samples based on overall microbial similarity, while Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe) (36) was used to detect differentially abundant taxa between the groups. To assess the association between the bacterial profiles and disease activity (JADAS10 and number of active joints) a Spearman correlation matrix was computed with R package. Correlations with P-value ≤ 0.01 were considered significant.

Statistical and bioinformatic analyses

For description of clinical and demographic data, median (IQR), mean (standard deviation) and frequencies (percentage) were used. Associations between study participants with JIA and HC and different disease characteristics were analyzed by chi-square test for categorical variables (Fisher's exact test) and Student's t-test for continuous variables if reasonably normally distributed, otherwise Man-Whitney U test was used. A multivariable logistic regression analysis was performed to adjust for OHI-S, age and gender in the association between JIA and GBI. A *P*-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant for clinical parameters. For testing correlation between species and measures of disease activity (JADAS10, number of active joints), p-values were adjusted for multiplicity with Benjamini-Hockberg method (FDR ≤ 0.1).

RESULTS

Demographic and disease activity parameters

Demographics and disease activity parameters for the group with JIA, and HC are given in **Table 1**. There was a female predominance in both groups, and RF negative polyarthritis was the most common category among children with JIA (25%). The simplified oral hygiene index (OHI-S) was significantly higher among children with JIA with median 0.5 (IQR 0.3-0.7) compared to median 0.3 (IQR 0.0-0.4) in HC. Also, the plack-index (PI) was higher in JIA (Table 1). There was also significantly higher modified gingival bleeding index (GBI) in the group with JIA with median 22 (IQR 6-40) % compared to HC with median 6.0 (IQR 0-11) % but no association was found between
JIA and GBI when adjusting for OHI-S (**Supplementary Table 1**). Within the JIA group no significant differences in GBI were found between subjects without DMARDs, on methotrexate or on biologics, with GBI median 10 (IQR 10-30) %, median 20 (IQR 10-40) %, and median 30 (IQR 20-40) %, respectively. There was no difference in frequency of tooth brushing between participants with JIA and HC, in JIA 37 of 47 (79%) and in HC 23 of 32 (72%) brushed their teeth twice or more daily. Restrictions to food and drinks 2 hours prior to saliva sampling were reported in 41 of 93 study participants (44%). In 10 of 93 (11%) no restrictions were reported and in 42 of 93 (45%) information on restrictions were not available. Among the 93 participants 16 reported intake of no-DMARD medications, 3 methotrexate, and 6 biologics the same day or the day before saliva sampling.

Sequencing and data processing statistics

The raw data has been deposited and is publicly available from SRA (# PRJNA605805). A total of ~8.2 million sequences were obtained (range of 30,113-526,987 reads per sample), of which about 85% were successfully merged; however, only 35% were retained after quality filters and 20% after chimera removal. Of the high-quality, non-chimeric reads, 88% could be assigned species-level taxonomy (mean of $15,360 \pm 18368$ reads per sample). Details of the reads statistics before and after each quality control step are provided in **Supplementary dataset 1**.

Overall microbial profile

Using a minimum count of 100 reads per species as cutoff, a total of 216 bacterial species belonging to 58 genera and 8 phyla were identified across all samples; the relative abundances and detection frequencies of these taxa in each sample is provided in **Supplementary dataset 2**, **3** and **4** respectively. On average, 134 species (range 90-186) and 45 genera (range 32-58) were detected per subject. Fifty-seven species and 29 genera were identified in more than 90% of the samples and can be defined as core salivary taxa. The average relative abundances of all phyla, top genera and species (those present at an average abundance of \geq 1% in the control group) in each of the study groups are shown in **Figure 1**. Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Fusobacteria were the major phyla in order accounting for more than 98% of the reads. Thirteen genera accounted for 90% of the average microbiome, with *Prevotella*, *Streptococcus*, *Haemophilus*, *Actinomyces*, *Porphyromonas* and *Rothia* alone making up ~ 70%. At the species level, *Prevotella melaninogenica*, *Haemophilus parainfluenzae*, *Rothia mucilaginosa*, *Porphyromonas sp. oral taxon 279*, *Prevotella histicola*, *Actinomyces odontolyticus* were the most abundant species, constituting around 40% of the microbiome on average.

Bacterial diversity and differentially abundant species

There were no significant differences between children with JIA and the healthy group neither in species richness and alpha diversity, or in PCoA (beta diversity) as shown in **Figure 2**. However, differential abundance analysis did reveal significant differences (**Figure 3**). At the phylum level JIA was associated with enrichment of Spirochaetes and Saccharibacteria and depletion of Proteobacteria. Genera *TM7-G1*, *Solobacterium* and *Mogibacterium* were associated with JIA, while *Haemophilus* and *Bacillus* were associated with healthy subjects (**Figure 3B**). *Haemophilus parainfluenzae*, *Leptotrichia species oral taxon 223*, *Haemophilus pittmanae*, *Prevotella denticola* and *Bacillus* subtilis were key bacterial species associated with the healthy group, whereas the JIA group showed higher abundance of 11 bacterial species of which *Leptotrichia species oral taxon 417*, *TM7 G1*, *Capnocytophaga species oral taxon 864*, *Veilonella atypica* and *Mogibacterium diversum* were most enriched (**Figure 3C**).

The relative abundances of the top six differentially abundant taxa (based on LDA score) are shown for individual samples in **Figure 4.** These microbial associations between the JIA and the healthy group were independent of the differences between the two groups in GBI. The microbial associations with the GBI are shown in **Supplementary Figure 1**. Notably, after adjustment of p-values for multiple comparisons with Benjamini-Hochberg method only genus *Bacillus* and *B*.

subtilis maintained a false discovery rate (FDR) of ≤ 0.1 and the per-sample relative abundance plot for *B. subtilis* is shown in **Supplementary Figure 2.**

Microbial association with disease activity

Correlation analysis revealed significant association between a group of bacteria species and disease activity (**Figure 5**). *Gemella morbillorum, Leptotrichia* sp. oral taxon 498 and *Alloprevotella* oral taxon 914 correlated positively with the JADAS10, primarily through their association with MDgloVAS. *G. morbillorum* also correlated with PRgloVAS. Several species correlated positively with the number of active joints but *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44 showed the strongest association and was the only species that maintained FDR ≤ 0.1 when *P*-values were adjusted for multiplicity with the Benjamini-Hockberg method.

JIA subjects with TMJ arthritis showed a different microbial association compared to JIA subjects without TMJ arthritis (**Figure 6**). *Haemophilus parainfluenzae, Prevotella pallens, actinomyces species oral taxon 180* were the top species differentially enriched in JIA with TMJ subjects. *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44 also showed an association with TMJ arthritis (**Supplementary Figure 3**), although opposed to its association with the number of active joints, it did not maintain FDR \leq 0.1. *Rothia mucilaginosa, Atopobium parvulum* and *Oribacterium sinus* were significantly more abundant in children with JIA without TMJ arthritis.

DISCUSSION

This study is to our knowledge, the first to examine the salivary oral microbiome in subjects with JIA and healthy controls using the NGS method. We found no significant differences between children with JIA and HC in species richness or in PCoA, i.e. alpha or beta diversity. Differential abundance analysis, however, revealed that JIA was significantly associated with taxa associated with chronic inflammation, and that several of these species including *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44 correlated with disease activity in terms of increased number of active joints.

A strength of the study is that a majority of the children with JIA were females diagnosed with either oligoarthritis persistent or RF negative polyarthritis in accordance with most population-based studies, pointing to representability of our study cases. The oral environment is a complex environment that contains distinct microbial niches each with its distinct microbial inhabitant. One can argue that salivary microbiome represents oral microbiome but a limitation is that we did not sample multiple oral sites to study the full spectrum of the oral microbiome. In contrast to our study Grevich et al performed sampling from the dental plack when studying the oral microbiome in JIA (37). Additionally, our findings must be evaluated in the context of a limited sample size and being a cross-sectional study. In our study, saliva samples for collecting oral microbiota were directly frozen and aliquoted before further processing. However, other collection methods for sampling of oral microbiota, such as mouthwash sampling methods are available (38) and appear to be stable concerning bacterial diversity at ambient temperature after 4-7 days, thus making immediately freezing of microbial DNA not necessary. Some distinct differences in relative abundance of specific microbial taxa are seen between these methods compared to samples that are frozen immediately (38), thus indicating that directly freezing of samples is still the best choice. Other strengths with this study are the food and drinks restrictions prior to sampling taken in 41 of 93 children, and that a majority of the participants had no intake of systemic medication the same day or the day before saliva sampling. In our study between 90 and 186 different species were found in the salivary microbiome of the study subjects with fifty-seven species shared in more than 90% of the subjects. The core salivary microbiome in the study subjects comprised 22 species detected in all individuals. In other studies the core microbiome was found to be similar or even in a lower number (39, 40). The predominant bacterial genera found in the salivary microbiome in both JIA and healthy saliva in our study consisted of Prevotella, Streptococcus, Haemophilus, Actinomyces, Porphyromonas and Rothia, which is similar to other studies in both children with JIA and healthy (41). The microbial diversity and richness of the salivary oral microbiome between the JIA and healthy controls were comparable. This is in line with other studies that investigated the oral microbial diversity between

subjects with chronic inflammatory diseases, i.e. rheumatoid arthritis, and healthy controls (42, 43). Differential abundance analysis revealed several taxa to be associated with or depleted in JIA. At phylum level, we found an overabundance of Spirochaetes and Saccharibacteria and depletion of Proteobacteria. This is in line with Xu et al. showing Proteobacteria (*Neisseria*) and Firmicutes (*Selenomonas*) as a healthy core salivary microbiome, together with the phyla Bacteroidetes (*Porphyromonas*). They also showed that the salivary microbial composition shifts with aging in children, and a strength of our study is age-matching between children with JIA and healthy controls (44).

At the genus level, Haemophilus, Bacillius and Olsenella were depleted from the subjects with JIA while there were significant overabundance of bacteria known to be associated with chronic inflammation, such as TM7-G1, Solobacterium and Mogibacterium (45-47). The higher abundance of Haemophilus parainfluenzae, Leptotrichia species oral taxon 223, Haemophilus pittmanae, Prevotella denticola and Bacillus subtilis in the healthy group in our study could highlight the importance for health of sustaining a high proportion of these species in the oral microbiome. In fact, Bacillus subtilis species has been reported to have a role in limiting inflammatory response by downregulation of the pro-inflammatory interleukin-8 production and up regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) protein levels (48). The depletion of Haemophilus species in salivary microbiome has also been reported in subjects with rheumatoid arthritis (49). On the other hand Leptotrichia species oral taxon 417, TM7 G1, Capnocytophaga species oral taxon 864, Veilonella atypica and Mogibacterium diversum were found to be highly abundant in children with JIA. The oral taxon TM7 has been associated with chronic inflammation (50). In line with our study, Grevich et al found depletion of genera Prevotella (phylum Bacteroidetes) in JIA, but they report an overabundance of the genera Haemophilus and Kingella (phylum proteobacteria) in JIA, which was not found in our study (37).

The role of oral and gut microbiota in many inflammatory diseases has been suggested, and there is evidence for the role of molecular mimicry in such diseases. It has for example, been reported that a molecular mimicry between a peptide from the von Willebrand factor type A from the oral microbe *Capnocytophaga ochracea* can be attributed to the activation of the Sjögrens syndrome antigen A/Ro60-Reactive T cells (51).

Interestingly, in our study *Campylobacter* oral taxon 44 showed a strong correlation with the number of joints affected in subjects with JIA. *Campylobacter* has a well-known association with reactive arthritis and other inflammatory diseases in both children and adults (52). Dong et al. found in the gut microbiota in 32 patients with JIA a positive correlation between disease activity and increased abundance of *Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes* and *Bacteroidaceae* at the phyla level (14). The same authors found a negative correlation between disease activity and decreased abundance of *Ruminococcaceae*, *Faecalibacterium*, *Proteobacteria* or *Enterobacteriaceae* (14).

The species found in our study on the salivary oral microbiome in JIA are not found in studies on the gut microbiome in JIA (7-14). However, disruption of microbial ecology was found and this dysbiosis may have community effects on the host more powerful than the actions of just one single microbe (53). This is in line with Dijkhuizen et al. reporting dysbiosis in subjects with JIA in gut microbiota compared to healthy controls. They also found that age and geographic origin were connected to microbiota profiles (13). In rheumatoid arthritis both oral and gut dysbiosis are well described and no consistent single bacterial species appears to be the causing agent (54), even if periodonto-pathogenic bacteria such as *Porphyromonas gingivalis* have been suggested to contribute to generation of anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPAs) in rheumatoid arthritis (55-57). In addition, dysbiosis and periodontitis were found to be associated to increased severity of rheumatoid arthritis (18). Other factors reported to be associated with dysbiosis are diet, lifestyle and drug use, especially the use of antibiotics (58, 59). Early life antibiotic use is shown to increase the risk of developing JIA later in life, and may predispose due to a shift in microbiota composition (59, 60). In our study none of the participants were on any antibiotics prior to sampling, but previous history of antibiotic use were not recorded.

The significantly higher gingival inflammation found in patients with JIA compared to healthy controls is in line with other studies investigating JIA and oral health (20, 21, 37, 61, 62) but also in contrast with some studies finding no significant difference between JIA and healthy (63-69), depending on different study design and measurement of gingival inflammation (70). Despite higher GBI, no difference in frequency of tooth brushing was found between JIA and healthy controls in our study. After adjusting for dental plack and calculus (OHI-S), JIA was not found to be a predictor for gingival inflammation in terms of higher GBI. In line with other studies (65) we found OHI-S to be a predictor for gingival inflammation. There were no overlap between overabundant bacteria associated with GBI and those associated with JIA. This may be explained by the disruption of microbial taxa in JIA and not by specific bacteria, resulting in more gingival inflammation in JIA. Furthermore, we did not sample for microbiota in dental plack but in saliva.

There are some indications that the biologic agent etanercept might reduce periodontal inflammation in children with JIA (68). In our study 40% of the subjects with JIA were on biologic treatment either alone or in combination with methotrexate, but no significant differences were seen in GBI between the different medication groups. Instead, children with JIA had more gingival bleeding compared to healthy, despite immune-modulating medication.

CONCLUSION

Taxa associated with chronic inflammation was found to be enriched in the saliva of children with JIA and associated to disease activity. This disrupted microbial ecology may have triggered a local pathological immune response resulting in increased gingival bleeding in JIA. Prospective cohort-studies with treatment-naïve patients with new onset JIA are warranted to further elucidate the role of the oral microbiome in disease etiology and severity.

ETHICS APPROVAL AND CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE

Ethical approval was obtained by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics (REK Nord; approval no. 2015/318). Study participant gave their consent to participate in the study. **CONSENT FOR PUBLICATION**

Not applicable

COMPETING INTERESTS

Nothing to declare

FUNDING

The current study is supported in part by the Northern Norway Regional Health Authority (Helse Nord), Grethe Harbitz funds, Research funding from Troms County, Norsk Revmatikerforbund, and by UiT internal funding.

Authors' contributions

P.F, E.N and M.Al-H design the study. P.F, J.H, V.R, N. T. S, A.R, J. R. B, B. Fl, E.G.G, and L. C collected the clinical data and saliva samples. D. B, N.N. Al-H, F. A, and T. C did the the sequencing analysis. P.F, E.N, N.N.Al-H and M.Al-H wrote the manuscript. All Authors critically reviewed the manuscript. The corresponding authors attests that all listed authors meet authorship criteria and that no others meeting the criteria have been omitted.

Acknowledgements

Grethe Harbitz funds, Research funding from Troms County, Norsk Revmatikerforbund, and Helse

Nord Research funding. The publication charges for this article have been funded by a grant from the

publication fund of UiT The Arctic University of Norway.

Disclaimer

The authors declare that they have no competing interests

REFERENCES

1. Berntson L, Andersson Gare B, Fasth A, Herlin T, Kristinsson J, Lahdenne P, et al. Incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the Nordic countries. A population based study with special reference to the validity of the ILAR and EULAR criteria. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(10):2275-82.

2. Moe N, Rygg M. Epidemiology of juvenile chronic arthritis in northern Norway: a ten-year retrospective study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 1998;16(1):99-101.

3. Cho I, Blaser MJ. The human microbiome: at the interface of health and disease. Nat Rev Genet. 2012;13(4):260-70.

4. Rossi O, van Baarlen P, Wells JM. Host-recognition of pathogens and commensals in the mammalian intestine. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2013;358:291-321.

5. Giongo A, Gano KA, Crabb DB, Mukherjee N, Novelo LL, Casella G, et al. Toward defining the autoimmune microbiome for type 1 diabetes. ISME J. 2011;5(1):82-91.

6. Costello ME, Ciccia F, Willner D, Warrington N, Robinson PC, Gardiner B, et al. Brief Report: Intestinal Dysbiosis in Ankylosing Spondylitis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67(3):686-91.

7. Tejesvi MV, Arvonen M, Kangas SM, Keskitalo PL, Pirttila AM, Karttunen TJ, et al. Faecal microbiome in new-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016;35(3):363-70.

8. Stoll ML, Kumar R, Morrow CD, Lefkowitz EJ, Cui X, Genin A, et al. Altered microbiota associated with abnormal humoral immune responses to commensal organisms in enthesitis-related arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2014;16(6):486.

9. Stoll ML, Kumar R, Lefkowitz EJ, Cron RQ, Morrow CD, Barnes S. Fecal metabolomics in pediatric spondyloarthritis implicate decreased metabolic diversity and altered tryptophan metabolism as pathogenic factors. Genes Immun. 2016;17(7):400-5.

Di Paola M, Cavalieri D, Albanese D, Sordo M, Pindo M, Donati C, et al. Alteration of Fecal
 Microbiota Profiles in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Associations with HLA-B27 Allele and Disease
 Status. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1703.

Status. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1705.
 11. Aggarwal A, Sarangi AN, Gaur P, Shukla A, Aggarwal R. Gut microbiome in children with
 enthesitis-related arthritis in a developing country and the effect of probiotic administration. Clin
 Exp Immunol. 2017;187(3):480-9.

Stoll ML, Weiss PF, Weiss JE, Nigrovic PA, Edelheit BS, Bridges SL, Jr., et al. Age and
 fecal microbial strain-specific differences in patients with spondyloarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther.
 2018;20(1):14.

40
 41
 41
 42
 43
 43
 44
 44
 45
 45
 46
 47
 48
 49
 49
 40
 41
 42
 43
 43
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 48
 49
 49
 40
 41
 42
 43
 43
 43
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 47
 48
 49
 49
 49
 40
 41
 41
 41
 42
 43
 43
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 47
 48
 48
 49
 49
 49
 49
 49
 40
 41
 41
 42
 43
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 47
 48
 49
 49
 49
 49
 49
 40
 41
 41
 42
 43
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 48
 49
 49
 49
 49
 49
 40
 41
 41
 42
 43
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 47
 48
 49
 49
 49
 49
 40
 41
 41
 41
 42
 43
 44
 44
 44
 44
 44
 45
 46
 47
 4

14. Dong YQ, Wang W, Li J, Ma MS, Zhong LQ, Wei QJ, et al. Characterization of microbiota
 in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with different disease severities. World J Clin Cases.
 2019;7(18):2734-45.

⁴⁷
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁰
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴³
 ⁴³
 ⁴⁴
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁶
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁰
 ⁴⁰
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴²
 ⁴³
 ⁴⁴
 ⁴⁵
 <li

Malin M, Verronen P, Mykkanen H, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Increased bacterial urease
 activity in faeces in juvenile chronic arthritis: evidence of altered intestinal microflora? Br J
 Rheumatol. 1996;35(7):689-94.

Lorenzo D, GianVincenzo Z, Carlo Luca R, Karan G, Jorge V, Roberto M, et al. Oral-Gut
 Microbiota and Arthritis: Is There an Evidence-Based Axis? J Clin Med. 2019;8(10).

Scher JU, Bretz WA, Abramson SB. Periodontal disease and subgingival microbiota as
 contributors for rheumatoid arthritis pathogenesis: modifiable risk factors? Curr Opin Rheumatol.
 2014;26(4):424-9.

- 19. Murakami S, Mealey BL, Mariotti A, Chapple ILC. Dental plaque-induced gingival

conditions. J Periodontol. 2018;89 Suppl 1:S17-S27. 1 Ahmed N, Bloch-Zupan A, Murray KJ, Calvert M, Roberts GJ, Lucas VS. Oral health of 20. 2 children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(8):1639-43. 3 Welbury RR, Thomason JM, Fitzgerald JL, Steen IN, Marshall NJ, Foster HE. Increased 21. 4 prevalence of dental caries and poor oral hygiene in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology 5 (Oxford, England). 2003;42(12):1445-51. б 7 22. Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International 8 League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second 9 revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(2):390-2. 10 23. Filocamo G, Consolaro A, Schiappapietra B, Dalpra S, Lattanzi B, Magni-Manzoni S, et al. 11 12 A new approach to clinical care of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the Juvenile Arthritis 13 Multidimensional Assessment Report. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(5):938-53. 14 Consolaro A, Ruperto N, Bazso A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Filocamo G, et al. 24. 15 Development and validation of a composite disease activity score for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. 16 Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(5):658-66. 17 18 Consolaro A, Ruperto N, Pistorio A, Lattanzi B, Solari N, Galasso R, et al. Development and 25. 19 initial validation of composite parent- and child-centered disease assessment indices for juvenile 20 idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(9):1262-70. 21 Wallace CA, Giannini EH, Huang B, Itert L, Ruperto N, Childhood Arthritis Rheumatology 26. 22 Research A, et al. American College of Rheumatology provisional criteria for defining clinical 23 24 inactive disease in select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 25 2011;63(7):929-36. 26 27. Ainamo J, Bay I. Problems and proposals for recording gingivitis and plaque. Int Dent J. 27 1975;25(4):229-35. 28 29 Greene JC, Vermillion JR. The Simplified Oral Hygiene Index. Journal of the American 28. 30 Dental Association (1939). 1964;68:7-13. 31 Trombelli L, Farina R, Silva CO, Tatakis DN. Plaque-induced gingivitis: Case definition and 29. 32 diagnostic considerations. J Periodontol. 2018;89 Suppl 1:S46-S73. 33 Al-Hebshi NN, Alharbi FA, Mahri M, Chen T. Differences in the bacteriome of smokeless 34 30. 35 tobacco products with different oral carcinogenicity: compositional and predicted functional 36 analysis. Genes. 2017:in press. 37 Frank JA, Reich CI, Sharma S, Weisbaum JS, Wilson BA, Olsen GJ. Critical evaluation of 31. 38 two primers commonly used for amplification of bacterial 16S rRNA genes. Appl Environ 39 40 Microbiol. 2008;74(8):2461-70. 41 Lane DJ, Pace B, Olsen GJ, Stahl DA, Sogin ML, Pace NR. Rapid determination of 16S 32. 42 ribosomal RNA sequences for phylogenetic analyses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1985;82(20):6955-43 9. 44 33. Al-Hebshi NN, Nasher AT, Maryoud MY, Homeida HE, Chen T, Idris AM, et al. 45 46 Inflammatory bacteriome featuring Fusobacterium nucleatum and Pseudomonas aeruginosa 47 identified in association with oral squamous cell carcinoma. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):1834. 48 Al-Hebshi NN, Nasher AT, Idris AM, Chen T. Robust species taxonomy assignment 34. 49 algorithm for 16S rRNA NGS reads: application to oral carcinoma samples. J Oral Microbiol. 50 51 2015;7:28934. 52 Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, et al. 35. 53 QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nature methods. 54 2010;7(5):335-6. 55 Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, Gevers D, Miropolsky L, Garrett WS, et al. Metagenomic 36. 56 57 biomarker discovery and explanation. Genome Biol. 2011;12(6). 58 Grevich S, Lee P, Leroux B, Ringold S, Darveau R, Henstorf G, et al. Oral health and plaque 37. 59 microbial profile in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 60 61 62 63 18 64 65

2019;17(1):81.

1

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

34

35

36

38. Vogtmann E, Chen J, Kibriya MG, Amir A, Shi J, Chen Y, et al. Comparison of Oral
Collection Methods for Studies of Microbiota. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2019;28(1):137-43.

39. Hall MW, Singh N, Ng KF, Lam DK, Goldberg MB, Tenenbaum HC, et al. Inter-personal diversity and temporal dynamics of dental, tongue, and salivary microbiota in the healthy oral cavity. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes. 2017;3:2.

40. Hansen TH, Kern T, Bak EG, Kashani A, Allin KH, Nielsen T, et al. Impact of a vegan diet on the human salivary microbiota. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):5847.

41. De Filippo C, Di Paola M, Giani T, Tirelli F, Cimaz R. Gut microbiota in children and altered profiles in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Autoimmun. 2019;98:1-12.

42. Scher JU, Ubeda C, Equinda M, Khanin R, Buischi Y, Viale A, et al. Periodontal disease and the oral microbiota in new-onset rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(10):3083-94.

43. Tong Y, Zheng L, Qing P, Zhao H, Li Y, Su L, et al. Oral Microbiota Perturbations Are Linked to High Risk for Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2019;9:475.

44. Xu Y, Jia YH, Chen L, Huang WM, Yang DQ. Metagenomic analysis of oral microbiome in
 young children aged 6-8 years living in a rural isolated Chinese province. Oral Dis.
 2018;24(6):1115-25.

2018;24(0):1115-25.
45. Moore WE, Holdeman LV, Cato EP, Smibert RM, Burmeister JA, Palcanis KG, et al.
Comparative bacteriology of juvenile periodontitis. Infect Immun. 1985;48(2):507-19.

46. Casarin RC, Saito D, Santos VR, Pimentel SP, Duarte PM, Casati MZ, et al. Detection of
 Mogibacterium timidum in subgingival biofilm of aggressive and non-diabetic and diabetic chronic
 periodontitis patients. Braz J Microbiol. 2012;43(3):931-7.

47. Hiranmayi KV, Sirisha K, Ramoji Rao MV, Sudhakar P. Novel Pathogens in Periodontal
 Microbiology. J Pharm Bioallied Sci. 2017;9(3):155-63.

48. Rhayat L, Maresca M, Nicoletti C, Perrier J, Brinch KS, Christian S, et al. Effect of Bacillus
 subtilis Strains on Intestinal Barrier Function and Inflammatory Response. Front Immunol.
 2019;10:564.

49. Zhang X, Zhang D, Jia H, Feng Q, Wang D, Liang D, et al. The oral and gut microbiomes are perturbed in rheumatoid arthritis and partly normalized after treatment. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):895-905.

³⁷ 50.
 ³⁸ 50.
 ³⁹ 50.
 ³⁹ Demmer RT, Breskin A, Rosenbaum M, Zuk A, LeDuc C, Leibel R, et al. The subgingival
 ⁴⁰ microbiome, systemic inflammation and insulin resistance: The Oral Infections, Glucose Intolerance
 ⁴⁰ and Insulin Resistance Study. J Clin Periodontol. 2017;44(3):255-65.

51. Szymula A, Rosenthal J, Szczerba BM, Bagavant H, Fu SM, Deshmukh US. T cell epitope mimicry between Sjogren's syndrome Antigen A (SSA)/Ro60 and oral, gut, skin and vaginal bacteria. Clin Immunol. 2014;152(1-2):1-9.

45 52. Lackner J, Weiss M, Muller-Graf C, Greiner M. The disease burden associated with
 46 Campylobacter spp. in Germany, 2014. PLoS One. 2019;14(5):e0216867.

⁴⁷
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁰
 ⁴¹
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁰
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴³
 ⁴³
 ⁴⁴
 ⁴⁴
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁵
 ⁴⁶
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁷
 ⁴⁸
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁹
 ⁴⁰
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴¹
 ⁴²
 ⁴⁵
 <li

50 54. Bergot AS, Giri R, Thomas R. The microbiome and rheumatoid arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin 51 Rheumatol. 2020:101497.

 52
 55. Moen K, Brun JG, Valen M, Skartveit L, Eribe EK, Olsen I, et al. Synovial inflammation in active rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis facilitates trapping of a variety of oral bacterial DNAs. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2006;24(6):656-63.

56. Wegner N, Lundberg K, Kinloch A, Fisher B, Malmstrom V, Feldmann M, et al.
 Autoimmunity to specific citrullinated proteins gives the first clues to the etiology of rheumatoid arthritis. Immunol Rev. 2010;233(1):34-54.

19

59 57. Wegner N, Wait R, Sroka A, Eick S, Nguyen KA, Lundberg K, et al. Peptidylarginine

- 61 62 63
- 64 65

- deiminase from Porphyromonas gingivalis citrullinates human fibrinogen and alpha-enolase: implications for autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(9):2662-72.
- 58. Turnbaugh PJ, Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Knight R, Gordon JI. The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice. Sci Transl Med. 2009;1(6):6ra14.
- 59. Arvonen M, Virta LJ, Pokka T, Kroger L, Vahasalo P. Repeated exposure to antibiotics in infancy: a predisposing factor for juvenile idiopathic arthritis or a sign of this group's greater susceptibility to infections? J Rheumatol. 2015;42(3):521-6.
- 60. Horton DB, Scott FI, Haynes K, Putt ME, Rose CD, Lewis JD, et al. Antibiotic Exposure and Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: A Case-Control Study. Pediatrics. 2015;136(2):e333-43.
- 61. Leksell E, Ernberg M, Magnusson B, Hedenberg-Magnusson B. Intraoral condition in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis compared to controls. International journal of paediatric dentistry / the British Paedodontic Society [and] the International Association of Dentistry for Children. 2008;18(6):423-33.
- 62. Santos D, Silva C, Silva M. Oral health and quality of life of children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis according to their caregivers' perceptions. Spec Care Dentist. 2015;35(6):272-8.
- 63. Miranda LA, Fischer RG, Sztajnbok FR, Figueredo CM, Gustafsson A. Periodontal
 conditions in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Clin Periodontol. 2003;30(11):969-74.
 64. Savioli C, Silva CA, Ching LH, Campos LM, Prado EF, Siqueira JT. Dental and facial
 characteristics of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo.
 2004;59(3):93-8.
- 65. Reichert S, Machulla HK, Fuchs C, John V, Schaller HG, Stein J. Is there a relationship between juvenile idiopathic arthritis and periodontitis? J Clin Periodontol. 2006;33(5):317-23.
- 66. Feres de Melo AR, Ferreira de Souza A, de Oliveira Perestrelo B, Leite MF. Clinical oral and salivary parameters of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2014;117(1):75-80.
- 67. Pugliese C, van der Vinne RT, Campos LM, Guardieiro PR, Saviolli C, Bonfa E, et al.
 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis activity and function ability: deleterious effects in periodontal disease?
 Clin Rheumatol. 2016;35(1):81-91.
- 68. Maspero C, Giannini L, Galbiati G, Prevedello C, Farronato G. Periodontal conditions in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Minerva stomatologica. 2017;66(2):43-50.
- 69. Kobus A, Kierklo A, Zalewska A, Kuzmiuk A, Szajda SD, Lawicki S, et al. Unstimulated salivary flow, pH, proteins and oral health in patients with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. BMC Oral Health. 2017;17(1):94.
- 70. Skeie MS, Gil EG, Cetrelli L, Rosen A, Fischer J, Astrom AN, et al. Oral health in children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Oral Health. 2019;19(1):285.

Figure 1. Microbiological profiles. DNA extracted from saliva was sequenced for the V1-V3 region of the 16S rRNA gene using paired-end chemistry. The generated reads were merged, quality-filtered and classified to the species level using a BLASTn-based algorithm. The stacked bars show the average relative abundances of all phyla and top genera and species (those with relative abundance \geq 1%) identified in the study groups. OT: oral taxon.

Figure 2. Species richness and diversity. Taxonomic profiles were rarified and used to calculate observed richness, expected richness (Chao index), alpha diversity indices (Shannon's and Simpson's) and distance matrices employing standard QIIME scripts. Left: Box and whisker plots of species richness and aloha diversity in each group. Differences were not significant by Mann–Whitney U test. Right: Clustering of samples with PCoA based on abundance Jaccard distance matrix. Plots were generated with QIIME and R Package.

Figure 3. Differentially abundant taxa. (a) Phyla, (b) Genera and (c) species that showed significant differences in relative abundance between the two study groups as identified by linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size analysis (LEfSe) – 2.5 LDA score cutoff. OT: oral taxon. ** FDR ≤ 0.1 (Benjamini-Hochberg method).

Figure 4. Per sample abundance plots. Relative abundances of top six differentially abundant species (based on LDA score) in individual samples. OT: oral taxon. ** FDR ≤ 0.1 (Benjamini-Hochberg method).

Figure 5. Heatmap of the microbial association with disease activity. A Spearman correlation matrix was computed using R package. Correlations with P-value ≤ 0.01 were considered

significant. The r-value for nonsignificant correlations was set to zero (blue on the heatmap). OT: oral taxon. ** FDR ≤ 0.1 (Benjamini-Hochberg method).

Figure 6. Differentially abundant taxa by TMJ arthritis. (a) Phyla, (b) Genera and (c) species that showed significant differences in relative abundance between the JIA subjects with and without TMJ involvement, as identified by linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size analysis (LEfSe). 2.5 LDA score cutoff. OT: oral taxon. ** FDR ≤ 0.1 (Benjamini-Hochberg method).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary figure 1. Heatmap of the microbial association with GBI. A Spearman

correlation matrix was computed using R package. Correlations with P-value ≤ 0.01 were considered significant.

Supplementary figure 2. Per sample abundance plots for Bacillus subtilis. Relative abundances of Bacillus subtilis in individual samples by disease status (left) and TMJ involvement status (right).

Supplementary figure 3. Per sample abundance plots for *Campylobacter sp.* oral taxon 44.

Relative abundances of Campylobacter sp. oral taxon 44 in individual samples by TMJ involvement status.

Supplementary Dataset1. Sequencing and data processing statistics.

Supplementary Dataset 2. Relative abundances and detection frequencies of phyla identified in the individual samples.

Supplementary Dataset 3. Relative abundances and detection frequencies of genera identified in the individual samples.

Supplementary Dataset 4. Relative abundances and detection frequencies of species identified in the individual samples.

Supplementary table 1. Clinical characteristics associated with gingival bleeding (gingival bleeding index (GBI) $\geq 10\%$)*

	Gingival bleeding (n=41)				
	Crude OR (95% CI)	p-value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	p-value	
JIA	4.8 (1.7-14.0)	0.004	2.9 (0.9-9.5)	0.07	
Age	0.9 (0.7-1.2)	0.651	0.9 (0.7-1.2)	0.578	
Gender (female)	0.9 (0.3-3.1)	0.917	0.8 (0.2-2.8)	0.688	

*Multivariable logistic regression analysis adjusted for simplified oral hygiene index score (OHI-S).

	JIA (n=59)	HC (n=34)	Cut-off	P-value*
Demographic characteristics				
Female, no. (%)	43 (73)	27 (79)		0.482^{a}
Age at sampling, years	12.6 ± 2.7	12.3 ± 3.0		0.650 ^b
Age at onset	6.0 (2.0-10.0)			-
Geographics, no (%)				
Troms county	34 (57.6)	34 (100)		-
Finnmark county	17 (28.8)			-
Nordland county	5 (8.5)			-
Eastcoast county	2 (3.4)			-
Westcoast county	1 (1.7)			-
Disease duration, years	5.0 (3.0-10.0)			_
JIA category, no. (%)				
Persistent oligoarthritis	11 (189)			-
Extended oligoarthritis	13 (22)			-
Polyarthrtitis RF pos	3 (5)			-
Polyarthrtitis RF neg	15 (25)			-
Systemic arthritis	0 (0)			-
Psoriatic arthritis	3 (5)			-
Enthesitis related arthritis	7 (12)			-
Undifferentiated arthritis	7 (12)			-
Gingival bleeding index, %	22 (6-44) (n=44)	6 (0-11) (n=25)	>10	0.000 ^b
Simplified oral hygiene index (IQR)	0.5 (0.3-0.8) (n=43)	0.3 (0.0-0.4) (n=25)		0.002^{b}
Plack-index, % (IQR)	0.5 (0.3-0.8) (n=43)	0.3 (0.0-0.3) n=25)		0.001 ^b
Disease activity variables**				
JADAS10	12.8 (7.6-18.0) n=48			
Subjects with active disease, no. (%)	44 (74.6)			-
Subjects with active joints, no. (%)	23 (39.0)			-
Subjects with TMJ arthritis, no. (%)	15 (25.4)			-
Subjects with IACs to the TMJ, no. (%)	8 (13.6)			-
No.of active joints	0.0 (0.0-1.0)			
MDgloVAS	2.5 (1.0-5.0) (n=58)			
PRgloVAS	2.5 (0.5-4.0) (n=49)			
HLA-B27 positive, no (%)	20 (36.4) (n=55)			-
Rheumatoid factor positive, no (%)	1 (2.0) (n=51)			-
Type of Medication	15 (25)			
NO DMARDS, no $(\%)^{***}$	15 (25)			
Methotrexate, no (%)	20 (34)			-

Table 1. Demographic and disease activity characteristics among children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and healthy controls (HC).

Values are the median (IQR) unless indicated otherwise. ^aChi-square test. ^bWilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test. *P <0.05 for statistical significance. ** remission status according to the ACR provisional remission criteria (26); ***NSAIDs and/or IACs; ****current or previous use alone or in combination with other DMARDs; JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; JADAS10, the composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score; TMJ, temporomandibular joint; MDgloVAS, medical doctor global assessment of well-being; PRgloVAS; patient reported global assessment of well-being; IACs, intraarticular corticosteroid injections; DMARDs, disease modifying antirheumatic drugs





Figure 2.



Figure 3.



Figure 4.







Figure 6.



Supplementary Figure 1.













Paper III

Efficacy and safety of intraarticular corticosteroid injection in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the temporomandibular joint: A Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter-study.

Frid P, Augdal T, Larheim T.A, Halbig J, Rypdal V, Songstad N-T, Rosen A, Tylleskär K.B, Berstad J.R, Flatø B, Stoustrup P, Rosendahl K, Kirkhus E, Nordal E.

Submitted to Pediatric Rheumatology April 7th 2020.

±

Efficacy and safety of intraarticular corticosteroid injections in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the temporomandibular joint: A Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study.

Paula Frid^{1,2,3}, Thomas A. Augdal^{3,4}, Tore A. Larheim⁵, Josefine Halbig^{2,3}, Veronika Rypdal^{3,6}, Nils Thomas Songstad⁶, Annika Rosen^{7,8}, Karin B.Tylleskär⁹, Johanna Rykke Berstad¹⁰, Berit Flatø^{11,12}, Peter Stoustrup¹³, Karen Rosendahl^{3,4}, Eva Kirkhus¹⁴, Ellen Nordal^{3,6}

1Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North
Norway, Norway
2Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway, Norway
3Department of Clinical Medicine, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway
4Section for Pediatric Radiology, Department of Radiology, University Hospital of North Norway, Norway
5Department of Clinical Dentistry, UiT The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway
6Department of Pediatrics and Adolescence Medicine, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø, Norway
7Department of Clinical Dentistry, University of Bergen, Norway
8Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway
9Department of Pediatrics, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway
10Department of ENT and Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway
12University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway
13Section of Orthodontics, Department of Dentistry and Oral Health, Aarhus University, Denmark
14Department of Radiology, Oslo University Hospital Oslo, Norway

Correspondence to:

Paula Frid, DDS, Department of Otorhinolaryngology and Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North Norway and Public Dental Service Competence Centre of Northern Norway, N- 9038 Tromsø, Norway, Telephone number: +47 480 585 93, Fax.number: +47 77690114, E-mail: <u>paula.frid@unn.no</u>

Abstract

Background. Intraarticular corticosteroids (IACs) have been used to treat temporomandibular joint (TMJ) arthritis. However, prospective clinical studies with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scoring are lacking. The aim of this study was to examine efficacy and safety of a single IAC in the TMJ in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) in a clinical setting. **Methods.** In this Norwegian prospective multicenter pilot study 15 patients with JIA (mostly persistent oligo-arthritis or RF negative polyarthritis categories) and a clinically and MRIverified diagnosis of TMJ arthritis were treated with IACs and followed for two years. Demographics, systemic medication, general disease activity and outcome measures were recorded including a pain-index score and maximal incisal opening (MIO). Inflammation and bone damage scores were assessed, using two recently published MRI scoring systems with masked radiological evaluation.

Results. Among the 15 patients, 13 received a single IAC (5 bilateral), and 2 repeated IACs once unilaterally. Thus, the total number of IACs was 22. Median age was 15 years and the majority had an age not thought of as critical regarding mandibular growth retardation due to steroid injection. During the 2-year observation period systemic medication with disease modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) including biologics was initiated or adjusted in 10/15 (67%) patients. At the 2-months study visit after injection we observed a minimal improvement in MIO from median 44 (1st, 3rd quartiles; 36, 48) mm to 45 (43, 47) mm, p= 0.045 and decreased MRI mean additive inflammatory score from 4.4 ± 1.8 standard deviations (SD) to 3.4 ± 2.0 , p= 0.040. From baseline to the 2-months follow-up pain improved in 6/11 patients but pain scores were not significantly improved. MRI-assessed damage increased in two patients with repeated IACs, and decreased in 3 patients but most of the patients were stable over the 2-year follow-up. Intra-rater repeatability of the MRI scoring system domains varied from poor to excellent.

Conclusions. In this pilot study of predominately single IACs to the TMJ in combination with

systemic treatment we observed improvement in MRI-assessed inflammation, mostly stable condylar bone conditions and minimal clinical improvement in adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis. No side effects were seen.

Keywords: Juvenile idiopathic arthritis, Temporomandibular joint, Intraarticular corticosteroids, Temporomandibular arthritis, Magnetic resonance imaging, efficacy, adverse events

Background

The temporomandibular joint (TMJ) is one of the most commonly involved joints in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), and may lead to impaired joint function, pain, growth impairment with dentofacial deformities (1-4), a reduced posterior airway space with related comorbidities (5, 6), and impaired quality of life (7). The rate of TMJ arthritis varies significantly (40-90%) in different JIA-cohorts using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (8-10), as reviewed by Larheim et al (11). TMJ arthritis may be clinically silent with symptoms and signs seen only late in the disease course (3). The diagnostic assessment is therefore a particular challenge (12).

Both systemic and local treatments have been used in patients with TMJ arthritis (13, 14). Several observational studies report short-term effect of intraarticular corticosteroid injections (IACs) to the TMJ on pain and maximal incisal opening (MIO) (15-20). It has also been shown that the IACs can be safely performed by trained specialists with or without imaging guidance (16, 18). However, treatment with IACs has been suspected to inflict rather than improve mandibular growth impairment (21, 22).

Retrospective studies with observation periods ranging from mean 2 to 23 months show a highly variable rate of improvement in MRI-assessed inflammation (18-83%) in TMJs receiving IACs, most often with stable condylar status on MRI (15, 16, 23-25). However, according to Stoustrup et al. (26) and Stoll et al. (27) studies on IACs have a low level of evidence due to methodological issues. The

studies are mostly retrospective and single center case-series, and the outcome assessors are not masked regarding pre- or post-treatment assessments. Randomized controlled trials are lacking, and systematic prospective follow-up studies with validated clinical assessments tools and imaging scoring systems are also missing. To our knowledge, there are no prospective studies with masked standardized MRI assessment addressing safety and efficacy of IACs in the TMJ in JIA. Therefore, the aim of this Norwegian 2-year prospective multicenter pilot study of adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis was, by using validated clinical outcome measures and two newly published MRI scoring systems, to assess efficacy and safety of single IACs in the TMJ in terms of (i) reducing pain and improving maximal mouth opening capacity, and (ii) reducing joint inflammation and bone damage.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study design and patients

This 2-year prospective multicenter-study of IACs in adolescents with JIA and TMJ arthritis, is part of a larger Norwegian prospective multicenter cohort on JIA (www.norjia.com). The terminology adheres to TMJaw (earlier EuroTMJoint) consensus-based standardized terminology (28). Clinical and demographic data were collected between November 2015 and September 2019 at the Department of Pediatrics, University Hospital North Norway Tromsø, Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway, Tromsø, Haukeland University Hospital Bergen, and Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo.

Fifteen adolescents with JIA were consecutively recruited and a total of 22 TMJ injections with corticosteroids were performed. No control group was included due to ethical reasons. TMJ arthritis was defined as "clinical signs of pain on jaw movement, limitation of MIO, limitation of laterotrusive- or protrusive jaw movements or dentofacial growth disturbances and MRI signs of TMJ-arthritis (i.e. active inflammation in the TMJ based on increased contrast enhancement, bone marrow edema and/or effusion). Inclusion criteria were patients fulfilling the JIA diagnosis according to the classification criteria defined by the International League of Associations for

Rheumatology (ILAR) (12), age <18 years, and arthritis in one or both TMJs. Exclusion criteria were contraindications to MRI such as cardiac pacemaker, metallic clips, contrast allergy etc. or previous TMJ IACs within the last 3 years. The included patients had a clinical examination and a MRI at baseline before the TMJ IACs were performed, and at follow-up visits after 1-3 months, 1 year and 2 years.

Clinical variables, TMJ examination, and assessment of disease activity

Demographics, systemic medication, JIA category, disease onset and course type of JIA, medication, and a general clinical examination including number of joints with active arthritis, were registered by specialists in pediatric rheumatology at each study visit. The physician global evaluation of overall disease activity on a 10-cm visual analogue scale (VAS) (MDgloVAS) was also assessed at the visit. The specialists were calibrated by thorough discussions of all study variables assessed in the NorJIA study and the present NorJIA TMJ injection substudy. Patient-reported global assessment of overall well-being (PRgloVAS) and patient-reported pain (PRpainVAS) within the last week on a 10cm VAS were also collected. On these scales, 0 indicates no disease activity/no pain/best overall well-being, and 10 indicate the maximum disease activity/worst pain/poorest overall well-being, respectively (29). Number of active joints other than the TMJ was defined according to the clinical definition of arthritis: swelling within a joint or limitation in the range of joint movement with joint pain or tenderness (30).

Clinical TMJ examination was performed by either a specialist in oral and maxillofacial surgery or a specialist in pediatric dentistry (PF, AR, JRB, JH) according to the DC / TMD examination and diagnostics protocol (31) and EuroTMJoint Clinical Recommendations protocol (32). The two examiners were calibrated repeatedly during the study period (33). The TMJ clinical outcomes for this study were: 1, Pain-index score (i.e. pain frequency last 2 weeks x pain intensity last 2 weeks (VAS 0-10)) scored by the patient, 2, Maximal incisal opening (MIO) in mm scored by the clinical TMJ examiner and 3, jaw function the last 2 weeks (VAS 0-10) scored by the

patient was registered.

A routine complete blood cell count, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) (mm/hour), and C-reactive protein (CRP) (<5mg/l was set as 0) was obtained. Rheumatoid factor (RF) immunoglobulin M was analyzed twice more than three months apart. The composite juvenile arthritis disease activity score (JADAS10, range from 0 to 40) was assessed, based on the MDgloVAS (range 0–10), PRgloVAS (range 0–10), active joint count (maximum 10 joints), and the ESR (normalized to 0–10, <10 mm/h was set as 0)) (29, 34). Disease status was defined as either active disease, inactive disease, clinical remission on medication, or clinical remission off medication according to the ACR provisional criteria (35); inactive disease requiring all the following: 1) no active joints; 2) no fever, rash, serositis, splenomegaly or generalized lymphadenopathy attributable to JIA 3) no active uveitis; 4) normal ESR or CRP; 5) MDgloVAS =0; and 6) duration of morning stiffness of \leq 15 minutes. Side effects were assessed and registered as per protocol at each study visit, including any signs of infection, bleeding, skin atrophy, facial palsy, or intraarticular calcifications on MRI.

MRI method and outcomes

Fifty-seven examinations were obtained on either 3-T-units (Magnetom Skyra, Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) using a 64-channel head/neck coil (n=50) or a 1.5-T-unit (Magnetom Aera or Avanto, Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) using 4-channel special purpose coils (n=7), according to protocol A or B, respectively. As a minimum the protocols included water-sensitive images, pre- and post-contrast T1-weighted images and one sequence with the mouth in the open position. Details are provided in Supplementary table 2. One examination had susceptibility artefact-reducing sequences (WARP). The contrast medium given was 0.2 mL/kg (0.1 mmol/kg) body weight gadoterate meglumine (Dotarem, Guerbet, Paris, France). None of the patients needed sedation. All examinations were reviewed on a PACS workstation (IDS7, Sectra Medical Systems, Linköping, Sweden) in consensus between Date 07.04.20 two experienced specialists in radiology (TAL, TAA) at random order, masked for personal data, injection laterality and time point. One examination from each subject was randomly selected for a second reading after an interval of approximately three months. The image outcomes were based on inflammation and bone damage according to the two newly published MRI scoring systems for evaluating TMJ arthritis as described by Tolend et al. (36, 37) and Kellenberger and Lochbuhler et al. (38, 39). The scoring systems were thoroughly discussed between the radiologists before the reading session. Total scores ranged from 0-8 for the Additive inflammatory domain (bone marrow edema (absent/present 0/1), bone marrow enhancement (absent/present 0/1), joint effusion (absent/small/large 0/1/2), synovial thickening (absent/mild/moderate, severe 0/1/2), joint enhancement (absent/mild/moderate, severe 0/1/2)) and 0-5 in the Additive damage domain (condylar flattening (absent/mild/moderate, severe 0/1/2), erosions (absent/mild/moderate, severe 0/1/2), disc abnormalities (absent/present 0/1)), and 0-4 in the Progressive scoring system: Progressive inflammation (no inflammation/mild/ moderate/severe/pannus 0/1/2/3/4) and Progressive osseous deformity (normal/mild/moderate/ severe/destruction 0/1/2/3/4). The scores were set as missing if the images were not of sufficient quality due to braces or other artefacts. In case of bilateral injection, the joint with the most severe inflammation/bone damage was chosen for statistical analysis.

Injection procedure

The preauricular skin was disinfected with 70% ethanol and 5% chlorhexidine, before local anesthesia with an auriculotemporal nerve block was applied. The push-pull technique, and the amount of recovered synovial fluid in each sample was quantified with the hydroxocobalamin method, as described by Alstergren et al (40, 41). A washing solution consisting of 22% hydroxocobalamin (Behepan® 1mg/ml) in physiological saline (sodium chloride 9 mg/ml) was used. The TMJ was injected with a total of 4 ml washing solution through a stop-cock syringe. One milliliter of washing solution was injected slowly, the valve was turned and then as much

fluid as possible was aspirated back. This procedure was repeated a total of three times for each joint leaving the same cannula inside the joint. If aspiration of the washing solution was possible and the resistance in the syringe was minor during injection, then the needle tip was considered to be placed within the joint space. After sampling of synovial fluid from the upper joint compartment, steroids were injected according to the landmark guiding or ultrasound guiding technique. Two different types of steroids were used: methylprednisolone acetate (Depomedrol®) and triamcinolone hexacetonide (Lederspan®). The following dosages were set: patients >30kg: 0.4ml triamcinolone hexacetonide 20mg/ml and children <30kg: individual dosage. In 15 TMJs a syringe of 25G 0.5 x 25mm and in 7 TMJs a syringe of 23G 0.6 x 30mm was used for the injection. The injection procedure was performed by experienced specialists in oral and maxillofacial surgery at all centers (PF, AR, JRB). The results of the synovial fluid analyses will be published in a separate paper.

Statistical analyses

For description of clinical and demographic data, median (1st, 3rd quartiles), mean (standard deviations (SD)) and frequencies (percentage) were used as appropriate. For the not normally distributed data of MRI-scoring mean (SD) was used for more informative description of the values. Multiple testing of four time-points and Bonferroni correction for 6 comparisons with a p-value <0.008 was analyzed and considered, but found to be less informative than testing for two time-points; with differences between baseline and 2-months, and 2-year follow-up because of some missing data at different follow-up time-points, varying number of follow-up visits from 2-4, together with the low number of participants. Based on previous studies (15, 16, 23-25) and clinical experience we chose to assess change in clinical parameters (MIO and pain index) and change in the MRI inflammatory scores mainly between baseline and 2-months, while change in MRI osseous deformities and damage scores was assessed between baseline and 2-year follow-up.

Date 07.04.20

When testing continuous data for differences between baseline and 2-months, and 2-year follow-up, the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was used for not normally distributed data. For nominal data tested for differences between baseline and 2-months, and 2-year follow-up McNemar Chi-square test was used, and for ordinal data Wilcoxon signed rank test. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. For description of outcome after receiving IACs at the different time-points in Figure 1, percentage of patients were used for absolute improvement of the variables pain, MIO and MRI. For the MRI assessment, the intra-observer consensus agreement for the MRI-scoring was assessed with Cohen's kappa: poor (0.01-0.20), fair (0.21-0.40), moderate (0.41-0.60), substantial (0.61-0.80) and almost perfect (0.81-1.00) agreement. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software, versions 25 or 26.

RESULTS

Demographic and disease activity parameters

Demographic and disease activity characteristics at baseline are given in Table 1. In total 15 adolescents were included and 22 TMJ injections were performed in this study. Among the 15, 80% were female and the median (quartiles) age at baseline was 15 (1st, 3rd quartiles 11, 16) years. The majority of adolescents belonged to the persistent oligoarthritis (6/15; 40%) or the RF negative polyarthritis (5/15; 33%) JIA categories. Five patients (33%) received bilateral TMJ IACs. Two patients (13%) had repeated injections once unilaterally 11 and 13 months after baseline, on indication pain and ongoing MRI-assessed inflammation. Ten of 22 TMJs were sampled with the push-pull technique (46%). Follow-up visits were performed at a median of 2.0 (1.8, 3.3) months (n=14), 12.0 (11.0, 13.0) months (n=15), and 22.0 (22.0, 23.0) months (n=11) after TMJ injections at baseline. All patients had active disease at baseline. At the 2-year follow-up five of 11 (46%) patients were in remission either on or off medication. During the 2-year follow-up period 10/15 (67%) changed or increased their systemic medication with DMARDs and biologics. From participant centers, two patients were included

Table 1. Characteristics at baseline in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) (n=15) receiving intraarticular

corticosteroids (IACs) to the temporomandibular joints (TMJs) (n=22).

Baseline characteristic	Value	
Female, no. (%)	12 (80)	
Age at injections, yrs	15 (11, 16)	
Age at JIA onset, yrs	11 (8, 14)	
Disease duration, yrs	1 (0, 5)	
JIA-category, no (%)		
Oligoarthritis persistent	6 (40.0)	
Polyarthritis RF negative	5 (33.3)	
Oligoarthritis extended	3 (20)	
Enthesitis related arthritis	1 (6.7)	
Disease activity, no (%)*		
Active	15 (100)	
Remission on medication	-	
Remission off medication	-	
Medication baseline, no (%)		
No DMARDs	6 (40.0)	
DMARDs (MTX)	3 (20.0)	
Biologics combination	6 (40.0)	
Disease activity variables		
JADAS10 baseline (n=8)	15.8 (12.9, 49.1)	
No.of active joints (n=14)	2.0 (1.0, 3.0)	
PRpainVAS (n=10)	4.8 (3.3, 7.6)	
PRgloVAS (n=10)	5.5 (3.3, 7.1)	
MDgloVAS (n=12)	2.5 (1.6, 4.5)	
ESR (mm/h) (n=12)	6.5 (3.5, 10.5)	
TMJ-examination to injection, days	14.0 (1.0, 68.0)	
Follow-up, months	22.0 (16.0, 23.0)	
Injection to 2-months follow-up, (n=14)	2.0 (1.8, 3.3)	
Injection to 1-year follow-up, months (n=15)	12.0 (11.0, 13.0)	
Injection to 2-year follow-up, months (n=11)	22.0 (22.0, 23.0)	
Triamcinolone hexacetonide, dose, mg (n=14)	20.0 (9.5, 20.0)	
Methylprednisolone acetate, dose, mg (n=1)	40.0 (n=1)	
Push-pull technique / No. TMJs (%)	10/22 (46%)	
Needle length, mm/ No. TMJs	25mm/15. 30mm/7	

Data are median (1st, 3rd quartile) unless otherwise indicated. Two patients received repeated injection on the same side, five patients received bilateral injection; JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; TMJ, temporomandibular joint; PRpainVAS, patient reported pain visual analogue scale; PRgloVAS; patient reported global assessment of well-being; MDgloVAS, medical doctor global assessment of well-being; JADAS10, the composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; MTX, methotrexate; DMARDs, disease modifying antirheumatic drugs; *disease activity status according to the ACR provisional remission criteria (35)

in Oslo, one patient in Bergen and twelve patients in Tromsø.

Clinical outcomes

Among the clinical TMJ parameters pain-index score changed from median 6.0 (0.0-13.0) at baseline to 2.0 (0.0-10.0) at 2-months follow-up, this was not a statistically significant improvement (p=0.263). There was a minimal, but statistically significant increase in MIO during the same observation period (p=0.045) (Table 2). At 2-year follow-up, scores for pain and jaw function improved from baseline in terms of pain frequency (p=0.016), pain intensity (p=0.012), VAS jaw function (p=0.034), and pain-index score (p=0.012) (Table 2). Absolute improvement in pain-index was seen in 6/11 (55%) of the patients at 2-months follow-up, 9/13 (69%) of the patients at 1-year follow-up and 8/10 (80%) of the patients at 2year follow-up (Figure 1). Two of 11 patients (18%) had increased pain and 3 (27%) unchanged pain from baseline to 2-months follow-up. At 2-year follow-up 2 of 10 patients (20%) had a stable pain-index score of zero, and none of the patients had increased pain-index compared to baseline. Absolute improvements in MIO at the three follow-up visits were 9 of 13 (69%), 10 of 13 (77%) and 9 of 11 (82%) respectively (Figure 1). In 3 of 13 patients (23%) MIO decreased at 2-months follow-up (48 to 42 mm, 46 to 45 mm, 45 to 44 mm respectively). In 2 of 11 patients (18%) MIO decreased (40 to 37 mm, 49 to 45 mm respectively) between baseline and 2-year follow-up. Improvements in MIO \geq 5 mm at the three follow-up visits were 4 of 13 (31%), 6 of 13 (46%) and 5 of 11 (46%) respectively.
Table 2. Disease activity and temporomandibular joint (TMJ) clinical measures during 2-year follow-up in 15 adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and TMJ-arthritis receiving intraarticular corticosteroids (IACs).

	Pre- injection (T0)	2-months FU (T1)	1-year FU (T2)	2-year FU (T3)	p-value T0-T1
Median months after IACs (1st, 3rd quartile)	0 n=15	2.0 (1.8, 3.3) n=14	12.0 (11.0, 13.0) n=15	22.0 (22.0, 23.0) n=11	
Disease activity, no (%)**					
Active	15 (100.0)	7 (54) n=13	10 (77) n=13	6 (55)	
Remission on medication	-	2 (15) n=13	2 (15) n=13	2 (18)	
Remission off medication	-	4 (31) n=13	1 (8) n=13	3 (27)	
Medication ***					
No DMARDs, no (%)	6 (40)	5 (39) (n=13)	4 (27)	3 (27)	0.317 ^a
DMARDs (MTX), no (%)	3 (20)	2 (15) (n=13)	3 (20)	3 (27)	
Biologics comb, no (%)	6 (40)	6 (46) (n=13)	8 (53)	5 (46)	
Disease activity measures					
JADAS10	15.8 (12.9, 49.1) n=8	11.0 (6.0, 20.0) n=7	12.5 (6.8, 14.5) n=9	8.5 (3.3, 15.3) n=4	0.273 ^b
No.of active joints	2.0 (1.0, 3.0) n=14	0.0 (0.0, 2.0) n=13	1.0 (0.0, 1.5) n=13	0.0 (0.0, 1.0) n=10	0.076 ^b
ESR (mm/h)	6.5 (3.5, 10.5) n=12	6.0 (3.8, 11.0) n=10	5.0 (3.0, 7.0) n=11	5.5 (3.8, 7.3) n=10	0.445 ^b
PRpainVAS	4.8 (3.3, 7.6) n=10	3.5 (0.0, 5.8) n=8	3.8 (1.6, 6.3) n=10	1.5 (0.0, 4.5) n=4	0.500 ^b
PRgloVAS	5.5 (3.3, 7.1) n=10	3.5 (0.1, 5.8) n=8	4.0 (1.6, 5.1) n=10	0.5 (0.0, 4.0) n=4	0.345 ^b
MDgloVAS	2.5 (1.6, 4.5) n=12	0.5 (0.0, 4.0) n=10	1.5 (0.1, 2.8) n=12	0.0 (0.0, 1.0) n=7	0.207 ^b
TMJ activity measures					
Pain frequency	2.0 (0.0, 4.0)	1.0 (0.0, 2.0) n=11	1.0 (0.0, 2.0) n=13	0.0 (0.0, 2.0) n=10	0.245 ^b
VAS pain intensity	3.0 (0.0, 6.5) n=15	2.0 (0.0, 4.5) n=11	2.0 (0.0, 3.5) n=13	0.0 (0.0, 2.1) n=10	0.292 ^b
VAS jaw function	3.0 (0.0, 4.3) n=13	0.0 (0.0, 2.4) n=10	0.0 (0.0, 0.0) n=13	0.0 (0.0, 2.8) n=9	0.201 ^b
Pain indexy	6.0 (0.0, 13.0) n=15	2.0 (0.0, 10.0) n=11	2.0 (0.0, 8.5) n=13	0.0 (0.0, 5.3) n=10	0.263 ^b
MIO (mm)	44 (36, 48) n=15	45 (43, 47) n=13	45 (42, 49) n= 13	46 (45, 48) n=11	0.045 ^b

Data are median (1st, 3rd quartiles) unless indicated otherwise. ^aMcNemar chi square test, ^bWilcoxon rank test, *p ≤ 0.05 for statistical significance ** remission, status according to the ACR provisional remission criteria (35)***No DMARDs, Current us of NSAIDs and/or IACs; DMARDs, current use alone of MTX; Biologics comb, current use of Biologics alone or in combination with MTX; γ Pain index= Pain frequency last 2 weeks x Pain intensity last 2 weeks (VAS 0-10); JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; TMJ, temporo-mandibular joint; LOM, limited range on motion; VAS, visual analogue scale; MTX, methotrexate; DMARDs, disease modifying antirheumatic drugs; PRpainVAS, patient reported pain visual analogue scale; PRgloVAS; Patient reported global assessment of well-being; MDgloVAS, medical doctor global assessment of well-being; JADAS10, The composite juvenile arthritis 10-joint disease activity score; IACs, intraarticular corticosteroid injections; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; MIO, maximal incisal opening; FU, follow-up

MRI outcomes

 There was a statistically significant reduction in the additive inflammatory domain from baseline to the 2-months- and from baseline to the 2-year follow-up, (p= 0.040, p=0.017 respectively) (Table 3) (Figure 1). At the 2-months follow-up, 6 of 13 patients (46%) had lower score as shown in Figure 1, while 6 (46%) had unchanged and 1 (8%) had higher score in the additive inflammatory score. Among the 10 patients at 2-year follow-up, 7 (70%) had lower score, while 3 (30%) remained unchanged. The MRIs at baseline and at follow-up 2 months after IAC in one of the patients with improvement of temporomandibular joint enhancement is shown in Figure 2.

There was no statistically significant change in the mean progressive inflammation score between baseline and 2-months follow-up; 4 of 13 (31%) had lower score, and 9 of 13 (46%) had unchanged score. At the 2-year follow-up; 5 of 11 patients (46%) had lower score and 6 (55%) was unchanged compared to baseline.

No statistically significant change was seen in the two bone damage scores. In the mean additive damage domain, 2 of 14 (14%) had lower score, 9 (64%) unchanged and 3 (21%) had increased score at 2-months follow-up. At 2-year follow-up 2 of 10 (20%) had lower score, 6 (60%) was unchanged and 2 (20%) had higher score. The MRIs at baseline and at follow-up 2 years after IAC and systemic treatment show aggravation of bone damage in one patient (Case 10) and improvement in case 9 as shown in Figure 3. In the mean progressive osseous deformity score at the 2-months follow-up, 2 of 14 (14%) had a lower score, 11 (79%) had unchanged score, and 1 (7%) had higher score. At the 2-year follow-up 1 of 11 (9%) had lower score, 9 (82%) was unchanged, 1 (9%) had higher score.

MRI score intra-observer agreement

For the additive inflammatory domain, the intra-observer agreement between the readings was poor for bone marrow edema and bone marrow enhancement (negative kappa values), fair and

Date 07.04.20

moderate for joint effusion (kappa values 0.38 and 0.46), substantial and almost perfect for synovial thickening (0.63 and 0.90) and moderate and poor for joint enhancement (0.41 and 0.00) for the right and left side, respectively. The corresponding value for the progressive inflammation and progressive osseous deformity score was moderate and poor (0.49 and 0.20) and moderate (0.52 and 0.58). For the additive osseous domain, the intra-observer agreement was moderate to substantial for flattening (0.48 and 0.74), fair and moderate for erosions (0.36 and 0.44) and fair and almost perfect for disc abnormalities (0.36 and 0.84).

Side effects

No adverse events that could be related to the IACs were reported, and there was no finding of intraarticular calcifications on MRI. However, 2/10 (20%) had increased additive damage domain score and 1/11 (9%) had increased progressive osseous deformity score in the TMJ between baseline and 2-year follow-up. Both patients had ongoing MRI-assessed inflammation at 2-year follow-up and repeated IACs 11 and 13 months respectively after baseline. Among these one had lower pain index and the other one unchanged (=0), and both patients had increased MIO at the 2-year follow-up. Furthermore, two patients with only 1-year follow-up (cases 1 and 5) had increased scores according to additive damage domain and progressive osseous deformity, together with ongoing inflammation (Table 4). Also, case 1 had a trauma to the mandible, a blow against one of the condyles, in between the 2-month and the 1-year follow-ups. One of the patients, case 7, improved according to the progressive osseous deformity from score 1 at the 2-months follow-up to score 0 at the 2-year follow-up. Mandibular growth was not evaluated because the adolescents in this study had mostly finished their growth at time for TMJ injection: median age 15.0 (11.0, 16.0) years.

Date 07.04.20

Table 3. Additive and progressive scoring system for assessment of inflammation and damage in the temporomandibular joint (TMJ) by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in 15 adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and TMJ-arthritis receiving intraarticular corticosteroids (IACs).

	Pre- injection (T0)	2- months FU (T1)	1-year FU (T2)	2-year FU (T3)	p-value
Mean months after IACs (SD)	0 n=15	2.4±1.6 n=14	12.3±1.5 n=15	21.5±2.6 n=11	
Additive Inflammatory domain: (Bone marrow edema, bone marrow enhancement, Joint effusion, Synovial thickening, Joint enhancement)	4.4±1.8	3.4±2.0 n=13	3.6±1.7 n=14	2.3±1.7 n=10	0.040 ^{* a}
Bone marrow edema	0.3±0.5	0.1±0.3	0.1 ± 0.4 n=14	0.0±0.0 n=10	$0.500^{* b}$
Bone marrow enhancement	0.4 ±0.5	0.2±0.4 n=13	0.1 ± 0.4 n=14	0.0±0.0 n=11	0.250 ^{* b}
Joint effusion	0.8±0.9	0.7±0.8 n=14	0.6±0.9 n=14	0.3±0.7 n=10	0.705 ^{* a}
Synovial thickening	$1.0{\pm}0.8$	1.0±0.8 n=14	1.0±0.8 n=14	0.7±0.8 n=10	1.000 ^{* a}
Joint enhancement	1.9±0.3	1.5±0.7 n=13	1.8±0.4 n=14	1.3±0.6 n=11	0.059 ^{* a}
Additive Damage domain: (Condylar flattening, erosions, disc abnormalities)	2.6±1.5	2.8±1.5 n=14	2.7±1.6	2.5±1.7 n=10	1.000 ^{** a}
Condylar flattening	1.3±0.9	1.6±0.8 n=14	1.5±0.9	1.5±0.9 n=11	0.157 ^{** a}
Erosions	0.6±0.7	0.6±0.8 n=14	0.5 ± 0.8	0.4±0.7 n=10	0.655 ^{** a}
Disc abnormalities	$0.7{\pm}0.5$	0.6±0.5 n=14	0.7±0.5	0.7±0.5 n=11	1.000 ^{** b}
Progressive inflammation	2.6±0.8	2.0 ± 1.1	2.5±1.0 n=14	1.5±0.9 n=11	0.066 ^{* a}
Progressive osseous deformity	2.0±1.3	2.1±1.1 n=14	2.0±1.4	2.0±1.3 n=11	1.000** ^a

Values are the mean \pm SD unless indicated otherwise. N=15 unless indicated otherwise. ^aWilcoxon rank test. ^bMcNemar chi square test. ^{*}P \leq 0.05 considered statistically significant between T0-T1 and ^{**} between T0-T3. Each joint is scored independently (the worst joint is chosen when bilateral injection), with possible total scores ranging from 0-8 in the Additive inflammatory scoring system and 0-5 in the Additative damage domain, and 0-4 in the Progressive scoring system according to (Tolend et al.) (36) and (Kellenberger et al.) (37); 2 patients received repeated injection on the same side, 5 patients received bilateral injection.

DISCUSSION

 To our knowledge, this is the first prospective study validating and using two recently published MRI scoring systems to assess the efficacy and safety of IACs in the TMJ in adolescents with JIA. We found that a single IAC in combination with systemic therapy may improve short-term and long-term MRI-assessed inflammation and MIO, even though pain and MRI-assessed damage did not improve significantly.

Clinical outcomes: Pain and MIO

In our study the pain-index score improved in 6/11 patients at 2-months follow-up and 8/10 patients at the 2-year follow-up median 22 months after IACs to the TMJs. Pain was one of the main indications for performing the IACs in our study, and the pain-index score is reported to be a valid and sensitive outcome measure in TMJ arthritis (17). Improvement in pain is reported in most retrospective studies in JIA children based on medical chart information or the patients' self-assessment of pain, where improvement in orofacial symptoms is seen in 67-100%, follow-up ranging from mean 3 to 52 months after TMJ-IACs (15, 24, 42-44). However, none of these studies used quantified pain reports. Stoustrup et al. used the validated pain-index score in 13 JIA children receiving IACs to the TMJs in a prospective pilot study (17). They found significant short-term pain reduction, but remitting pain at long-term follow-up, indicating a loss of the initial effect of the IACs (17). Our study shows a trend for improvement in pain at the 2-month follow-up which is sustained during the observation period over two years (not statistically significant). The sustained tendency of reduced pain may be due to the systemic medication (DMARDs and biologics), which was changed in 10/15 patients in our study. Five of the 11 patients were in remission at the 2-year follow-up, indicating an effect of the treatment, which included IACs and the systemic medication. The sampling procedure with lavage may also induce improvement, Olsen-Bergem et al found that arthrocentesis with lavage in patients with TMJ arthritis and JIA might be beneficial for the treatment outcome, and that

steroids did not add additional effect to the outcome (45). The natural fluctuation with waxing and waning disease activity over time often seen in JIA must also be considered (46). We found that MIO improved in 9 of 13 patients at 2-months follow-up, and in 9 of 11 patients between baseline and 2-year follow-up after IACs to the TMJs. This is similar to retrospective studies where improvements in MIO are reported between 2.7 and 6.6 mm (15-18, 24, 42-44). However, measurements of MIO are associated with much variation (47, 48), increase with age, and show a wide normal range in children of the same age (49). In our study we used standardized protocols and calibration of the examiners in order to avoid measurement bias (31) (32). Stoustrup et al. found the smallest detectable difference in repeated MIO measurements in patients with JIA to be 5 mm when a strict and standardized measurement protocol with repeated measurements were applied (48). A clinically relevant improvement ≥ 5 mm was found in our study in 4 of 13 patients between baseline and 2-months follow-up and in 5 of 11 between baseline and 2-year follow-up after IACs. Our median improvement in MIO may be influenced by random error within the measurement procedure. Moreover, MIO at baseline was not severely reduced, and we doubt that this small change in MIO is a clinically relevant effect on jaw function even if statistically significant.

MRI outcomes

MRI-verified TMJ-arthritis is not always accompanied by clinical symptoms from the TMJ. A systematic review concluded that no single clinical finding could accurately predict MRI findings consistent with arthritis (50). The measurements in our study therefore included both standardized clinical assessment tools with pain reports, MIO, and MRI to verify TMJ-arthritis both at both baseline and follow-up.

A problem in evaluating outcome after IACs has been the use of qualitative assessments and lack of consistent definitions and MRI-scoring systems (36, 37). In the assessment of inflammation in our study, the additive inflammatory domain improved significantly

between baseline and the 2-months follow-up. Improvement was seen in 6/13 patients as compared to 4/13 patients in the progressive inflammation score. At the 2-year follow-up, 7 of the 10 patients improved significantly in the additive inflammatory domain and 3 were stable, whereas in the progressive inflammation score 5 of 11 patients improved at 2-year follow-up, but no overall significant improvement was seen.

The improvement in MRI-assessed inflammation is in accordance with Resnick et al. who found reduced synovial enhancement in their retrospective study of 29 JIA patients with 50 TMJs, even if only 18% of their TMJs experienced complete resolution of synovitis (18). Most studies of IACs to the TMJs in patients with JIA report an MRI improvement of 48-83% regarding inflammation (15, 16, 23, 24). However, these studies used different definitions of MRI improvement than the MRI scoring systems used in our study (36, 37).

We found no improvement in the additive damage domain comprising condylar flattening, erosions and disc abnormalities or in the progressive osseous deformity score. Importantly, increased damage was not found at the group level, even if 2 of the 10 patients with 2-year follow-up in our study worsened in the additive damage domain and 1 of 11 patients worsened in the progressive score for osseous deformity. Furthermore, two patients with only 1-year follow-up worsened. We cannot discern the effect of IACs from the effect of ongoing arthritis, even if both patients with 2-year follow-up had repeated IACs once unilaterally. MRI showed persistent inflammation at 2-year follow-up in both these patients. Three patients improved from baseline to 2-year follow-up and one patient improved at 1-year follow-up. Furthermore, another patient who worsened in bone damage between injection and 2-months follow-up, improved at the 2-year follow-up.

Stoll et al. (16) found in 15/47 (32%) of the TMJs injected with IACs, evidence of new-onset erosion and flattening. Arabshahi et al.(15) also reported post-therapeutic progression with bony resorption in three (16%) of 19 TMJs. Ringold et al. (42) reported that 10/15 (67%) of the patients receiving IACs therapy showed signs of worsening. Lochbuhler et al. (22) reported

progressive osseous deformation in 45 of 66 TMJs in their cohort of children with JIA and TMJ arthritis receiving repeated injections (mean 2.4 ± 1.4 IACs per joint, range 0-7). The additive inflammatory MRI score consists of five domains. The fact that this additive inflammatory scoring system have scores 0 to 2 (maximum 2) for joint effusion, joint enhancement and synovial thickening, while bone marrow edema, bone marrow enhancement scores maximum 1, place less emphasis on the two latter domains. The same applies to the additive damage MRI score consisting of three domains, where condylar flattening and erosions score 0 to 2, and disc abnormalities score maximum 1 if present. It is also unclear how the progressive system was constructed with regard to relative weighting of findings. Whether this emphasis is based on data analyses or constructed for simplicity is not stated in the publications of the scores.

The progressive inflammation and osseous deformity scores incorporate several features into one score in a progressive manner. In one of the four papers (36) where the system has been presented it is stated that the most severe change is the deciding feature, however, in the three others (37-39) this statement is not included. Deciding the most severe change can be challenging, and our interpretation of the system was that a given score was reliant on fulfillment of the previous level of pathology. This may have lowered the progressive osseous deformity score if erosions were present without co-occurrence of flattening, and the progressive inflammation score if bone marrow oedema was present without increased synovial enhancement. There was some variation in the kappa coefficients, both between right and left side in both systems and between the different variables of the additive system. The best intra-observer agreement was found for disc abnormalities and synovial thickening, in the latter with substantial and almost perfect agreement. The repeatability varied somewhat more in our study compared to the report by Tolend et al. (36). Assessment variations may have influenced the outcome, particularly because of the small study sample. Furthermore, the scoring systems have not previously been clinically validated and their ability to detect change has not been

examined.

 Whether MRI should be performed to assess the effect of interventions in TMJ remains unanswered. In Table 4 there is no uniform pattern, but a trend that the MRI changes in inflammatory scores parallell the clinical improvement. Based on our data, clinical experience and the literature, repeated MRI might be indicated primarily if clinical symptoms and signs do not improve.

Side effects

In our study no severe side effects occurred in terms of infection, bleeding or intraarticular calcifications, even if a computed tomography (CT) scan may better show calcifications. However, 2 patients had worsening in bone damage at 2-year follow-up. In addition two patients had worsened score for bone damage at 1-year follow-up but have not yet reached 2-year follow-up. However, these patients had all ongoing inflammation and one of them a trauma to the mandible that may explain the damage. Another patient worsened in bone damage between injection and 2-months follow-up but improved at the 2-year follow-up. Furthermore, three patients improved in bone damage from baseline to 2-year follow-up and 1 patient improved at 1-year follow-up.

Other studies have reported short-term adverse effects such as facial swelling, skin atrophy, pain, TMJ stiffness, chewing dysfunction, fever and TMJ calcifications/ossifications (15, 16, 42-44, 51). A chart review by Ringold et al. (51) described heterotopic ossification in the TMJ in children receiving 1–5 TMJ IACs, but the authors were unable to say whether these ossifications were the result of the IACs treatment or due to severe, long-standing TMJ inflammation. Also Lochbuhler et al. (22) reported severe side effects such as ossifications in the TMJs after repeated IACs. Rate of osseous deformities increased from 51% at baseline to 62% at the end of their study, with progression to severe condylar destruction in 26% of joints including 24% with development of intraarticular calcifications / ossifications. Importantly,

mandibular growth rate was reduced compared to the normal age- and sex-matched mean growth rate. In that study injections were however performed repeatedly. It is unclear whether the adverse effect of ossifications and reduced mandibular growth is a problem mainly of repeated steroid injections. We could not evaluate the effects on mandibular growth since the patients were mostly fully grown at the time the injection was performed. Our study may point to a single steroid injection as a treatment option for severe symptoms of TMJ-arthritis unresponsive to systemic treatment in skeletally mature individuals.

Study strengths and limitations

A strength of the present study is the prospective study design with standardized examination and MRI protocols in a clinical setting. MRI scoring assessments were performed by two experienced specialists and masked regarding whether the images were pre- or post-treatment. In addition, the clinical examiners used standardized examination protocols and were repeatedly calibrated, even if recalibration not necessary always change the inter-examiner reliability (33). Our study sample is comparable to population-based JIA cohorts and casecontrol studies regarding gender and JIA category distribution (7, 8, 16). A limitation is that clinical examiners and the patients were not masked before and after treatment, when assessing clinical variables such as MIO and pain. It must be emphasized that the patient group is small, and therefore the statistical analyses of the main clinical and imaging outcomes, and the discrepancies between the two scoring systems must be interpreted with caution. Furthermore, we found considerable intra-observer variability for some domains of the MRI scores, and our interpretation of the scoring systems may differ from that of the original authors.

CONCLUSION

We found that a single IAC in JIA-patients with TMJ arthritis may reduce MRI-assessed

inflammation, and improve mouth-opening capacity minimally. At the 2-months follow-up the pain-index score had improved in 6/11 patients but the change in pain-index score did not reach significance. Condylar bone damage was mostly stable but worsened during 2-year follow-up in two patients with repeated IACs and improved in 3 patients but no overall significant improvement was seen. There were no side effects. This is the first prospective clinical study validating and using two recently published MRI scoring systems. The combined effects of naturally fluctuating JIA disease activity, systemic medication changes, and TMJ lavage versus IACs must be considered in the assessment of the present findings. Further prospective clinical studies on adolescents with an age not critical for mandibular growth retardation due to steroid injection, including a control group, are needed in order to fully elucidate the effect of IACs on TMJ arthritis.

Availability of data and material:

Data can be obtained from the corresponding author, Paula Frid:

paula.frid@unn.no

Abbreviations:

ACR	American College of Rheumatology
Biologic comb	Current use of Biologics alone or in combination with MTX
CRP	C-reactive protein
СТ	Computed Tomography
DC/TMD	Diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular dysfunction
DMARDs	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs
ESR	Erythrocyte sedimentation rate
IACs	Intraarticular corticosteroids
ILAR	International League of Associations for Rheumatology
JADAS	The composite juvenile arthritis10-joint disease activity score
JIA	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis
MDgloVAS	Physician global evaluation of overall disease activity on a 10-cm visual analogue scale
MIO	Maximal incisal opening
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MTX	Methotreaxthe
NorJIA	The Norwegian JIA Study
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PAS	Posterior airway space
PRgloVAS	Patient reported global assessment of well-being
PRpainVAS	Patient reported pain VAS
RF	Rheumatoid factor
SD	Standard deviations
TMJ	Temporomandibular joint
US	Ultrasound
VAS	Visual analogue scale
- 07 04 20	

REFERENCES

 1. Frid P, Resnick C, Abramowicz S, Stoustrup P, Norholt SE, Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work Group T. Surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic literature review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2019.

2. Martini G, Bacciliero U, Tregnaghi A, Montesco MC, Zulian F. Isolated temporomandibular synovitis as unique presentation of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2001;28(7):1689-92.

3. Arvidsson LZ, Fjeld MG, Smith HJ, Flato B, Ogaard B, Larheim TA. Craniofacial growth disturbance is related to temporomandibular joint abnormality in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, but normal facial profile was also found at the 27-year follow-up. Scand J Rheumatol. 2010;39(5):373-9.

4. Mandall NA, Gray R, O'Brien KD, Baildam E, Macfarlane TV, Davidson J, et al. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA): a screening study to measure class II skeletal pattern, TMJ PDS and use of systemic corticosteroids. J Orthod. 2010;37(1):6-15.

5. Barrera JE, Pau CY, Forest VI, Holbrook AB, Popelka GR. Anatomic measures of upper airway structures in obstructive sleep apnea. World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017;3(2):85-91.

6. Paul SA, Simon SS, Issac B, Kumar S. Management of severe sleep apnea secondary to juvenile arthritis with temporomandibular joint replacement and mandibular advancement. J Pharm Bioallied Sci. 2015;7(Suppl 2):S687-90.

7. Frid P, Nordal E, Bovis F, Giancane G, Larheim TA, Rygg M, et al. Temporomandibular Joint Involvement in Association With Quality of Life, Disability, and High Disease Activity in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017;69(5):677-86.

8. Cannizzaro E, Schroeder S, Muller LM, Kellenberger CJ, Saurenmann RK. Temporomandibular joint involvement in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(3):510-5.

9. Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T, Gelineck J. Contrast enhanced magnetic resonance imaging as a method to diagnose early inflammatory changes in the temporomandibular joint in children with juvenile chronic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1998;25(7):1406-12.

10. Arvidsson LZ, Flato B, Larheim TA. Radiographic TMJ abnormalities in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis followed for 27 years. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2009;108(1):114-23.

11. Larheim T. A DAS, Kirkhus E, Parra D.A,, Kellenberger C.J ALZ. TMJ imaging in JIA patients—An overview. Seminars in Orthodontics. June 2015;VOL 21, NO 2:102-10.

12. Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(2):390-2.

13. Beukelman T, Patkar NM, Saag KG, Tolleson-Rinehart S, Cron RQ, DeWitt EM, et al. 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: initiation and safety monitoring of therapeutic agents for the treatment of arthritis and systemic features. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(4):465-82.

14. Kvien TK, Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM, Sandstad B. Radiographic temporomandibular joint abnormalities in patients with juvenile chronic arthritis during a controlled study of sodium aurothiomalate and D-penicillamine. Br J Rheumatol. 1986;25(1):59-66.

15. Arabshahi B, Dewitt EM, Cahill AM, Kaye RD, Baskin KM, Towbin RB, et al. Utility of corticosteroid injection for temporomandibular arthritis in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(11):3563-9.

16. Stoll ML, Good J, Sharpe T, Beukelman T, Young D, Waite PD, et al. Intra-articular corticosteroid injections to the temporomandibular joints are safe and appear to be effective

therapy in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70(8):1802-7.

17. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T. Temporomandibular joint steroid injections in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: an observational pilot study on the long-term effect on signs and symptoms. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2015;13:62.

18. Resnick CM, Vakilian PM, Kaban LB, Peacock ZS. Is Intra-Articular Steroid Injection to the Temporomandibular Joint for Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis More Effective and Efficient When Performed With Image Guidance? J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(4):694-700.

19. Kinard BE, Bouloux GF, Prahalad S, Vogler L, Abramowicz S. Arthroscopy of the Temporomandibular Joint in Patients With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;74(7):1330-5.

20. Antonarakis GS, Courvoisier DS, Hanquinet S, Dhouib A, Carlomagno R, Hofer M, et al. Benefit of Temporomandibular Joint Lavage With Intra-Articular Steroids Versus Lavage Alone in the Management of Temporomandibular Joint Involvement in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018;76(6):1200-6.

21. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Gelineck J, Cattaneo PM, Pedersen TK, et al. Reduced mandibular growth in experimental arthritis in the temporomandibular joint treated with intra-articular corticosteroid. Eur J Orthod. 2008;30(2):111-9.

22. Lochbuhler N, Saurenmann RK, Muller L, Kellenberger CJ. Magnetic Resonance Imaging Assessment of Temporomandibular Joint Involvement and Mandibular Growth Following Corticosteroid Injection in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2015.

23. Weiss PF, Arabshahi B, Johnson A, Bilaniuk LT, Zarnow D, Cahill AM, et al. High prevalence of temporomandibular joint arthritis at disease onset in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, as detected by magnetic resonance imaging but not by ultrasound. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(4):1189-96.

24. Cahill AM, Baskin KM, Kaye RD, Arabshahi B, Cron RQ, Dewitt EM, et al. CT-guided percutaneous steroid injection for management of inflammatory arthropathy of the temporomandibular joint in children. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2007;188(1):182-6.

25. Resnick CM, Vakilian PM, Kaban LB, Peacock ZS. Quantifying the Effect of Temporomandibular Joint Intra-Articular Steroid Injection on Synovial Enhancement in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;74(12):2363-9.

26. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Verna C, Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Herlin T. Intra-articular steroid injection for temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A systematic review on efficacy and safety. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2013;43(1):63-70.

27. Stoll ML, Kau CH, Waite PD, Cron RQ. Temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis, now what? Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2018;16(1):32.

28. Stoustrup P, Resnick CM, Pedersen TK, Abramowicz S, Michelotti A, Kuseler A, et al. Standardizing Terminology and Assessment for Orofacial Conditions in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: International, Multidisciplinary Consensus-based Recommendations. J Rheumatol. 2019;46(5):518-22.

29. Consolaro A, Ruperto N, Bazso A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Filocamo G, et al. Development and validation of a composite disease activity score for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(5):658-66.

30. Filocamo G, Consolaro A, Schiappapietra B, Dalpra S, Lattanzi B, Magni-Manzoni S, et al. A new approach to clinical care of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the Juvenile Arthritis Multidimensional Assessment Report. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(5):938-53.

31. Schiffman E, Ohrbach R, Truelove E, Look J, Anderson G, Goulet JP, et al. Diagnostic Criteria for Temporomandibular Disorders (DC/TMD) for Clinical and Research Applications: recommendations of the International RDC/TMD Consortium Network* and Orofacial Pain

Special Interest Groupdagger. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. 2014;28(1):6-27. Stoustrup P. Clinical craniofacial examination of patients with juvenile idiopathic 32. arthritis. Seminars in Orthodontics. 2015; Vol 21(No 2 (June)):pp 94–101. Skeie MS, Frid P, Mustafa M, Assmus J, Rosen A. DC/TMD Examiner Protocol: 33. Longitudinal Evaluation on Interexaminer Reliability. Pain Res Manag. 2018;2018:7474608. 34. Consolaro A, Bracciolini G, Ruperto N, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Malattia C, et al. Remission, minimal disease activity, and acceptable symptom state in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: defining criteria based on the juvenile arthritis disease activity score. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(7):2366-74. Wallace CA, Giannini EH, Huang B, Itert L, Ruperto N, Childhood Arthritis 35. Rheumatology Research A, et al. American College of Rheumatology provisional criteria for defining clinical inactive disease in select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(7):929-36. Tolend MA, Twilt M, Cron RQ, Tzaribachev N, Guleria S, von Kalle T, et al. Toward 36. Establishing a Standardized Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System for Temporomandibular Joints in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(5):758-67. Kellenberger CJ, Junhasavasdikul T, Tolend M, Doria AS. Temporomandibular joint 37. atlas for detection and grading of juvenile idiopathic arthritis involvement by magnetic resonance imaging. Pediatric radiology. 2018;48(3):411-26. Kellenberger C.J ALZ, Larheim T.A. Magnetic resonance imaging of 38. temporomandibular joints in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Seminars in Orthodontics. 2015; VOL 21, NO 2:111-20. Lochbuhler N, Saurenmann RK, Muller L, Kellenberger CJ. Magnetic Resonance 39. Imaging Assessment of Temporomandibular Joint Involvement and Mandibular Growth Following Corticosteroid Injection in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(8):1514-22. 40. Alstergren P, Appelgren A, Appelgren B, Kopp S, Lundeberg T, Theodorsson E. Determination of temporomandibular joint fluid concentrations using vitamin B12 as an internal standard. European journal of oral sciences. 1995;103(4):214-8. Alstergren P, Kopp S, Theodorsson E. Synovial fluid sampling from the 41.

41. Alstergren P, Kopp S, Theodorsson E. Synovial fluid sampling from the temporomandibular joint: sample quality criteria and levels of interleukin-1 beta and serotonin. Acta Odontol Scand. 1999;57(1):16-22.

42. Ringold S, Torgerson TR, Egbert MA, Wallace CA. Intraarticular corticosteroid injections of the temporomandibular joint in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2008;35(6):1157-64.

43. Habibi S, Ellis J, Strike H, Ramanan AV. Safety and efficacy of US-guided CS injection into temporomandibular joints in children with active JIA. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2012;51(5):874-7.

44. Parra DA, Chan M, Krishnamurthy G, Spiegel L, Amaral JG, Temple MJ, et al. Use and accuracy of US guidance for image-guided injections of the temporomandibular joints in children with arthritis. Pediatric radiology. 2010;40(9):1498-504.

45. Olsen-Bergem H, Bjornland T. A cohort study of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis and arthritis of the temporomandibular joint: outcome of arthrocentesis with and without the use of steroids. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014.

46. Glerup M, Stoustrup P, Matzen LH, Rypdal V, Nordal E, Frid P, et al. Long-term Outcomes of Temporomandibular Joints in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2019.

47. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Verna C, Kuseler A, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Orofacial symptoms related to temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: smallest detectable difference in self-reported pain intensity. J Rheumatol. 2012;39(12):2352-8.
48. Stoustrup P, Verna C, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Smallest

Date 07.04.20

1

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12 13

14

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23 24

25

26

27

28 29

30

31

32

33

34 35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45 46

47

48

49

50

51 52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

detectable differences in clinical functional temporomandibular joint examination variables in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2013;16(3):137-45.

49. Muller L, van Waes H, Langerweger C, Molinari L, Saurenmann RK. Maximal mouth opening capacity: percentiles for healthy children 4--17 years of age. Pediatric rheumatology online journal. 2013;11(1):17.

50. Kristensen KD, Stoustrup P, Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Twilt M, Herlin T. Clinical predictors of temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: A systematic literature review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016;45(6):717-32.

51. Ringold S, Thapa M, Shaw EA, Wallace CA. Heterotopic ossification of the temporomandibular joint in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(7):1423-8.

Acknowledgements: We would like to acknowledge Tom Wilsgaard of UiT The Arctic University of Norway for contribution with statistical guidance.

Funding: Grethe Harbitz funds, Research funding from Troms County, Norsk Revmatikerforbund, Helse Nord Research funding and Tromsø Research Foundation. The publication charges for this article have been funded by a grant from the publication fund of UiT The Arctic University of Norway.

Author information

Affiliations

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North Norway, Norway Paula Frid

Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway, Norway Paula Frid & Josefine Halbig

Department of Clinical Medicine, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway Paula Frid & Thomas A. Augdal & Veronika Rypdal & Ellen Nordal & Josefine Halbig

Section for Pediatric Radiology, Department of Radiology, University Hospital of North Norway, Norway

Thomas A. Augdal & Karen Rosendahl

Department of Clinical Dentistry, UiT The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway Tore A. Larheim

Department of Pediatrics and Adolescence Medicine, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø, Norway

Veronika Rypdal & Nils Thomas Songstad & Ellen Nordal

Department of Clinical Dentistry, University of Bergen, Norway Annika Rosen

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway

Annika Rosen

Department of Pediatrics, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway Karin B.Tylleskär

Department of ENT and Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Johanna Rykke Berstad

Department of Rheumatology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway Berit Flatø

University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway Berit Flatø

Section of Orthodontics, Department of Dentistry and Oral Health, Aarhus University, Denmark

Peter Stoustrup

Department of Radiology, Oslo University Hospital Oslo, Norway Eva Kirkhus

Authors' contributions

Planning of the study, data collection, analysis of the data and interpretation of the results as well as writing of the manuscript: PF, EN.

wen as writing of the manuscript. 11, EIV.

Collection of data: PF, EN, JRB, BF, AR, KBT, TAA, VR, NTS, JH.

Date 07.04.20

Critical review and editing of manuscript: AR, EK, BF, PS, TAL, KBT, NTS, VR, EN, JH, TAA, KR, JRB.

All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The authors assert that this work comply with the ethical standards of the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008. Informed consent was collected from all study participants and the study was approved by the Regional committees for medical and health research ethics in Norway (2015/318).

Consent for publication

Not applicable

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Percentage of patients with improvement. Percentage of adolescents with juvenile idiopathic
 arthritis (JIA) and temporomandibular joint (TMJ) arthritis with improvement in Pain index, maximal incisal
 opening (MIO) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) inflammatory additive domain score, damage additive
 domain score, progressive inflammation score, progressive osseous deformity score, in the time interval between
 baseline and follow-up visits (FU) after receiving intraarticular corticosteroids (IACs).

Figure 2. MRI improvement of the inflammation. Oblique sagittal contrast enhanced T1 TSE images with fat suppression of a 16-year-old girl (case 8) (a) at baseline with increased temporomandibular joint enhancement and (b) at 2 months follow-up after IAC and no DMARDs with complete regression of joint enhancement. Note also the disrupted disc and flattened condyle in both images.

Figure 3. MRI changes of the bone condition.

Oblique sagittal pre- and postcontrast T1 TSE images with fat suppression of the left TMJ of a 16-year-old girl (case 10) without improvement in inflammation: joint enhancement is only minimally reduced from baseline (a, b) to 2-months after IAC (c, d). She was under MTX treatment. At 2-year follow up, with a repeated injection 11 months after baseline, there is some reduction in joint enhancement, but the disc has become perforated and the condylar surface discretely more flattened and irregular (e, f).

Oblique sagittal T1 TSE images with fat suppression of the right TMJ of a 15-year-old girl (case 9) with improved bone condition: discretely flattened and irregular condyle at baseline (g) has become smooth and more rounded at 2-year follow-up after IAC and systemic treatment with biologics and MTX (h).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary Table 1. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) protocol for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic
 arthritis (JIA) and temporomandibular joint (TMJ) arthritis receiving intraarticular corticosteroids (IACs).

Case	M/F	Age	Age	Dose	Medic	Medic	Medic	Medic	MIO	Pain	MRI additive	MRI	MRI additive	MRI progressive	Comments
		Onset	Inj	inj	(T0)	(T1)	(T2)	(T3)		index	inflammatory	Progressive	damage	osseous	
			-	(mg)							domain*	inflammation*	domain*	deformity*	
1	Μ	10	10	6	MTX	MTX	MTX		T0: 48	T0: 6	T0: 6	T0: 3	T0: 3	T0: 3	Bilateral IACs
									T1: 42	T1	T1: 4	T1: 3	T1: 4	T1: 3	Mandibular
									T2: 48	T2: 2	T2: 6	T2: 4	T2: 4	T2: 4	trauma between
									T3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	T1 and T2
2	F	17	17	8	MTX	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	T0: 40	T0: 0	T0: 3	T0: 3	T0: 4	T0: 3	Unilateral IACs
									T1: -	T1: -	T1: 2	T1: 2	T1: 4	T1: 3	
									T2: 37	T2: -	T2: 5	T2: 3	T2: 3	T2: 3	
									T3: -	T3: -	T3: 1	T3: 1	T3: 3	T3: 3	
3	F	11	11	8	MTX	MTX	BioCo		T0: 32	T0: 9	T0: 5	T0: 3	T0: 3	T0: 3	Unilateral IACs
									T1: 35	T1: 0	T1: 5	T1: 3	T1: 3	T1: 2	
									T2: 30	T2: 0	T2: 5	T2: 3	T2: 2	T2: 0	
									T3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	
4	F	13	14	20	No	No	No	No	T0: 44	T0: 0	T0: 4	T0: 4	T0: 2	T0: 2	Unilateral
					DMARD	DMARD	DMAR	DMAR	T1:48	T1: 0	T1: 2	T1: 1	T1:4	T1: 2	repeated IACs
							D	D	T2: 41	T2: 9	T2: -	T2: -	T2: 5	T2: 3	(13 months
									T3: 47	T3: 0	Т3: -	T3: 1	T3: 4	T3: 3	interval)
											T4: -	T4: 2	T4: 4	T4: 3	
5	F	9	15	20	BioCo		BioCo		T0: 48	T0: 3	T0: 6	T0: 3	T0: 1	T0: 0	Unilateral IACs
									T1: -	T1: -	T1: -	T1: -	T1: -	T1: -	
									T2: -	T2: -	T2: 6	T2: 3	T2: 4	T2: 2	
									T3: -	T3: 0	T3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	
6	F	9	14	10	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	T0: 46	T0: 5.5	T0: 1	T0: 1	T0: 0	T0: 0	Bilateral IACs
									T1: 45	T1: 2	T1: 1	T1: 1	T1:0	T1: 0	
									T2: 47	T2: 0	T2: 1	T2: 1	T2: 0	T2: 0	
									T3: 47	T3: 0	T3: 1	T3: 1	T3: 0	T3: 0	
7	F	2	15	20	No	No	No	MTX	T0: 36	T0: 36	T0: 3	T0: 1	T0: 1	T0: 0	Bilateral IACs
					DMARD	DMARD	DMAR		T1: 44	T1: 10	T1: 3	T1: 1	T1: 2	T1: 1	
							D		T2: 44	T2: 6	T2: 3	T2: 2	T2: 1	T2: 0	
									T3: 44	T3: 0	T3: 1	T3: 1	T3: 1	T3: 0	
8	F	15	16	40**	No	No	MTX		T0: 45	T0: 0	T0: 2	T0: 2	T0: 4	T0: 2	Unilateral IACs
					DMARD	DMARD			T1:46	T1: 0	T1: 2	T1: 2	T1:4	T1: 2	
									T2: 50	T2: 12	T2: 2	T2: 2	T2: 4	T2: 2	
									T3: -	T3: -	T3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	Т3: -	
9	F	0	15	20	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	No	T0: 49	T0: 0	T0: 2	T0: 2	T0: 4	T0: 2	Unilateral IACs
				1				DMAR	T1: 54	T1: 5	T1: 0	T1: 0	T1: 2	T1: 2	
				1				D	T2: 54	T2: 0	T2: 2	T2: 2	T2: 2	T2: 2	
									T3: 45	T3: -	T3: 2	T3: 2	T3: 2	T3: 2	
10	F	15	16	20	No	No	MTX	MTX	T0: 45	T0: 12	T0: 5	T0: 3	T0: 3	T0: 3	Unilateral

Table 4. Summary characteristics, use of medication at baseline and outcome-response during 2-year follow-up in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) (n=15) receiving intraarticular corticosteroids (IACs) to the temporomandibular joints (TMJs) (n=22).

					DMARD	DMARD			T1: 44	T1: 22.5	T1: 6	T1: 3	T1: 3	T1: 3	repeated IACs
									T2: 49	T2: 0	T2: 4	T2: 3	T2: 3	T2: 3	(11 months
									T3: 48	T3: 6	T3: 2	T3: 1	T3: 4	T3: 3	interval)
											T4: 3	T4: 3	T4: 3	T4: 3	
11	М	11	16	20	No	No	No	No	T0: 55	T0: 0	T0: 5	T0: 2	T0: 3	T0: 3	Unilateral
					DMARD	DMARD	DMAR	DMAR	T1: 55	T1: 0	T1: 4	T1: 1	T1: 3	T1: 2	injection
							D	D	T2: 62	T2: 0	T2: 2	T2: 1	T2: 3	T2: 2	-
									T3: 63	T3: 0	T3: 5	T3: 2	T3: 3	T3: 2	
12	М	8	9	10	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	T0: 34	T0: 7.5	T0: 7	T0: 3	T0: 0	T0: 0	Bilateral IACs
									T1: 40	T1: 0	T1: 3	T1: 3	T1:0	T1:0	
									T2: 41	T2: 0	T2: 1	T2: 1	T2: 0	T2: 0	
									T3: 45	T3: 0	T3: 0	T3: 0	T3: 0	T3: 0	
13	F	14	15	16	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	T0: 42	T0: 21	T0: 6	T0: 3	T0: 5	T0: 3	Unilateral IACs
									T1: 44	T1: 14	T1: 6	T1: 3	T1: 5	T1: 3	
									T2: 45	T2: 2.5	T2: 5	T2: 3	T2: 5	T2: 3	
									T3: 46	T3: 5	T3: 5	T3: 3	T3: 5	T3: 3	
14	F	5	11	20	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	BioCo	T0: 43	T0: 13	T0: 5	T0: 3	T0: 3	T0: 3	Unilateral IACs
									T1: 45	T1: 9	T1: -	T1: -	T1: 2	T1: 3	
									T2: 44	T2: 9	T2: 4	T2: 3	T2: 2	T2: 3	
									T3: 48	T3: 12	T3: 3	T3: 3	Т3: -	T3: 3	
15	F	13	15	20	No		No	MTX	T0: 35	T0: 32	T0: 6	T0: 3	T0: 3	T0: 3	Bilateral IACs
					DMARD		DMAR		T1: 45	T1: -	T1: 6	T1: 3	T1: 3	T1: 3	
							D		T2: 45	T2: 8	T2: 4	T2: 4	T2: 3	T2: 3	
									T3: 45	T3: 3	T3: 3	T3: 2	T3: 3	T3: 3	
1															

*Additive and progressive MRI score (36, 37) ** Metylprednisolone acetate; Inj, injection; Medic, medication; MIO, maximal incisal opening; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; FU, follow-up; MTX, methotrexate; BioCo, biologics alone or in combination with other DMARDs; disease modifying antirheumatic drugs; JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; TMJ, temporomandibular joint; IACs, intraarticular corticosteroid injections; T0=Pre-injection, T1= 2-months follow-up, T2= 1-year follow-up, T3= 2-year follow-up; - missing data



Figure 2.

a,

b,







Figure 3.





Paper IV

Surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review; Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work Group TMJaw.

Frid P, Resnick C, Abramowicz S, Stoustrup P, Nørholt SE.

Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2019 Aug;48(8):1032-1042.

Surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic literature review

P. Frid, C. Resnick, S. Abramowicz, P. Stoustrup, S.E. Nørholt: Surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic literature review. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. 2019; 48: 1032–1042. © 2019 International Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Abstract. The aim of this study was to assess current evidence for the surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in patients with temporomandibular joint (TMJ) involvement from juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA). A systematic literature review, according to the PRISMA guidelines, was conducted. Meta-analyses, randomized controlled trials, cohort studies, observational studies, and case reports were eligible for inclusion. Exclusion criteria were no JIA diagnosis, no clearly defined outcomes, dual publications (except meta-analyses), non peer-reviewed studies, non English language publications, and animal studies. The outcome measures assessed were TMJ function, skeletal alignment, and morbidity. The database search identified 255 citations, of which 28 met the eligibility criteria. Of these, 24 were case reports or case series with a low level of evidence that did not allow for meta-analysis. Extrapolated evidence supports orthognathic surgery in skeletally mature patients with controlled or quiescent JIA and a stable dentofacial deformity. Distraction osteogenesis was recommended for severe deformities. Some authors demonstrated unpredictable postoperative mandibular growth with costochondral grafts. Alloplastic TMJ reconstruction was efficacious, but should be used cautiously in skeletally immature patients. TMJ function and skeletal alignment was improved with reconstruction by any technique and morbidity was low. The surgical correction of arthritis-induced dentofacial deformities is indicated but the level of evidence is low. Prospective multicenter studies are needed.



Systematic Review Orthognathic Surgery

P. Frid¹, C. Resnick^{2,3},

S. Abramowicz⁴, P. Stoustrup⁵, S. E. Nørholt⁶ on behalf of the Temporomandibular Joint Juvenile Arthritis Work Group TMJaw

¹Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital North Norway and Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway and Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway; ²Harvard School of Dental Medicine and Harvard Medical School. Boston, MS, USA; ³Department of Plastic and Oral Surgery, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MS, USA; ⁴Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Department of Surgery, Emory University School of Medicine, and Section of Dentistry/Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Children's Healthcare of Atlanta, Atlanta, GA, USA; ⁵Section of Orthodontics, Department of Dentistry and Oral Health, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark; ⁶Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Aarhus University Hospital and Section of Oral Surgery and Oral Pathology, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

Key words: juvenile idiopathic arthritis; temporomandibular joint arthritis; juvenile chronic arthritis; orthognathic surgery; Le Fort I; bilateral sagittal split osteotomy; vertical ramus osteotomy; bimaxillary surgery; genioplasty; reconstructive surgery; TMJ prosthesis; costochondral graft; distraction osteogenesis.

Accepted for publication Available online 28 January 2019 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most common chronic rheumatic disease in children, with an annual incidence of 1.3 to 22.6 per 100.000^{1-7} . The temporomandibular joint (TMJ) is involved in 11.6–80% of cases^{8–11}. TMJ arthritis can lead to reduced mouth opening, impaired mastication, pain, disruption of condylar growth, and dentofacial deformities 1^{12} . Unilateral TMJ arthritis may cause facial asymmetry and/or an occlusal cant¹³. Bilateral involvement may lead to clockwise rotation of the mandible, resulting in micrognathia, anterior open bite, and a reduction in posterior airway space (PAS)^{14,15}. A small PAS is associated with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) and related comorbidities¹⁶.

TMJ arthritis is difficult to diagnose and control¹⁴. Uncontrolled arthritis may lead to severe dentofacial deformities. In some patients, growth deviation resulting from TMJ arthritis can be improved with orthopedic/orthodontic treatment during growth¹⁷. Indications for reconstructive surgery include the following: improvement in TMJ function and/or occlusion, skeletal alignment, desire for facial esthetic improvement, and/or improvement of OSA.

There are two strategies for the surgical correction of JIA-induced dentofacial deformities: (1) TMJ preservation (i.e., orthognathic surgery, distraction osteogenesis (DO)), and (2) TMJ reconstruction (i.e., resection of the remaining condyle, synovial lining, and disc, and reconstruction with an autologous graft¹⁸ or an alloplastic prosthesis¹⁹). The choice of operational strategy depends on the patient's age, disease activity, extent of the skeletal deformity, and surgeon preference and experience.

The aim of this study was to assess the level of evidence for surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in patients with JIA-related TMJ involvement.

Materials and methods

This study was conducted by the TMJaw Surgical Task Force. TMJaw is an international, multidisciplinary research network founded in Oslo, Norway in 2010, which focuses on research of TMJ arthritis related to JIA. The terminology of the present systematic review adheres to the TMJaw consensus-based standardized terminology²⁰.

Search strategy

An electronic database search strategy was designed based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines²¹. Refer-

ences were archived in a RefWorks database (ProOuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). The search strategy was developed for MEDLINE and modified for Embase. The search was limited to these two databases because they are the most inclusive. The primary search was conducted in June 2017 and updated in February 2018. Search terms included the following: juvenile idiopathic arthritis OR juvenile chronic arthritis AND orthognathic surgery OR Le Fort 1 OR bilateral sagittal split OR vertical ramus osteotomy OR bimaxillary surgery OR genioplasty OR distraction osteogenesis OR temporomandibular joint surgery.

Outcome variables

The PICO criteria (patients, intervention, comparison, and outcome) for the study are presented in Table 1. Outcome variables included: (1) TMJ function (i.e., maximum mouth opening measured between the incisal edges of the central incisor teeth, in millimeters), (2) pain, (3) occlusion and skeletal alignment, and (4) operation-related morbidity.

Meta-analyses, randomized controlled trials (RCTs), cohort studies, observational studies, case series, and case reports were eligible for inclusion. Case reports were also included due to the limited number of publications with a high level of evidence identified with the predefined terms. Studies were excluded if they did not include information on JIA diagnosis, had poorly defined outcomes measures, or were dual publications (except meta-analysis), non peer-reviewed studies (e.g., conference abstracts), animal studies, or written in a language other than English.

Study selection and bias

Two authors (PF, SEN) independently assessed the studies identified in the literature search on three occasions. The first selection was based on titles only. The second selection included an assessment of the abstracts. The third and final assessment involved full text review (Fig. 1). Any disagreement between the reviewers was resolved through discussion and the involvement of a third reviewer, until consensus was reached.

The following data were collected from the eligible studies: study design, level of evidence, patient selection criteria, number of subjects, patient sex, mean patient age, surgical procedure, outcomes, adverse effects, and other relevant findings.

The selected studies were assessed for risk of bias on the basis of the following variables: prospective study design, sufficient description of the outcome variable, uniform inclusion criteria, standardized examination protocol, outcome assessor blinded to imaging findings, and information on outcome variable variation. Risk of bias was classified as 'high' if a 'no' was obtained in three or more criteria. The level of evidence was scored according to the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine (OCEBM) level of evidence guide (http://www.cebm.net/oxfordcentre-evidence-based-medicine-levels-

evidence-march-2009/), as follows: 1a: systematic review with homogeneity of RCTs; 1b: individual RCT with narrow confidence interval; 1c: all or none case series; 2a: systematic review with homogeneity of cohort studies; 2b: individual cohort study including low quality RCT; e. g., <80% follow-up; 2c: 'outcomes' research and ecological studies; 3a: systematic review (with homogeneity) of casecontrol studies; 3b: individual case-control study; 4: case series (and poor cohort and case-control studies); 5: expert opinion without explicit critical appraisal, or based on physiology, bench research, or 'first principles'.

Results

Two hundred and fifty-five articles were identified in the first search; 85 remained

Table 1. PICO criteria.

PICO	
Patients	Patients with a JIA diagnosis and involvement of the TMJ
Intervention	Receiving a reconstructive or orthognathic surgical intervention
Comparison	Efficacy and safety of various reconstructive or orthognathic surgical
	modalities in JIA
Outcome	Assessment of treatment outcomes and safety profile
Databases included	d: MEDLINE via PubMed and Embase. Search terms were constructed for
MEDLINE and me	odified for Embase ^a

JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; TMJ, temporomandibular joint.

^a The MEDLINE search terms: ((juvenile idiopathic arthritis) OR (juvenile chronic arthritis)) AND ((orthognathic surgery) OR (Le Fort I) OR (bilateral sagittal split) OR (vertical ramus osteotomy) OR (bimaxillary surgery) OR (genioplasty)).



Fig. 1. PRISMA flow diagram of the study selection process.

after title screening. Abstract evaluation resulted in 49 articles. Articles were excluded during full-text assessment for the following reasons: animal studies (n = 1). studies not in English (n = 3), meta-analysis (n = 1), or lack of clearly defined outcome variables (n = 16). The final sample included 28 papers for full text evaluation (Fig. 1, Tables 2 and 3)^{18,22–48}. The inter-rater agreement for study selection was 100% for all of the variables (Supplementary Material, Table S1). Of the 28 articles included, 24 were case reports or case series^{18,22-44}, three were retrospective chart reviews^{45–47}, and one was a prospective cohort study⁴⁸. Many of the included articles described surgical procedures in a mixed group of patients. The included studies described a total of 172 subjects with JIA who underwent a reconstructive surgical procedure.

The risk of bias was rated 'high' in 26 (93%) of the included studies; two (7%) articles had a 'medium' risk of bias30,48 (Supplementary Material, Table S1).

No study included a control group. Four studies did not have uniform inclusion criteria, i.e. not all study subjects had a JIA diagnosis^{24,29,30,32}. Various methods were used for the evaluation of outcomes, such as cephalometric analysis and clinical photographs when evaluating skeletal alignment, polysomnography when evaluating OSA, and mouth opening (in millimeters) to evaluate function. The examination protocol was unclear in two studies^{26,28}. No outcome assessors in the studies were blinded to imaging findings. Detailed information on outcome variables, such as mean jaw advancement, mean relapse, and mean mouth opening in millimeters, were presented in 23 studies^{18,23–25,27,29–32,34,35,37–48}. According to the OCEBM level of evidence, all included articles were grouped in category four (i.e., case series and poor cohort and case–control studies).

Surgical intervention and outcomes

TMJ preservation—orthognathic surgery

Nine case reports and case series discussed orthognathic surgery in 80 patients (43 with JIA)^{30–32,34,36,37,42,45,46}. Age at operation ranged from 15 years to 53 years. Follow-up varied from <1 year to 10 years. All studies reported improved function, occlusion, and skeletal alignment. All studies reported few complications; these included infection, wound dehiscence, skeletal relapse, and continued TMJ pain.

Kahnberg and Holmstrom described maxillary and mandibular orthognathic surgery with chin augmentation (implant) in 19 of 34 analyzed patients (37 in total. three with JIA). In 15 patients, a chin implant was the only procedure. All patients reported high postoperative satisfaction³⁰. Two patients had postoperative dehiscence and one patient had infection of the implant. Pagnoni et al. described Le Fort I osteotomy and genioplasty in five patients with quiescent JIA³⁷. Occlusion and skeletal movements were stable 8 months postoperatively. All patients reported relief of TMJ pain, increased bite strength, and a reduction of headache and sleep respiratory distress postoperatively. These authors advocated for Le Fort I osteotomy with autorotation of the mandible and genioplasty, without a mandibular osteotomy, theorizing that a mandibular operation exacerbates condylar resorption, TMJ pain and dysfunction. According to the same authors, postoperative exacerbation of TMJ arthritis did not occur.

Leshem et al. reported skeletal relapse of 2.1 mm after a mean 9.6 mm mandibular advancement at 1 year postoperatively in eight patients with JIA⁴⁵. They also reported an improvement in quality of life for all patients. These authors recommended a surgical splint with a small posterior open bite and edge-to-edge incisor relationship to compensate for expected relapse. One patient in their series continued to suffer from TMJ pain postoperatively.

Kreiborg et al. described a 15-year old patient with "some relapse" 1 year after bimaxillary surgery³⁴. They hypothesized that dysplastic mandibular growth leads to occlusal instability and poor masticatory muscle function. Therefore, they recommended early orthognathic surgery (i.e., prior to skeletal maturity) to maintain occlusal stability throughout growth.

One of seven subjects (age 10–24 years) described by Myall et al. required a reoperation at age 18 years due to relapse after sagittal ramus osteotomy and genioplasty at age 10 years³⁶. Oye et al. described mean skeletal relapse of 2.3 mm after average mandibular advancement of 5.3 mm in 16 patients⁴⁶. Half of these patients had TMJ pain before surgery (mean visual analog scale (VAS) score 2.4), and 38% reported pain postoperatively (mean VAS score 1.3). These authors therefore concluded that orthognathic surgery reduces pain.

TMJ preservation—distraction osteogenesis

Seven studies described DO in 40 patients with $JIA^{23,25,33,35,39,47,48}$. One study was a prospective cohort study⁴⁸ and one was a

Source	Study design	LOE ^a	Patient selection criteria	Number of patients	Sex Age (years) ^b	Surgical procedure	Outcome ^c	Adverse effects	Follow-up Other relevant findings
Orthognathic surg Kahnberg and Holmstrom ³⁰	ery CS	4	Consec.	37 (3 JIA)	20 F, 17 M 25 (16–43)	Chin augmentation: acrylic implant combined with	Stable position of chin, high patient satisfaction	2 dehiscences, 1 infection	FU: <1 year for 3 pts, min 1 year for 34 pts; 5 years for 17 pts
Kasfikis et al. ³¹	CR	4	Consec.	1 (mandibular hypoplasia, OSA, Crohn's disease)	F 18	orthognathic surgery BSSO + genioplasty	Stable function and esthetics at 2 years postop.	No	FU: 2 years
Kennett and Curran ³²	CS	4	Selected	4 (1 ЛА)	3 F, 1 M 16 (12–18)	JIA pt: VRO with iliac BG, onlay BG to the chin, 6 weeks of MMF; other pts: BSSO, condylectomy + rib graft, sliding genionlasty	Improved occlusion and profile	Resorption of the onlay BG to the chin	FU JIA pt: 1 year (3–18 months) The need for postop. jaw exercises is stressed
Kreiborg et al. ³⁴	CR	4	Consec.	1 (9–17 years, baseline to FU)	F 15	LFI + BSSO + genioplasty	Facial growth/facial appearance and oral function improvement	Some relapse 1 year postop., but it did not affect the soft tissue	FU: 1 year postop.
Leshem et al. ⁴⁵	Retrosp. CS	4	Consec.	8	5 F, 3 M 18 (17–22)	BSSO (8), LFI (6/8), genioplasty (4/8)	Improved occlusion, facial esthetics, QOL; continued TMJ pain (1 pt) Mean MA 9.6 mm: Co–Gn; mean mandible relapse 2.1 mm (did not significantly affect the clinical outcome)	Some relapse 1 year postop., but it did not affect the soft tissue profile	FU: min 8 months (mean 36 months)
Myall et al. ³⁶	CS	4	Consec.	7	5 F, 2 M Age at onset of JIA 1–11 Age at surgery 10–24	All: BSSO and genioplasty; 2 pts LFI; MMF 6 weeks and wire/screws	6 patients with satisfactory function and esthetic results; all 7 had normal sensitivity and TMJ function	1 pt underwent reoperation (1 st surgery at age 10, 2nd at age 18)	FU: 6 months No patients had ankylosis Not the authors experience that children with JRA are predisposed to this condition Prefer to delay surgery until growth has finished
Oye et al. ⁴⁶	Retrosp. CS (1991– 2000)	4	Consec. ^d	16	12 F, 4 M 24.25 (16–53)	BSSO + genioplasty	Improved profile, all patients satisfied; may reduce TMJ pain Mean relapse 2.3 mm of MA 5.3 mm (48%) (Pog– Co); 50% of pts (8) relapsed ≥2 mm	Safe treatment; reoperation for 4 pts, infection in 2 pts; negative tooth sensitivity in 3 pts, scar in 3 pts; plates removed from 3 pts; extraoral changes in 5 pts	FU: 1–10 years

Table 2. Summary table of articles on TMJ preservation surgery (i.e., orthognathic surgery and distraction osteogenesis) included in the review.

Table 2 (Continued)

Source	Study design	LOE ^a	Patient selection criteria	Number of patients	Sex Age (years) ^b	Surgical procedure	Outcome ^c	Adverse effects	Follow-up Other relevant findings
Pagnoni et al. ³⁷	CS	4	Consec.	5	4 F 21.75 (17– 29)	LFI + genioplasty	Improved occlusion and facial profile Mean MA rotation 5.6 mm Mean posterior–anterior face height ratio 63.9 (S– Go/N–Me)	None	FU: min 8 months (8 months–8 years) "Mandibular procedures may evoke further condylar resorption with pain and functional impairment of the TMJ"
Turpin and West ⁴²	CR	4	Consec.	1	F 9	BSSO + alloplastic chin implant	Improved facial esthetics and occlusion	Good function Some relapse; chin implant migration, some increased overjet	FU: 30 months postop., 14 months after removal of orthodontic appliances
Cattaneo et al. ²³	CR	4	Consec.	1 (unilateral hypoplasia of right mandibular ramus, JIA)	M 12.5	Unilateral MDO	Evaluation of load transfer mechanism to the TMJs before, under, and after DO	No long-term FU	Before DO: high peak stresses to the affected TMJ After DO: more symmetrical loading to the TMJs Under DO: the reaction forces in the TMJs were low
de Zee et al. ²⁵ Shape of articular eminence (load, remodeling fossa): reduced load after DO	CR No	FU: 6.5 years		simulation model CBCT/MRI	4	Consec.	1 pt with JIA	M 12.5	Unilateral MDO
Mackool et al. ³⁵	CR	4	Selected	1	F 26	Bilateral extraoral ramus DO, 24 mm, consolidation 85 days	Improved esthetics, sleep apnea; MIO: 10 mm to 12 mm	Scar tissue in skin	FU: not stated Cephalometric measures reported
Kofod et al. ³³	CR	4	Selected	1 (asymmetry secondary to JIA)	M Young	Unilateral vertical ramus DO 16 mm	Skeletal deformity corrected Stress load is higher on distracted side during distraction	NR	No FU data
Nørholt et al. ⁴⁸	Prosp. cohort study	4/3	Consec.	23	9 M, 14 F Age at onset 6.4 ± 3.9 Age at surgery 15.8 ± 4.7	Unilateral ramus DO 18 mm At removal of DO device: 7 LFI, 1 genioplasty Later surgery: 2 LFI and 1 genioplasty	No aggravating symptoms from TMJ, predictable correction of asymmetry, good function	Minor problem with pain and activation of the device, 2 pts mild dysesthesia, 2 pts trismus	FU: min 12 months

Singer et al. ³⁹ CR	4	4	Consec.	_	F 81	BMDU + LFI + genioplasty	Improved estitatics, overjet (remained positive),chin, occlusal plane	postop., MIO 22 mm, unchanged postop.; no TMJ pain or muscle pain	
Stoor et al. ⁴⁷ Retr	osp. 4	4	Consec.	12	9 F, 3 M 27.4 (at 1 st surgery)	MA (11) and additional DO (3), or additional AJR, unilateral/bilateral (3); bilateral AJR (1)	TMJ function and healing good, stable occlusion, improved facial appearance	posuop. Mean MA 10.1 mm and mean relapse 2.1 mm (pogonion)	FU: mean 2.3 years

level of evidence; M, male; MA, mandibular advancement; MDO, mandibular distraction osteogenesis; MIO, maximum incisal opening; MMF, maxillomandibular fixation; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; NR, not reported; OSA, obstructive sleep apnea; postop., postoperative; Prosp., prospective; pts, patients; QOL, quality of life; Retrosp., retrospective; TMI, temporomandibular joint; VRO, vertical ramus osteotomy.

(http://www.cebm.net/ guide evidence of Evidence-based Medicine level for Centre Oxford the oxford-centre-evidence-based-medicine-levels-evidence-march-2009/). to scored according was ^a Level of evidence

^b Presented as the mean (range) for case series studies; presented as the mean \pm standard deviation for the prospective cohort study.

^c S-Go, sella-gonion; N-Me, nasion-menton; Pog-Co, pogonion-condylion; Co-Gn, condylion-gnathion.

^d Patients referred from Rheumatology Department, Rikshospitalet.

retrospective study⁴⁷. Five of the studies were case reports^{23,25,33,35,39}. Three of the included studies evaluated load transfer to the TMJs before, during, and after $DO^{23,25,33}$.

Nørholt et al. prospectively followed a cohort of 23 patients with JIA after unilateral DO, with or without a maxillary osteotomy or genioplasty, for at least 12 months postoperatively⁴⁸. They found predictable correction of asymmetry, improved function, and decreased TMJ pain after DO. Two patients developed dysesthesia in the lower lip. A significant improvement in condylar translation was observed during distraction, but postoperatively this was not significantly improved when compared to the preoperative conditions.

In the retrospective study of Stoor et al., 11 patients with JIA and severe TMJ degeneration had mandibular advancements with orthognathic surgery, of whom three had additional mandibular DO and three had a unilateral or bilateral TMJ prosthetic reconstruction⁴⁷. An additional patient underwent only bilateral TMJ prosthetic reconstruction. The mean mandibular advancement was 10.1 mm. Mean follow-up was 2.3 years. There was a mean relapse at pogonion of 2.1 mm. The occlusion was stable in 11/12 patients. The TMJ function was good and the facial esthetics improved in all patients.

Singer et al. reported an 18-year-old female who had bilateral mandibular DO, Le Fort I osteotomy, and a genio-plasty³⁹. At the 1-year follow-up, she had improved skeletal relationships and good function. Preoperative bilateral masseter pain resolved postoperatively.

Mackool et al. described a 26-year-old woman with JIA who had relief of OSA and an improved facial profile after bilateral mandibular DO³⁵. However, MIO only improved from 10 mm to 12 mm.

Cattaneo et al. and Kofod et al. presented the case of a 12-year-old boy with JIA, unilateral mandibular hypoplasia, and condylar erosion^{23,33}. Using a simulation model, the authors showed high peak stresses to the affected resorbed condyles before operation with DO. During active distraction, forces in the TMJs were low. After DO, load sharing was more symmetric to the condyles compared to the preoperative measurement. de Zee et al. also found reduced load to the affected TMJ 6 years after DO²⁵.

TMJ reconstruction—autologous TMJ reconstruction

Seven case reports and case series (n = 48 patients, 29 with JIA) discussed TMJ reconstruction using costochondral grafts

	Study		Patient	Number	Sex				Follow up
Source	design	LOE ^a	criteria	of patients	(years) ^b	Surgical procedure	Outcome ^c	Adverse effects	Other relevant findings
Costochondral gra	lfts							,	
Bowler ²²	CS	4	Consec.	2	2 F 14	Bilateral CCG + dermis graft	Excellent functional and esthetic results, self- confidence improved	No	FU: 4 years (1 case)
Cohen et al. ²⁴	CS (OSA)	4	Consec.	20 OSA (1 JIA)	M 16 (6 days–18 years, total sample)	Skeletal expansion/ osteotomies: orthognathic surgery, CCG, DO, TMJ arthroplasty, segmental Le Fort I osteotomy and soft tissue surgery	Improved respiration, increased volume of naso- oropharynx	No	FU: 6–12 months "Tracheostomy leads to social isolation for these children"
Felix et al. ²⁷	CR and review	4	Consec.	1 bilateral	F 13	Bilateral TMJ reconstruction with CCG	MIO 40 mm = good function: good esthetics	No	FU: 24 months
Guyuron ²⁸	CR	4	Referred	1	F 35	Ankylosis age 10 LFI osteotomy with anterior rotation, BSSO 8 mm advancement, genioplasty 7 mm, bilateral CCG; after 6 months, lipectomy and removal of submaxillary glands	Relapse 1–2 mm first year, stable following 5 years; psychological improvement; TMJ function good, 40 mm MIO	No	FU: 5 years Diagnosis 9 years, prednisolone
Stringer et al. ¹⁸	CS	4	Consec.	5	5 F 14–18	Orthognathic surgery + CCG (inverted L- osteotomy + LFI + iliac graft + genioplasty) = 1 surgery	Gn–N–Ba, 4 of 5 pts class I occlusion on FU, 1 pt a 3 mm open bite postop. Mean increase anterior– posterior 22 7 mm T1–T2	Relapse average 1.5 mm T2–T3 Infection $(n = 1)$	FU: mean 9.6 years (range 4–14 years)
Svensson and Adell ⁴¹	CS, Retrosp.	4	Selected	12 (=7 pts from Svensson 1993)	11 F, 1 M 10–17	CCG 9 bilateral, 3 unilateral; disc removed in 12 joints, preserved in 9 joints	Good function: 11/12 had no pain or symptoms from TMJ; MIO 35.6 mm preop., 41.3 mm at FU; 5 pts class I, 7 pts class III at FU; 7 pts further orthoomathic surgery	Overgrowth of CCG (8/12)	Mean FU: 5.3 years (age 18.9 years) Considerable risk of unilateral overgrowth of CCG $(n = 8)$
Svensson et al. ⁴⁰	CS	4	Selected	7	All F Mean age at onset 4.5 Mean age at surgery 12.5 (range 10– 14)	5 bilateral, 2 unilateral, resection of condyle (disc preserved) and coronoid process; CCG from C5 or C6; fixation with screws; 6 weeks of MMF Functional treatment after 8 weeks	5/7 no functional problems or pain; MIO after 2–4.5 years: 39 mm (range 30– 43 mm); good symmetry in bilateral cases; slight asymmetry in unilateral cases	No complications to CCG	FU: 2–4.5 years Extensive mandible growth from 8 weeks postop. to latest FU No report of excessive overgrowth or resorption of CCG – longer FU needed
Alloplastic joint re	econstruction		~		_				
Fanaras et al. ²⁶	CR	4	Consec.	1	F 42	Bilateral AJR, custom-made (Biomet)	Full range of hinge movement, good function	No	FU: MIO 31 mm 6 months later

Table 3. Summary table of articles on TMJ reconstruction surgery (i.e. costochondral grafts and alloplastic joint reconstruction) included in the review.
FU: 18 months	FU: 10 months No fossa component!	FU: 3 years	t; FU: 30 months (range 16– 46 months) to e	scutive; CR, case report; CS, case
No	Not reported	None	5 AJR removed 17 pts (30%) reoperated due t heterotopic bone formation, fibrosis, calcification, inflammation	aft; Consec., conse 4. male: MIO. ma
MIO increased to 25 mm	Improved sleep and esthetics; AHI decreased from 48 to 7	Improved facial and dental esthetics	Outcome groups based on clinical assessment: one or no previous TMJ surgery: good 86%, fair 14%, poor 0%	otomy; CCG, costochondral gr I: LOE, level of evidence: N
Bilateral custom-made AJR	Absence of both condyles; 1 st surgery AJR, 2nd surgery BSSO with BG and 10-mm plate	Bilateral custom-made AJR (Biomet) + mandibular advancement and genionlasty	Bilateral TMJ AJR Techmedica	SSO, bilateral sagittal split oste
F 43 (16-year history of trismus/ ankvlosis)	M 29	F 18 (= time at surgery)	55 F 1 M 39 (15–61)	G, bone graft; B; A. iuvenile idic
5 (1 JIA)	-		56	instruction; B
Selected	Selected	Consec.	Consec.	lastic joint reco
4	4	4	4	c; AJR, allopl
CS	CR	CR	CS	ppnea index action oste
Haq et al. ²⁹	Paul et al. ³⁸	Webster et al. ⁴³	Wolford et al. ⁴⁴	AHI, apnea-hypo series: DO, distra

(http://www.cebm.net/ evidence guide maxillomandibular fixation; OSA, obstructive sleep apnea; postope, postoperative; preop, preoperative; Retrosp., retrospective; TMI, temporomandibular joint. of for Evidence-based Medicine level Oxford Centre the to ^a Level of evidence was scored according

oxford-centre-evidence-based-medicine-levels-evidence-march-2009/).

^bPresented as the mean (range) for case series studies.

^c Gn-N-Ba, gnathion-nasion-basion.

operation varied from 10 years to 35 years. Follow-up ranged from 6 months to 14 years. Following CCG, six studies reported improved functional outcomes (defined as increased mouth opening) improved and skeletal profiles^{18,22,27,28,40,41}. Two studies reported improved self-confidence^{22,28} and two case reports found improvement in OSA^{24,28}. One paper suggested synovectomy in conjunction with CCG to prevent progression of TMJ destruction²². Morbidity at both the donor and recipient sites was low. All seven case reports and case series discussing autologous TMJ reconstruction reported no or few TMJ symptoms or muscle symptoms after surgery. Two studies discussed the risk of overgrowth of the CCG, resorption of the graft, and donor site morbidity 40,41 . Svensson et al. followed 12 patients with JIA for a mean of 5.3 years after CCG and demonstrated asymmetric mandibular overgrowth in eight⁴¹. Resorption of the graft was seen when bone screws were removed 1-2 years after CCG reconstruction. Guyuron reported skeletal relapse of

Guyuron reported skeletal relapse of 1-2 mm at 1 year after CCG reconstruction and BSSO advancement of the mandible and genioplasty, but no further change over the subsequent 5 years²⁸. Stringer et al. reported a skeletal relapse of 1.5 mm at a mean of 9.6 years following CCG and concomitant Le Fort I osteotomy¹⁸.

TMJ reconstruction—alloplastic TMJ reconstruction (AJR)

There were five case reports and case series on reconstruction with alloplastic TMJ prostheses in patients with $JIA^{26,29,38,43,44}$. In total, these studies included 64 subjects, 60 of whom had a diagnosis of JIA. Age at the time of operation ranged from 15 years to 61 years. Follow-up ranged from 6 months to 46 months. TMJ replacement was either by stock joint $(n = \hat{1})^{38}$ or custom joint prosthesis by Biomet or TMJ Concepts $(n = 4)^{26,29,43,44}$. All reported improved functional and skeletal outcomes. One manuscript reported improved OSA38. All five case reports and series discussing alloplastic TMJ reconstruction reported low morbidity with no or few TMJ symptoms or muscle symptoms after surgery.

Webster et al. recommended AJR as the most suitable treatment for patients with JIA, condylar degeneration, and dentofacial deformity⁴³. They performed AJR

(CCG) in both skeletally mature and immature subjects^{18,22,24,27,28,40,41}. Age at with a simultaneous mandibular advancement and genioplasty due to the extent of condylar destruction and clockwise mandibular rotation.

Wolford et al. reported good treatment results after AJR in patients who had undergone "no or one previous TMJ surgery" before joint replacement, based on clinical assessment of stability, function, and residual pain⁴⁴. Paul et al. reported improved OSA and esthetics at 10 months of follow-up, after "dual stage surgery" using first an alloplastic TMJ prosthesis followed later by mandibular advancement with a body osteotomy fixed with a titanium reconstruction plate with an inter-positioning iliac graft bilaterally³⁸.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to assess the level of evidence for surgical correction of dentofacial deformities in patients with TMJ degeneration from JIA. Currently, there is no consensus regarding the most appropriate reconstructive approach for this patient population. The choice of operation may be influenced by the degree of skeletal maturity, level of TMJ arthritis activity, extent of TMJ and dentofacial deformity, and surgeon preference and experience.

The findings of this systematic review suggest that all available reconstructive surgical interventions (orthognathic surgery, DO, CCG, AJR) improve TMJ function and skeletal relationships in this patient population. Only minor to moderate complications have been reported, such as temporary nerve damage, infection, and mandibular overgrowth. However, these reports must be evaluated in the context of the low level of evidence.

The management of TMJ dysfunction and pain is important for activities of daily living such as mastication, speech, and oral hygiene. Improvements in mouth opening and micrognathia are critical for airway management under general anesthesia⁵⁰. Also, improvements in occlusion, skeletal alignment, facial esthetics, and self-confidence are considered important for patient well-being, since facial attractiveness has been shown to influence education, relationships, and employment⁵¹.

All of the included case reports and case series on orthognathic surgery in JIA reported improved functional outcomes, occlusion, and skeletal alignment^{30–32,34,36,37,42,45,46}. Orthognathic surgery is traditionally performed after skeletal maturity to maximize stability. A major concern in this context are the high-angle cases, i.e. cases with a

steep mandibular plane angle, undergoing a large mandibular advancement, with skeletal relapse secondary to soft tissue forces⁵². Children with JIA often are high-angle cases due to TMJ arthritis with a TMJ deformity causing posterior rotation of the mandible resulting in an anterior open bite. Mandibular advancement has been reported to show relapse even in non-JIA patients^{14,53}. Thus, some authors recommend early surgical intervention in order to provide better conditions for normal development of the facial skeleton^{34,53}.

Other investigators recommend anti-inflammatory medications and stabilizing splints until the TMJs are 'stable' before orthognathic surgery, with minimal postoperative loading of the TMJs^{17,54}. The rationale for this approach is to avoid or minimize the mandibular advancement in order to avoid overloading the TMJs. However, these treatment approaches may also result in significantly compromised function and esthetics, continued restriction of the oropharyngeal airway, and continued or worsening of pain.

Morbidity was low for orthognathic surgery compared to TMJ reconstruction (CCG or alloplastic prosthesis) or DO. Surgical exposure when performing CCG, AJR, or DO with an extraoral approach is usually via a combined preauricular and submandibular incision. Therefore, there is a risk of facial nerve damage during surgery⁵⁵.

In this review, improvements in functional outcome and skeletal alignment^{39,47,48}, OSA³⁵, and load transfer to the TMJs^{23,25,33} were reported after DO. For patients with significant dentofacial deformities, DO may be a suitable option. DO is widely used to improve the morphology of the facial skeleton in patients with congenital or acquired deformities 56 . DO may be more stable over time with less skeletal and dental relapse compared to conventional orthognathic surgery^{48,57}. However, DO requires careful vector planning and patient collaboration during device activation. In asymmetric cases, JIA patients will have a period with potential overloading of the TMJ on the affected side. Therefore, it is argued that DO performed during adolescence reduces the time period of load to the affected TMJ, limits the risk of nerve damage to one side compared to both when performing the BSSO osteotomy, and reduces the need for a maxillary osteotomy by allowing normal growth of the maxilla concomitantly with the mandible⁴⁸. However, a second operation is required to remove the distraction device.

In skeletally immature patients, autologous reconstruction may be preferred because the graft has the potential to grow with the child. This review of available articles found an improvement in functional outcome and esthetics^{18,22,27,28,40,41}, self-confidence^{22,28}, and $OSA^{24,28}$, after CCG. However, there is controversy in the literature regarding the use of CCG, primarily due to the potential for overgrowth^{40,4} Additionally, the CCG surgical procedure carries the risk of graft resorption and ankylosis, and is associated with donor site morbidity^{55,58}. Nevertheless, other authors found no difference in outcomes of TMJ reconstruction with CCG or alloplastic graft in rheumatoid arthritis patients, except that the alloplastic graft group had fewer additional operations⁵⁵.

Some authors favored AJR in adult patients, advocating that this approach provides stable long-term results and facilitates early mobilization. However, long-term outcomes of AJR beyond 15 years are unknown¹⁹. Patients who have not reached skeletal maturity are expected to have a long life span, and thus there is a risk of mechanical failure requiring reoperation or replacement of the AJR. The included articles reported improved OSA and esthetics³⁸ and good functional outcomes^{26,29,38,43,44}, with the longest follow-up of 46 months⁴⁴.

Some authors suggested staged surgical procedures with AJR first, followed by BSSO with bone graft and plate osteo-synthesis³⁸. Others recommended a single AJR procedure⁴³. The authors claimed that failure is likely to result when performing mandibular advancement surgery alone without TMJ surgery in patients with active TMJ arthritis disease, because of mandibular relapse from continued condylar resorption and/or increased pain levels. In cases of disease remission, maxillary surgery can be performed for closure of open bites; however, the esthetic results are often suboptimal^{59,60}.

This systematic review had some limitations. First, the studies included had a low level of evidence and a high risk of bias. Most of the studies had a small patient sample, and no study had a control group. Additionally, the mixture of JIA and non-JIA patients in many publications introduces confusion for the reader. Only some of the included patients had JIA (232 patients, 172 with JIA). Thus, it is difficult to ascertain that the results are specific to JIA and not to another condition. Also, the majority of the outcome assessors were not blinded in the included studies. Furthermore, only two databases were used for the literature search and this may have

been a bias at the review level. Therefore, the study heterogeneity did not allow for meta-analysis. The strength of this review is that it includes all manuscripts on JIA and dentofacial reconstruction.

The research and treatment of JIA-induced TMJ and dentofacial deformities requires multidisciplinary collaboration between rheumatologists, orthodontists, and oral and maxillofacial surgeons, and many other healthcare providers (e.g., radiologists, general dentists, physical therapists, etc.). There is a significant need for prospective studies with standardized variables in patients with JIA and dentofacial growth deviations.

Acknowledgement. We acknowledge the help given by research librarian Janne Lytoft Simonsen.

Funding. Grethe Harbitz funds and research funding from Troms County.

Competing interests. The authors certify that they have no financial support or commercial associations that may pose a conflict of interest in connection with this article.

Ethical approval. No scientific approval was required for this systematic review.

Patient consent. Not required.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijom. 2019.01.007.

References

- Moe N, Rygg M. Epidemiology of juvenile chronic arthritis in northern Norway: a tenyear retrospective study. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 1998;16:99–101.
- Laaksonen AL. A prognostic study of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Analysis of 544 cases. Acta Paediatr Scand 1966:1–163.
- Malleson PN, Fung MY, Rosenberg AM. The incidence of pediatric rheumatic diseases: results from the Canadian Pediatric Rheumatology Association Disease Registry. J Rheumatol 1996;23:1981–7.
- Towner SR, Michet Jr CJ, O'Fallon WM, Nelson AM. The epidemiology of juvenile

arthritis in Rochester, Minnesota 1960– 1979. Arthritis Rheum 1983;**26**:1208–13.

- Prieur AM, Le Gall E, Karman F, Edan C, Lasserre O, Goujard J. Epidemiologic survey of juvenile chronic arthritis in France: Comparison of data obtained from two different regions. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 1987;5: 217–223.
- 6. Gäre BA. *Epidemiology Baillieres Clin Rheumatol* 1998;12:191–208.
- Berntson L, Andersson Gare B, Fasth A, Herlin T, Kristinsson J, Lahdenne P, Marhaug G, Nielsen S, Pelkonen P, Rygg M, Nordic Study Group. Incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the Nordic countries. A population based study with special reference to the validity of the ILAR and EULAR criteria. J Rheumatol 2003;30:2275–82.
- 8. Frid P, Nordal E, Bovis F, Giancane G, Larheim TA, Rygg M, Pires Marafon D, De Angelis D, Palmisani E, Murray KJ, Oliveira S, Simonini G, Corona F, Davidson J, Foster H, Steenks MH, Flato B, Zulian F, Baildam E, Saurenmann RK, Lahdenne P, Ravelli A, Martini A, Pistorio A, Ruperto N. Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation Temporomandibular joint involvement in association with quality of life, disability, and high disease activity in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2017;69:677–86.
- Kuseler A, Pedersen TK, Barlach J, Gelineck J, Sangill R, Melsen B, Herlin T. Contrastenhanced MRI. compared to histological findings in the temporomandibular joint of antigen-induced arthritis in young rabbits. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2004;22:441–6.
- Koos B, Twilt M, Kyank U, Fischer-Brandies H, Gassling V, Tzaribachev N. Reliability of clinical symptoms in diagnosing temporomandibular joint arthritis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *J Rheumatol* 2014;41: 1871–1877.
- Arvidsson LZ, Smith HJ, Flato B, Larheim TA. Temporomandibular joint findings in adults with long-standing juvenile idiopathic arthritis: CT and MR imaging assessment. *Radiology* 2010;**256**:191–200.
- Martini G, Bacciliero U, Tregnaghi A, Montesco MC, Zulian F. Isolated temporomandibular synovitis as unique presentation of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *J Rheumatol* 2001;28:1689–92.
- Stabrun AE, Larheim TA, Hoyeraal HM, Rosler M. Reduced mandibular dimensions and asymmetry in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Pathogenetic factors. *Arthritis Rheum* 1988;31:602–11.
- 14. Arvidsson LZ, Fjeld MG, Smith HJ, Flato B, Ogaard B, Larheim TA. Craniofacial growth disturbance is related to temporomandibular joint abnormality in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, but normal facial profile was also found at the 27-year follow-up. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2010;**39**:373–9.
- 15. Mandall NA, Gray R, O'Brien KD, Baildam E, Macfarlane TV, Davidson J, Sills J, Foster

H, Gardner-Medwin J, Garrahy A, Millett D, Mattick R, Walsh T, Ward S. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA): a screening study to measure class II skeletal pattern, TMJ PDS. and use of systemic corticosteroids. *J Orthod* 2010;**37**:6–15.

- 16. Barrera JE, Pau CY, Forest VI, Holbrook AB, Popelka GR. Anatomic measures of upper airway structures in obstructive sleep apnea. World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2017;3:85–91.
- Stoustrup P, Kuseler A, Kristensen KD, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Orthopaedic splint treatment can reduce mandibular asymmetry caused by unilateral temporomandibular involvement in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Eur J Orthod* 2013;35:191–8.
- Stringer DE, Gilbert DH, Herford AS, Boyne PJ. A method of treating the patient with postpubescent juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2007;65:1998–2004.
- Sidebottom AJ. Alloplastic or autogenous reconstruction of the TMJ. J Oral Biol Craniofac Res 2013;3:135–9.
- Stoustrup P, Resnick CM, Pedersen TK, Abramowicz S, Michelotti A, Küseler A, Verna C, Kellenberger CJ, Nordal EB, Caserta G, Jankovska I, Halbig JM, Kristensen DK, Arvidsson LZ, Spiegel L, Stoll ML, Lerman M, Glerup M, Defabianis P, Frid P, Alstergren P, Cron RQ, Ringold S, Nørholt SE, Peltomäki T, Herlin T, Peacock ZS, Twilt M. Standardizing terminology and assessment for orofacial conditions in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: international, multidisciplinary consensusbased recommendations. *J Rheumatol* 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.3899/jrheum.180785. pii: jrheum.180785, [Epub ahead of print].
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med* 2009;6: e1000097.
- 22. Bowler JD. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: cases from the coalfields. *Ann R Australas Coll Dent Surg* 1991;11:209–17.
- 23. Cattaneo PM, Kofod T, Dalstra M, Melsen B. Using the finite element method to model the biomechanics of the asymmetric mandible before, during and after skeletal correction by distraction osteogenesis. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin* 2005;8:157–65.
- 24. Cohen SR, Ross DA, Burstein FD, Lefaivre JF, Riski JE, Simms C. Skeletal expansion combined with soft-tissue reduction in the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in children: physiologic results. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 1998;119:476–85.
- 25. de Zee M, Cattaneo PM, Svensson P, Pedersen TK, Melsen B, Rasmussen J, Dalstra M. Prediction of the articular eminence shape in a patient with unilateral hypoplasia of the right mandibular ramus before and after distraction osteogenesis—a simulation study. J Biomech 2009;42:1049–53.
- Fanaras N, Parry NS, Matthews NS. Multidisciplinary approach in the management of

absolute trismus with bilateral temporomandibular joint replacements for a patient with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2014;**72**:2262–72.

- 27. Felix VB, Cabral DR, de Almeida AB, Soares ED, de Moraes Fernandes KJ. Ankylosis of the temporomandibular joint and reconstruction with a costochondral graft in a patient with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *J Craniofac Surg* 2017;**28**:203–6.
- Guyuron B. Facial deformity of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 1988;81:948–51.
- 29. Haq J, Patel N, Weimer K, Matthews NS. Single stage treatment of ankylosis of the temporomandibular joint using patient-specific total joint replacement and virtual surgical planning. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2014;**52**:350–5.
- 30. Kahnberg KE, Holmstrom H. Augmentation of a retrognathic chin: I. Use of HTR-polymer implants in a long-term prospective clinical and radiographic study. *Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg* 2002;**36**:65–70.
- Kasfikis G, Antoniades H, Kyrgidis A, Markovitsi E, Antoniades K. Craniofacial surgical management of a patient with systematic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and Crohn's disease. J Craniofac Surg 2009;20:948–50.
- Kennett S, Curran JB. Mandibular micrognathia: etiology and surgical management. *J Oral Surg* 1973;31:8–17.
- 33. Kofod T, Cattaneo PM, Dalstra M, Melsen B. Three-dimensional finite element analysis of the mandible and temporomandibular joint during vertical ramus elongation by distraction osteogenesis. J Craniofac Surg 2005;16:586–93.
- 34. Kreiborg S, Bakke M, Kirkeby S, Michler L, Vedtofte P, Seidler B, Moller E. Facial growth and oral function in a case of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis during an 8-year period. *Eur J Orthod* 1990;**12**:119–34.
- Mackool RL, Shetye P, Grayson B, McCarthy JG. Distraction osteogenesis in a patient with juvenile arthritis. *J Craniofac Surg* 2006;17:387–90.
- Myall RW, West RA, Horwitz H, Schaller JG. Jaw deformity caused by juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and its correction. *Arthritis Rheum* 1988;31:1305–10.
- 37. Pagnoni M, Amodeo G, Fadda MT, Brauner E, Guarino G, Virciglio P, Iannetti G. Juvenile idiopathic/rheumatoid arthritis and orthognatic surgery without mandibular osteotomies in the remittent phase. J Craniofac Surg 2013;24:1940–5.

- 38. Paul SA, Simon SS, Issac B, Kumar S. Management of severe sleep apnea secondary to juvenile arthritis with temporomandibular joint replacement and mandibular advancement. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 2015;7:S687–90.
- 39. Singer SL, Southall PJ, Rosenberg I, Gillett D, Walters M. Mandibular distraction osteogenesis and maxillary osteotomy in a class II division 1 patient with chronic juvenile arthritis. Angle Orthod 2006;76:341–8.
- Svensson B, Feldmann G, Rindler A. Early surgical-orthodontic treatment of mandibular hypoplasia in juvenile chronic arthritis. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 1993;21:67–75.
- Svensson B, Adell R. Costochondral grafts to replace mandibular condyles in juvenile chronic arthritis patients: long-term effects on facial growth. *J Craniomaxillofac Surg* 1998;26:275–85.
- Turpin DL, West RA. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: a case report of surgical/orthodontic treatment. *Am J Orthod* 1978;73:312–20.
- 43. Webster K, McIntyre G, Laverick S, McLoughlin P, Tothill C. Treatment of a class 2 skeletal malocclusion with degenerative arthritis of the condyles using custommade temporomandibular joint replacements and genioplasty. J Orthod 2017;44:55–8.
- 44. Wolford LM, Cottrell DA, Henry CH. Temporomandibular joint reconstruction of the complex patient with the Techmedica custom-made total joint prosthesis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1994;**52**:2–10. discussion 11.
- 45. Leshem D, Tompson B, Britto JA, Forrest CR, Phillips JH. Orthognathic surgery in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2006;117:1941–6.
- 46. Oye F, Bjornland T, Store G. Mandibular osteotomies in patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritic disease. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2003;32:168–73.
- Stoor P, Hodzic Z, Arte S. Surgical treatment of dentofacial deformities caused by juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *J Craniofac Surg* 2018;29:e51–7.
- 48. Nørholt SE, Pedersen TK, Herlin T. Functional changes following distraction osteogenesis treatment of asymmetric mandibular growth deviation in unilateral juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a prospective study with long-term follow-up. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2013;42:329–36.
- 50. Belanger J, Kossick M. Methods of identifying and managing the difficult airway in the pediatric population. *AANA J* 2015;83:35–41.

- 51. Cunningham SJ. The psychology of facial appearance. *Dent Update* 1999;**26**:438–43.
- 52. Mobarak KA, Espeland L, Krogstad O, Lyberg T. Mandibular advancement surgery in highangle and low-angle class II patients: different long-term skeletal responses. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop* 2001;**119**:368–81.
- 53. Stabrun AE. Impaired mandibular growth and micrognathic development in children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. A longitudinal study of lateral cephalographs. *Eur J Orthod* 1991;**13**:423–34.
- 54. Stoustrup P, Kristensen KD, Kuseler A, Verna C, Herlin T, Pedersen TK. Management of temporomandibular joint arthritisrelated orofacial symptoms in juvenile idiopathic arthritis by the use of a stabilization splint. Scand J Rheumatol 2014;43:137–45.
- Saeed N, Hensher R, McLeod N, Kent J. Reconstruction of the temporomandibular joint autogenous compared with alloplastic. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2002;40:296–9.
- 56. Ow AT, Cheung LK. Meta-analysis of mandibular distraction osteogenesis: clinical applications and functional outcomes. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2008;121:54e–69e.
- 57. Norholt SE, Jensen J, Schou S, Pedersen TK. Complications after mandibular distraction osteogenesis: a retrospective study of 131 patients. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2011;111:420–7.
- Saeed NR, Kent JN. A retrospective study of the costochondral graft in TMJ reconstruction. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2003;32:606–9.
- 59. Mehra P, Wolford LM, Baran S, Cassano DS. Single-stage comprehensive surgical treatment of the rheumatoid arthritis temporomandibular joint patient. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67:1859–72.
- Wolford LM, Reiche-Fischel O, Mehra P. Changes in temporomandibular joint dysfunction after orthognathic surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2003;61:655–60. discussion 661.

Address:

Paula Frid

Department of Otorhinolaryngology Division of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery University Hospital North Norway and Public Dental Service Competence Centre of North Norway and Department of Clinical Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences The Arctic University of Norway Tromsø Norway

E-mail: pfr28.pf@gmail.com

